University of Texas at El Paso ScholarWorks@UTEP

Open Access Theses & Dissertations

2023-12-01

Green Analytical Methods For The Determination Of Perfluorocarboxylic Acids (pfcas) And Fluorotelomer Alcohols (ftohs) In Water

Ahsan Habib University of Texas at El Paso

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.utep.edu/open_etd

Part of the Chemistry Commons

Recommended Citation

Habib, Ahsan, "Green Analytical Methods For The Determination Of Perfluorocarboxylic Acids (pfcas) And Fluorotelomer Alcohols (ftohs) In Water" (2023). *Open Access Theses & Dissertations*. 3975. https://scholarworks.utep.edu/open_etd/3975

This is brought to you for free and open access by ScholarWorks@UTEP. It has been accepted for inclusion in Open Access Theses & Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP.

GREEN ANALYTICAL METHODS FOR THE DETERMINATION OF

PERFLUOROCARBOXYLIC ACIDS (PFCAs) AND

FLUOROTELOMER ALCOHOLS (FTOHs)

IN WATER

AHSAN HABIB

Doctoral Program in Chemistry

APPROVED:

Wen-Yee Lee, Ph.D., Chair

Jorge Gardea-Torresdey, Ph.D.

Dino Villagran, Ph.D.

W. Shane Walker, Ph.D.

Stephen L. Crites, Jr., Ph.D. Dean of the Graduate School Copyright 2023 Ahsan Habib

GREEN ANALYTICAL METHODS FOR DETERMINATION OF

PERFLUOROCARBOXYLIC ACIDS (PFCAs) AND

FLUOROTELOMER ALCOHOLS (FTOHs)

IN WATER

by

AHSAN HABIB, M.S.

DISSERTATION

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

The University of Texas at El Paso

in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT EL PASO December 2023

Acknowledgments

I would like to begin by extending my heartfelt gratitude to Prof. Wen-Yee Lee, Ph.D., my mentor, for her unwavering support, patience, motivation, and expert guidance throughout my academic journey. Her generosity and willingness to offer her time whenever needed have been instrumental in my success.

I would also like to express my sincere appreciation and gratitude to the esteemed members of my dissertation committee: Prof. Jorge Gardea-Torresdey, Ph. D., Prof. Dino Villagran, Ph.D., and Prof. W. Shane Walker, Ph.D. Their invaluable time, support, and guidance, particularly during annual meetings and proposal defense, have been involved in shaping my research. Additionally, I am thankful to the Department of Chemistry and our Graduate Advisor team, including Dr. Wen-Yee Lee, Dr. Skye Fortier, Ms. Veronica Fortier, and Ms. Maria Rodriguez for their consistent support during my graduate studies.

I want to acknowledge the exceptional members of Dr. Lee's research group. Our strong bond and mutual understanding have made this academic journey smoother as we spent countless hours together in the lab and office. Your collective support has been indispensable, and I am truly grateful.

Last but not least, I want to convey my deep appreciation to my family in Bangladesh. Here in El Paso, my daughter, Arwa, and my wife, Khushi, are the cornerstones of my life, and your unwavering support and understanding have provided the rock-solid foundation upon which this achievement stands. Without you, this journey would not have been possible.

iv

Abstract

Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) are a large group of synthetic organic compounds manufactured for their heat, water, and stain-resistant properties. PFAS can be found ubiquitously in the environment because they are widely used in everyday consumer products such as fast-food wrappers, non-stick cookware, stain-resistant products, cosmetics, aqueous filmforming foams, etc. As a result, PFAS are commonly detected in surface water, wastewater, and biosolids from wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs). These are the direct sources of PFAS contamination in drinking water supplies, which are substantial sources of human exposure. Among these PFAS chemicals, two major groups are perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acids (PFCAs) and their precursors, fluorotelomer alcohols (FTOHs). Even though studies have been conducted nationwide to evaluate the degree of these PFAS in the environment, research is lacking in our region. To fill the knowledge gap, we aimed to investigate the occurrence and transport of PFCAs and FTOHs in wastewater and biosolids. Furthermore, it is crucial to have a simple, fast, green, and reliable detection technique that can monitor the trace amount of PFCAs and FTOHs in water and biosolid matrices. In this study, we developed and validated a simple, low-cost, no clean-up, and sensitive method for the determination of PFCAs and FTOHs in water by applying 'green chemistry' based extraction named stir bar sorptive extraction (SBSE) coupled with thermal desorption-gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (TD-GC-MS).

Three commonly detected FTOHs (6:2 FTOH, 8:2 FTOH, and 10:2 FTOH) were selected as the model compounds to develop an enhanced SBSE-TD-GC-MS for the analysis of FTOHs in water. Factors such as extraction time, stirring speed, solvent composition, salt addition, and pH were investigated to achieve optimal extraction efficiency. This "green chemistry" based extraction provided good sensitivity and precision with low method limits of detection ranging from 2.16 ng/L to 16.7 ng/L and with an extraction recovery ranging 55% to 111%. The developed methods were tested on tap water, brackish water, and wastewater influent and effluent. In two wastewater samples, 6:2 FTOH and 8:2 FTOH were detected at 78.0 and 34.8 ng/L, respectively. This optimized SBSE-TD-GC-MS method stands as a valuable alternative to investigate FTOHs in water matrices.

In addition, we developed an enhanced SBSE-TD-GC-MS for the analysis of PFCAs in water. Our study provides a comprehensive evaluation of the method's linearity, recovery, sensitivity, repeatability, and spiked recovery across diverse water matrices. The method demonstrates linearity with coefficients of determination (R²) spanning from 0.9892 to 0.9988. Sensitivity metrics showed low limits of detection (LOD) in the low ng/L (ppt) range for all analytes, achieving LODs between 21.2 ng/L to 74.0 ng/L. The recoveries for the method varied from 47-97%, suggesting an efficient extraction process. Additionally, the method's robustness across various water matrices (tap water, wastewater influent, and effluent) reflected by the spiked recovery experiment underscored the method's efficiency in real-world applications. In comparison with traditional PFCAs analysis methods, our optimized SBSE technique requires only a minimum sample volume of 1 mL and minimal solvent usage, enhancing eco-friendliness and reducing potential contamination and handling errors. Repeatability assessments at two concentration levels produced %RSD (Relative Standard Deviation) values at 14% or less for any target PFCA compounds, indicating good precision. These attributes showcase the developed method's capability to serve as a precise, eco-friendly, and reliable tool for the analysis of PFCAs across diverse water matrices.

This study also presents a comprehensive exploration into the presence and transport behavior of FTOHs and PFCAs in biosolid samples collected from wastewater treatment plants

vi

(WWTPs) in El Paso, Texas. We optimized an ultrasonic extraction method for efficient recovery of FTOHs and PFCAs compounds from biosolids followed by SBSE-TD-GC-MS analysis. The results showed specific concentrations of FTOHs compounds in biosolid samples from the different WWTPs. 6:2 FTOH was not detected in any of the samples, while 8:2 FTOH was found in three WWTPs at varying concentrations: 100.30 ng/g in WWTP-1, 62.87 ng/g in WWTP-2, and 56.41 ng/g in WWTP-4. Additionally, 10:2 FTOH was detected in WWTP-1 at a concentration of 68.07 ng/g. Interestingly, despite the sensitive analytical approach employed, none of the targeted PFCAs were detected in any of the biosolid samples. These findings provide important insights into the distribution and prevalence of specific FTOHs in biosolids from WWTPs, that highlight the inherent variability in their occurrence.

Through the development and validation of a cost-effective, environmentally friendly, and sensitive analytical method, this dissertation represents a reliable alternative analytical technique for monitoring PFCAs and FTOHs in aquatic matrices and contributes valuable data to the ongoing efforts to monitor and manage emerging contaminants in wastewater treatment systems.

Acknowle	edgments	iv
Abstract		V
Table of C	Contents	. viii
List of Ta	bles	xii
List of Fig	gures	. X111
Chapter 1	: Introduction and Literature Review	1
1.1	Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS)	1
1.2	PFAS Toxicity and Human Exposure	3
1.3	Occurrence, Fate, and Transport of PFAS in Water	5
1.4	Role of Wastewater Treatment Plants in PFAS Transport	7
1.5	Methodologies for PFAS detection	8
	1.5.1 Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS)	9
	1.5.2 Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS)	16
	1.5.3 Untargeted analysis and other methods for PFAS	23
1.6	Extraction, Preconcentration, and Clean-up	24
1.7	Current Analytical Challenges and Bridging the Research Need	26
1.8	Research Goal, Objectives, and Hypothesis	27
1.9	Future Chapters and Approaches of Each Study	28
Chapter 2 Fluo	: Rapid, Efficient, and Green Analytical Technique for Determination of protelomer Alcohol in Water by Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction	31
2.1	Abstract	31
2.2	Introduction	32
2.3	Experimental	36
	2.3.1 Standards and Reagents	36
	2.3.2 Sample Collection	36
	2.3.3 Sample Preparation and Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE)	37
	2.3.4 Thermal Desorption-Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (TD-GC- MS) Analysis	38
	2.3.5 Method Validation and Quality Control	39

Table of Contents

	2.3.6 Statistical Analysis	40
	2.3.7 Analysis of FTOHs in Real Water Samples	40
2.4	Results and Discussions	41
	2.4.1 Optimization of Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE) Parameters	41
	2.4.1.1 Optimization of Extraction Time	41
	2.4.1.2 Optimization of Stirring Speed	41
	2.4.1.3 Optimization of Solvent Composition	44
	2.4.1.4 Optimization of Salt Addition	44
	2.4.1.5 Optimization of pH	45
	2.4.2 Method Repeatability and Accuracy	45
	2.4.3 Method Recovery Experiment	46
	2.4.4 Analytical Performance of the Method	47
	2.4.5 Quantification of FTOHs in Water Samples	50
2.5	Conclusions	50
2.6	Acknowledgments	51
Chapter 3	: Green Analytical Method for Determination of Perfluorocarboxylic Acids	
(PFC	CAs) in Water by Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction Coupled with GC-MS	
3.1	Abstract	
3.2		
3.3	Experimental	
	3.3.1 Standards and reagents	58
	3.3.2 Sample Collection	59
	3.3.3 Sample Preparation, Derivatization, and Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE)	59
	3.3.4 Analysis Using Thermal Desorption-Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (TD-GC-MS)	61
	3.3.5 Optimization of Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction Parameters	62
	3.3.6 Quality Control and Quality Assurance	62
	3.3.7 Analysis of PFCAs in real water samples	63
3.4	Results and Discussions	63
	3.4.1 Optimization of Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction	63
	3.4.1.1 Optimization of Extraction Time	64
	3.4.1.2 Optimization of Stirring Speed	65

	3.4.1.3 Optimization of Solvent Composition	66
	3.4.1.4 Optimization of Ionic Strength	68
	3.4.1.5 Optimization of pH	69
	3.4.2 Evaluating SBSE-TD-GC-MS Performance: Linearity, Recovery, and Sensitivity Metrics	70
	3.4.4 Method Repeatability	78
	3.4.5 Spiked recovery experiment	79
	3.4.6 Determination of PFCAs in real water samples	80
	3.4.7 Method Strengths and Limitations	81
3.5	5 Conclusions	82
3.6	6 Acknowledgements	82
Chapter (P)	4: Green Analytical Method for Determination of Perfluorocarboxylic Acids FCAs) in Water by Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction Coupled with GC-MS	84
4.1	Abstract:	84
4.2	2 Introduction	85
4.3	B Experimental	88
	4.3.1 Standards and reagents	88
	4.3.2 Sample Collection	89
	4.3.3 Sample preparation:	89
	4.3.3.1 Ultrasonic extraction	89
	4.3.3.2 Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE)	91
	4.3.4 Thermal desorption-gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (TD-GC- MS) analysis	91
	4.3.5 Analysis of FTOHs and PFCAs in biosolid samples	92
4.4	Results and Discussions	93
	4.4.1 Optimization of Pre-treatment of Biosolids by Ultrasonic Extraction	93
	4.4.1.1 Extraction Solvent Optimization	93
	4.4.1.2 Sonication Time Optimization	94
	4.4.1.3 Effect of Sample Load on Ultrasonic Extraction	95
4.4	4.2 Occurrence and Profiles of FTOHs and PFCAs in Biosolid Samples	97
4.5	5 Conclusions	98
4.6	6 Acknowledgements	98

Chapter 5:	: Conclusions and Recommendations for Future Work	100
5.1	Conclusions	100
5.2	Recommendations for Future Work	101
Reference	s	103

Vita 123

List of Tables

Table 1.1: Liquid Chromatographic Techniques for Determination of PFAS in Water	11
Table 1.2: Gas Chromatographic Techniques for Tracing PFAS in Water	18
Table 2.1: List of the studied fluorotelomer alcohol	36
Table 2.2: Method repeatability test in DI water and Tap water at three spiking levels 50 ng/L,	
100 ng/L, and 500 ng/L; (n=7)	46
Table 2.3: Results of spiked recoveries of target FTOHs in various types of water samples at tw	<i>'</i> 0
spiking levels (100ng/L and 500 ng/L) by SBSE method. Results shown as mean recovery	
(±Standard Deviation) in percent; (n=3)	47
Table 2.4: Analytical merits of proposed SBSE-TD-GC-MS method for FTOHs determination.	48
Table 2.5: Comparison of analytical parameters of the proposed method with the reported	
method for the analysis of FTOHs in water	49
Table 2.6: Results of determination of target FTOHs in real water samples; (n=2)	50
Table 3.1: List of the studied PFCAs.	59
Table 3.2: Performance Parameters of SBSE-TD-GC-MS for PFCAs Analysis - Linearity,	
Recovery, and Sensitivity Data	72
Table 3.3: Analytical performance of SBSE-TD-GC-MS for PFCAs detection compared to	
existing water analysis methods	74
Table 3.4: Method repeatability test in DI water and Tap water at two spiking levels, 100 ng/L	
and 1000 ng/L; (n=7)	78
Table 3.5: Results of spiked recoveries of target PFCAs in tap water, wastewater influent, and	
wastewater effluent samples at two spiking levels (10 ng and 20 ng). Results shown in $\%$	
recovery (±SD); (n=2)	80
Table 4.1: List of the targeted PFCAs and FTOHs	88
Table 4.2: TD-GC-MS method parameters for FTOHs and PFCAs analysis	91
Table 4.3: Results of determination of target FTOHs in biosolid samples; each sample ran in	
duplicates	97

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: PFAS Contamination in the U.S. (August 2023)
Figure 2.1: An illustration of FTOH molecular structure
Figure 2.2: Schematic representation of experimental approach for SBSE-TD-GC-MS method.37
Figure 2.3: A chromatogram of 10 ng of three FTOHs analytical standards in SIM mode 39
Figure 2.4: Optimization of SBSE parameters
Figure 3.1: Schematic representation of experimental approach with SBSE coupled to TD-GC-
MS
Figure 3.2: Optimization of extraction time
Figure 3.3: Optimization of stirring speed
Figure 3.4: Optimization of solvent composition: the response of PFCAs under various methanol
compositions
Figure 3.5: Optimization of ionic strength: the effect of salt (NaCl) addition on PFCAs
extraction
Figure 3.6: Optimization of pH: the influence of pH on PFCAs extraction70
Figure 4.1: Workflow for the ultrasonic extraction from biosolid samples. FTOHs are used as the
model PFAS group
Figure 4.2: Optimization of extraction solvent: instrument response (i.e., extraction recovery) of
FTOHs with various extraction solvent compositions. Standard deviations of duplicate
measurements are represented as error bars in this bar chart. Here, MeOH- methanol, ACN-
acetonitrile, and ACE- acetone
Figure 4.3: Optimization of sonication time: Instrument response (i.e., extraction recovery) of
FTOHs with various sonication times. Error bars in this bar chart represent the standard
deviations of duplicate measurements. Here, ACN- acetonitrile and ACE- acetone
Figure 4.4: Effect of sample load on ultrasonic extraction: % recovery of FTOHs with 3 sample
amounts: 100 mg, 500 mg, and 1000 mg. Error bars in this bar chart represent the standard
deviations of duplicate measurements

Chapter 1: Introduction and Literature Review

1.1 PER- AND POLYFLUOROALKYL SUBSTANCES (PFAS)

Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) are a family of more than 4700 highly fluorinated compounds manufactured for diverse applications¹. They are well-known for their water and oil-repellant properties, thermal stability, environmental mobility, resistance to biochemical degradation, bioaccumulative effects, and toxicity. PFAS can be found in common consumer products like non-stick cookware, clothing, leather, upholstery, carpets, etc. They can also be used in fire-fighting foams and in industrial applications such as wetting agents, additives, coatings, emulsifiers, paints, waxes, and polishes ^{2–5}. Their useful properties are due to their structure, which includes a totally fluorinated carbon chain that is both hydrophobic and oleophobic and hydrophilic charged functional groups (for example, carboxylate or sulfonate groups) attached to the structure ^{4,6,7}. In general, PFAS contains at least one fluorine atom in replacement of hydrogen atoms ⁴. A per-fluoroalkyl compound is expressed as $C_nF_{(2n+1)}$ -R, where $C_nF_{(2n+1)}$ represents the per-fluoroalkyl portion of the molecular structure, while poly-fluoroalkyl compound contains at least one carbon atom that is non-fluorinated ^{4,8}. A poly-fluoroalkyl compound can be biotically or abiotically transformed into a per-fluorinated compound by removing its non-fluorinated component in its structure. Under other classifications, PFAS can also be categorized based on chain length into long- and short-chain compounds and also classified into numerous groups and sub-groups depending on their terminal functional groups⁴.

As aforementioned, PFAS are widely produced and used. They have high resistance to heat and chemical reactions ⁴ and therefore, often referred to as "forever chemicals." Their persistence in the environment has resulted in pro-long human and wildlife exposure to PFAS ^{9,10}. Recognizing these dangers, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has taken steps to regulate and monitor PFAS levels, particularly in drinking water. Thus, in 2016, US EPA established a health advisory level of 70 ng/L (ppt) for two of the most conventional types of PFAS, i.e., perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (PFOS) in drinking water ¹¹. Most recently, in June 2022, The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) recently revised its drinking water health advisories for the four predominant PFAS found in drinking water. In its Interim health advisories, EPA set the levels for PFOA and PFOS at 0.004 ppt and 0.02 ppt, respectively. Final health advisories set the levels of GenX chemicals (PFOA replacement) and PFBS (PFOS replacement) at 10 ppt and 2000 ppt, respectively ¹². Hence, EPA has finalized the UCMR 5 (Fifth Unregulated Contaminant Monitoring Rule) to initiate nationwide monitoring for 29 PFAS in drinking water. This measure aims to address the public health and environmental impacts of PFAS and mitigate their risks.

Perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAA) are a significant subset of the extensive family of PFAS. PFAA encompasses two main types: perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acids (PFCAs, with the chemical formula C_nF_{2n+1}COOH) and perfluoroalkyl sulfonic acids (PFSA, C_nF_{2n+1}SO₃H) ^{4,13}. These compounds have garnered considerable attention from both regulatory bodies and the scientific community due to their unique and concerning characteristics. A critical aspect of PFAAs is their extraordinary persistence in the environment, coupled with their potential for bioaccumulation and the toxicity they have demonstrated in laboratory tests on animals ^{14,15}. Two of the most notable compounds within this group are eight-carbon chain perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (PFOS), which are the most commonly used, detected, and studied PFAAs ^{16–18}. PFAAs enter the environment through both direct and indirect sources. Direct sources involve the immediate discharge of PFAAs into the environment, whether intentional or accidental. Indirect sources, on the other hand, pertain to the formation of PFAAs through the biotic or abiotic degradation of other PFAS compounds, often termed as precursors to PFAA

Precursors to PFAS typically refer to compounds that can transform into PFAAs through oxidation reactions ^{2,4}. A major group of these precursors includes fluorotelomer-based compounds, such as Fluorotelomer alcohols (FTOHs). These compounds have structures that facilitate easy oxidation under the presence of strong oxidants ^{16,20,21}. The current scientific literature features an extensive array of research focused on both the qualitative and quantitative analysis of PFAS precursors. These studies extensively explore the mechanisms through which these precursors undergo transformation into PFAAs within environmental contexts ^{14,22–24}. Thus, this study focuses on PFCAs and their major precursor compounds, i.e., FTOHs.

1.2 PFAS TOXICITY AND HUMAN EXPOSURE

PFAS, known for its structural thermal and chemical stability, is persistent and has the potential for bioaccumulation in the environment. This leads to widespread detection in wildlife and humans ^{25–28}. Human exposure to PFAS mainly occurs through ingestion pathways such as diet and drinking water, especially in areas proximal to extremely contaminated sites. Reports have shown that human exposure to high levels of certain PFAS has been linked to various health conditions such as reproductive disorders, developmental effects in children, liver and kidney disease, immunotoxicity, hepatotoxicity, and thyroid hormone disruption immune system depression ^{29–35}. Initially, the understanding of PFAS toxicity was largely based on animal studies. However, growing concerns over their adverse health effects have spurred extensive human-focused research. The impact of PFAS on human health varies based on several factors, including the duration and concentration of exposure, the exposure method, and individual variables like age, sex, ethnicity, and existing health conditions ^{26,28,36}. High exposure levels to PFAS have been

linked to increased blood lipid levels, with studies indicating a correlation between higher blood concentrations of PFOA and PFOS and elevated low-density lipoprotein levels (high cholesterol) ^{27,28,36}

According to the ASTDR (Agency for Toxic Substance and Disease Registry), PFAS may lead to potential health impacts such as liver damage, high cholesterol, thyroid disease, reduced vaccine antibody responses, asthma, reduced fertility, and lower birth weights ³⁷. PFOA, in particular, is associated with developmental, reproductive, hepatic, and immunological issues, both acutely and over the long term. High concentrations of PFOA in lab mice have shown neurodevelopmental and skeletal effects ²⁵. Communities near Teflon manufacturing plants at Parkersburg, West Virginia (WV), have shown higher serum levels of PFOA, which are associated with increased rates of various cancers, including testicular, kidney, prostate, and ovarian ³⁸. The liver, being instrumental in processing PFAS for excretion, is particularly susceptible to bioaccumulation ³⁹.

Other PFAAs like Perfluorononanoic acid (PFNA) have been linked to reduced body weight and developmental delays in mice. The Center for Disease Control has highlighted PFAS as a significant public health challenge ³⁷. **Figure 1.1** represents that by August 2023, PFAS contamination had impacted 3,186 locations in the U.S. alone ⁴⁰. Community studies have shed light on the broader public health implications of PFAS. For instance, in the Cape Fear Region of North Carolina, USA, long-term residents exposed to water contaminated by a fluorochemical plant had detectable levels of PFAS, including fluorotelomers, in their serum ⁴¹. Additionally, a notable correlation has been found between PFAS levels in drinking water and proximity to industrial and military sites ⁴².



Figure 1.1: PFAS Contamination in the U.S. (August 2023) Source: <u>https://www.ewg.org/interactive-maps/pfas_contamination/map/</u>

1.3 OCCURRENCE, FATE, AND TRANSPORT OF PFAS IN WATER

Over the concerns of persistence and health impacts, many uses of some PFAS were phased out by U.S. manufacturers. After the phaseout of the two most concerned PFAS (i.e., PFOA and PFOS), shorter carbon-chain ionic and neutral PFAS are now being gradually used as replacements ⁴³. Neutral/semi-volatile PFAS are largely considered to be precursors of the ionic PFAS that include fluorotelomer alcohols (FTOHs), perfluorooctane sulfonamides (FOSAs), perfluorooctane sulfonamidoethanols (FOSEs), fluorotelomer acrylates (FTACs), and fluorotelomer methacrylates (FTMACs) ^{4,16,17,44}. However, the high volatility of fluorotelomer-based compounds can undergo long-range environmental transport. This can contribute to PFAS contamination in remote regions such as the Arctic, where they are degraded and contribute to potential perfluoroalkyl carboxylate contamination ^{17,45}. The study identified PFOA as the predominant PFCAs commonly found in the Arctic region which is the degradation product of FTOHs. The short-chain PFAS are also highly mobile and can be bioaccumulated in the environment, while long-chain PFAS are easily accumulated in humans, animals, soils, and sediments ⁴⁶.

Over the past few decades, PFAS have been ubiquitously present in the soil, water, air, food, and biological matrices ^{13,47}. Particularly, PFAS and their precursors have been found in all types of waters throughout the world, including surface, ground, tap, bottled, wastewater influents and effluents, industrial waste influents and effluents, rivers, lakes, and seas ^{48–52}. In a study by Pan and colleagues expanded the scope of investigation by evaluating PFCAs and PFSA in 160 surface water samples collected from various countries, including China, the United States, United Kingdom, Sweden, Germany, Netherlands, and South Korea⁵³. Their findings revealed that several PFAS compounds were consistently present across all these nations, which points out the ubiquitous presence of PFAS in surface waters worldwide. In another study conducted by Kaboré and team, a comprehensive analysis of 133 PFASs from different PFAS groups were carried out on drinking water samples ⁵⁴. The study concluded that the levels of PFOS and PFOA in the collected drinking water samples did not exceed 70 parts per trillion (ppt), the health advisory values previously set by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). Yamashita et al., conducted an extensive investigation into the presence and distribution of perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) in 71 water samples collected from different oceans. The concentrations of these chemicals ranged from less than 5 ppt to as high as 439 ppt ⁵⁵. Their study shed light on the widespread occurrence of these substances in oceanic environments. In a separate study by Yeung and his group, ⁵⁶ they examined the circulation of PFAS in the Arctic Ocean. They routinely detected 13 different PFASs in this remote region in the range of 5–343 pg/L. This highlights the global reach of these compounds and their presence even in such pristine environments.

1.4 ROLE OF WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANTS IN PFAS TRANSPORT

Wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) play a crucial role in the transport of PFAS from human activities into the environment. These facilities receive wastewater streams from a wide range of sources, including residential, industrial, and commercial sources ^{57,58}. As a result, PFAS compounds are now detected in nearly every wastewater system worldwide ^{59,60}. Wastewater Effluent is one significant route for the release of PFAS in the environment. Although the effluent is regularly monitored and discharged into nearby water bodies, it often contains unregulated PFAS levels. As a result, wastewater effluent could be a significant contributor to PFAS contamination in aquatic environments. Gallen and co-wokers examined 14 WWTPs and found that only three of them managed to reduce the total PFAS concentration from influent to effluent ⁶¹. Additionally, another research group led by Dauchy, investigated the mass flow of the most abundant PFAS in individual WWTPs 58 and found that PFCAs mass flow increased after oxidative conversion during secondary biological treatment processes, indicating that PFCAs precursors can transform during treatment ^{57,58,62,63}. According to the literature, the total concentration of PFAS in wastewater ranges from not detected level to 143 µg/L (ppb); in river water, PFAS concentration ranges from a few ng/L to 496 μ g/L; in surface water levels were up to 84 μ g/L and in drinking water ranges up to 8300 ng/L⁶⁴. Relatively, there have been inadequate studies on the effects of wastewater effluent for FTOHs contamination on the environment. Some investigation on FTOHs in wastewater effluents of WWTPs found containing FTOHs ranging from <0.13-6.67 ng/L 65,66.

Another critical route for PFAS release from WWTPs is through sludges and biosolids. WWTP biosolids the solid waste generated primarily through biological treatment processes ⁵⁷. Notably, these sludges can contain high concentrations of long-chain and precursor PFAS ^{57,62}. The land application of municipal biosolids represents a significant pathway through which PFAS in sewage return to the soil environment. Considering that biosolids are recycled through land applications and landfills, it is important to monitor the composition and concentration of PFAS in biosolids. Biosolids are often applied to land as fertilizer. There have been reports that PFAS, which are present in biosolids, can leach into the soil and accumulate in plants ^{58,63}. Moreover, certain PFAS compounds, particularly those with longer chain lengths, tend to adhere to biosolids due to their higher hydrophobicity. This introduces a concept of fractionation, altering the PFAS profile in both effluent and biosolids ⁶¹. Due to the limited information available regarding PFAS levels in biosolids, there is a pressing need to determine the levels of both identified and unidentified PFAS species in these samples to better grasp the extent of the issue.

1.5 METHODOLOGIES FOR PFAS DETECTION

The extensive use of PFAS has led them as emerging contaminants in the environment. Thus, monitoring them is essential to help with environmental management and remediation ¹³. Numerous instrumental separation methods for PFAS have been developed. A variety of chromatographic techniques such as Liquid chromatography (LC), Gas chromatography (GC), High-performance Liquid chromatography (HPLC), and Ultra-high performance liquid chromatography (UHPLC) are frequently used for the determination of PFAS in water matrices ^{13,14,67–70}. Less commonly used methods include nuclear magnetic resonance, Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy, and ion chromatography ^{69,71,72}. In the last decade, research has been conducted on developing new on-site detection techniques that are convenient and reliable. For example, there are several sensor-based methods such as electrochemical sensors, ion-selective electrodes (ISE), fluorescence sensors, and smartphone app-based monitoring systems have been developed ^{73,74}. However those techniques usually detect high concentrations of PFAS (> 10 ppb). Moreover, methods such as the total oxidizable precursor assay have determined that a significant

fraction of the total PFAS present in environmental samples consists of unidentified compounds

Chromatographic techniques are essential tools in analytical laboratories due to their versatility and effectiveness. These methods find extensive application in separating and analyzing diverse compound mixtures. Chromatography allows for precise separation, analysis, and purification, often requiring only small sample volumes. These advantages make chromatography a better choice for PFAS determination in water over other analytical techniques.

1.5.1 Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS)

Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) stands as a versatile and robust analytical approach, demonstrating remarkable precision and accuracy across a broad spectrum of sample types and analytes. Typically, when dealing with PFAS analytes, a crucial preliminary step involves their preconcentration using solid-phase extraction (SPE) prior to LC-MS/MS analysis ^{22,47,77}. As LC-MS/MS is a predominant technology⁷³, US EPA has developed and validated a series of methods (EPA Method 533, 537.1, 8327) for PFAS using LC-MS/MS with solid-phase extraction in sample preparation ⁷⁶.

When chromatography is combined with mass spectrometry, its power is greatly enhanced. In this configuration, the LC system is often coupled with tandem mass spectrometers, particularly either triple quadrupole MS or linear ion trap MS, using an electrospray ionization interface ^{13,74,78,79}. This tandem mass spectrometry setup allows for multiple reaction monitoring (MRM), which enables the selective monitoring of specific analytes of interest ²². Recent advancements in chromatographic analysis have made it possible for researchers to detect and quantify PFAS at extremely low concentration levels (pg/L) ⁸⁰. **Table 1.1** provides an overview of LC methods used for tracing PFAS in water samples. An impressive example of the power of LC-MS/MS in PFAS analysis is demonstrated in the work of Gamo and colleagues, who determined the concentration of perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) in oceanic water ⁸¹. In this study, LC-MS/MS was employed to measure PFAA concentrations at sub-parts per trillion (sub-ppt) to low parts per quadrillion (low ppq) levels in samples collected at the ocean's surface ⁸¹.

But overall, LC techniques have some limitations. Yamashita and collegues, ⁸⁰ reported background contamination issues in PFAS monitoring. Specific attention should be paid to autosampler vial caps made of Teflon or fluoropolymers, fluoropolymer tubing, solvent inlet filters and a variety of other laboratory products containing Teflon and perfluoroalkoxy compounds, as they are sources of PFAS in blanks. A well-known problem in electrospray ionization (ESI), as is commonly used in LC-MS, is ion suppression ⁸². Moreover, Liquid chromatography techniques require highly sophisticated and expensive instruments, and their analysis is generally time-consuming ⁸³.

However, it is also worth noting that to analyze PFASs at trace levels, large sample volumes are typically needed for the preconcentration of target analytes. Unfortunately, when using SPE, the analysis time increases linearly as the sample volume increases. This presents a challenge in terms of analysis efficiency. As a result, there is a pressing need to develop improved methods that can lower the limits of detection (LODs) while reducing analysis times, particularly when working with smaller sample volumes.

Target PFAS	Matrix/ Sources	Derivatizing agent	Sample Volume (mL)	Extraction method	Analytical method	GC Column	% Recovery	LOD	Reference
PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFDoA	Groundwater	Methyl iodide, Diazomethane	200	SPE	GC-ECNI- MS	SPB-1 SULFUR column (30m×0.32mm i.d., 4.0µm filmthickness), (Supelco, Bellefonte, USA)	35-90	18-36 μg/L	84
PFBA, PFPeA, PFHpA, PFHxA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Wastewater, Seawater	Tetrabutylammonium, Butanol, Thionyl chloride	5	IP-SPME	GC-NCI- MS	2B-624 column (60m×0.25mm i.d., 1.4μm filmthickness), (Phenomenex, Torrence, CA, USA).	35-90	0.02- 0.75 μg/L	85
PFPrA, PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA, TFA	Surface Water, Lake water, Precipitaion	2,4- difluoroaniline, N,N- dicyclohexylcarbodiimide	300	SPE	GC-EI-MS	ZB-5 Zebron fused silica capillary column (30 m × 0.25 mm i.d.), (Phenomenex, Torrence, CA, USA)	25-137	0.01- 0.5 ng/L	86
PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	River Water	Isobutyl chloroformate (IBCF), pyridine, Isobutanol	500	LLE	GC-ECD	SPB-5 column (15m×0.25mm i.d., 0.25 μm filmthickness), (Supelco, Bellefonte, USA)	N.R.	0.1 1.8 µg/ml	87

Table 1.1: Liquid Chromatographic Techniques for Determination of PFAS in Water

Target PFAS	Matrix/ Sources	Derivatizing agent	Sample Volume (mL)	Extraction method	Analytical method	GC Column	% Recovery	LOD	Reference
PFOA, FHUEA, FOUEA, FNUEA	River Water	Benzyl bromide	500	IP-LLE	GC-EI-MS	BPX35 column (30m×0.25mm i.d., 0.25µm film thickness)	89-101	0.2-1 μg/ml	88
PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Surface water, Precipitation	2,4- difluoroaniline and DCC	500	IP-LLE	GC-NCI- MS	RTX-35 column (105 m \times 0.25 mm i.d., 0.50 μ m film thickness), (Restek Corporation, Brockville, ON).	91-98	0.3- 5.9 ng/L	89
PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Treated Water	2,4- difluoroaniline and DCC	10	LLE	GC-FID	RTX 5 column (30m×0.25mm i.d., 0.1µm film thickness), (Restek, Bellefonte, PA, USA)	82-110	0.127 μg/ml	90
PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	River Water	Propyl chloroformate, Propanol	10	HS-SPME	GC-QqQ- MS/MS	TR-5MS column (30m×0.25mm i.d., 0.25µm film thickness)	85-117	0.08- 6.6 ng/L	91
PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFDA, PFNA, , PFUnA, PFDoA	River Water	Isobutyl chloroformate (IBCF), Pyridine, Isobutanol, pH 2.5	250	SPE	GC-NCI- MS	Rtx-200MS column (30m×0.25mm i.d., 0.25µm film thickness), (Restek, USA)	53-111	0.1-24 pg/ml	92

Target PFAS	Matrix/ Sources	Derivatizing agent	Sample Volume (mL)	Extraction method	Analytical method	GC Column	% Recovery	LOD	Reference
PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA	Surface Water	Tetrabutylammonium hydrogen sulfate (TBAHS)	10	IP- DLLME	GC-NCI- MS/MS	DB-624 column (30 m × 0.25 mm, 1.4µm film thickness), (J&W, Folsom, CA, USA)	95-98	37-51 ng/L	93
PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, & PFOS	Drinking Water/ Wastewater	IBCF, DCC in Pyridine, Isobutanol, pH 1.0	250	SPE	GC-DSQ II- MS	DB-5MS column (30 m × 0.25 mm, 1.4µm film thickness), (J&W, Folsom, CA, USA)	94-98	0.1- 0.5 ng/L	94
FTOH (4:2, 6:2, 8:2, and 10:2), N- EtFOSE, N- MeFOSE, N- MeFOSA, N- EtFOSA	Wastewater, River water	N/A	1000	SPE	GC-APCI- MS/MS	TG-WaxMS column (30m×0.25mm i.d., 0.25µm film thickness), (Thermo Scientific, USA)	80-97	1-5 pg/L	95
4:2 FTI, 6:2 FTI, 8:2 FTI, 6:2 FTOH, 8:2 FTOH, 10:2 FTOH, , 6:2 FTAC, 8:2 FTAC, 6:2 FTMAC, 8:2 FTMAC, MeFOSA, EtFOSA	Tap Water, Surface water	N/A	10	HS-SPME	GC-EI-MS	Rxi-624SilMS column (30 m \times 0.25 mm i.d.; 1.4 μ m film thickness) (Restek, Bellefonte, PA, USA).	76-126	20- 100 ng/L	96

Target PFAS	Matrix/ Sources	Derivatizing agent	Sample Volume (mL)	Extraction method	Analytical method	GC Column	% Recovery	LOD	Reference
PFPrA, PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Wastewater	Triethylsilanol (TES), H ₂ SO ₄	250	SPE	GC-EI-MS	DB-5MS column (30m×0.25mm i.d., 0.25µm film thickness), (Agilent J&W Scientific)	93-108	4-48 ng/L	97
PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA, PFTeA	River Water, Lake Water	Isobutyl chloroformate (IBCF), pyridine, Isobutanol	1	DLLME	GC-EI-MS	TR-5MS column (30m×0.25mm i.d., 0.25µm film thickness), (Thermo Fisher, Shanghai, China)	83.7–117	0.9-3 ng/mL	98
PFBA, PFPeA, PFHpA, PFHxA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Surface water	2,4-difluoroaniline (DFA) and DCC	500	SPE	GC-µECD	HP-5 column (30m×0.32mm i.d., 0.25µm film thickness)	62-118	1.14– 6.32 μg/L	99
PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Tap Water	2,3,4,5,6- pentafluorobenzyl bromide (PFBBr)	500	SPE	GC-EI-MS	DB-5MS column (30m×0.25mm i.d., 0.25µm film thickness), (Agilent J&W Scientific)	40.1- 101.8	0.1- .28 ng/L	100

Target PFAS	Matrix/ Sources	Derivatizing agent	Sample Volume (mL)	Extraction method	Analytical method	GC Column	% Recovery	LOD	Reference
4:2 FTO, 6:2 FTO, 8:2 FTO, 4:2 FTOH, FTOH (6:2, 8:2, and 10:2), N-MeFOSE, N- EtFOSE, N- MeFOSA, N- EtFOSA, 7-Me-6:2 FTOH	River Water	N/A	500	SPE	GC-EI-MS, GC-CI-MS, GC-NCI- MS	DB-624 column ($60 \text{ m} \times 0.25 \text{ mm}$, 1.4 μ m film thickness), (Agilent Technologies, CA, USA)	(90-100)	0.06-6 μg/L	101
TFA, PFPrA, PFBA, PFPeA, PFHpA, PFHxA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA, PFTrDA, PFTeDA	Wastewater, Tap water	Isobutyl chloroformate (IBCF), Isobutanol, Pyridine,	250	SPE	GC-ECNI- MS	HP-5MS column (20m×0.18mm i.d., 0.18µm film thickness), (Agilent, CA, USA)	(83-130)	0.06- 14.6 ng/L	102

1.5.2 Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS)

As an alternative, Gas chromatography (GC) is a convenient instrument for volatile and semi-volatile PFAS analysis (i.e., fluorotelomer alcohols, FTOHs; perfluorinated sulfonamido ethanols, FASE ^{70,82}. However, for a sample to be suitable for GC-MS analysis, it must be both volatile and thermally stable. As a result, many PFAS compounds, which are generally nonvolatile, require a chemical derivatization process to convert them into volatile derivatives for analysis ^{70,82}. There are several studies have been done on PFCAs derivatization prior GC-MS analysis ^{70,82,103–108}. Gołebiowski et al., applied 2,4 difluoroaniline for derivatization of PFCAs (PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, and PFDA) in the presence of N, N'-dicyclohexylcarbodiimide (DCC) ¹⁰⁹. But this method consists of several sample preparation steps: pH adjustment, phase separation and washing the organic phase with HCl, NaHCO₃, and NaCl solution. In another study, Dufkova et al. developed a fast derivatization procedure for PFCAs by using isobutyl chloroformate to quantify various chain lengths of PFCAs in water ¹¹⁰. This technique allowed them to test river water samples for PFCAs. Similarly, Jurado-Sánchez and colleagues investigated perfluoroalkyl acids in water using GC-MS. They first preconcentrated samples using solid-phase extraction and then derivatized them with isobutyl chloroformate in the presence of pyridine and isobutanol. Through optimization of derivatizing agent amounts, low limits of detection (LOD) were achieved ranging from 0.1 to 0.5 parts per trillion (ppt) 104 . Another research group led by Strozynska developed two derivatization processes using triethylsilanol and N,N-Dimethylformamide dimethylacetal for the separation of PFCAs through GC-MS¹⁰⁸. Overall, isobutyl chloroformate-based derivatization provides rapid and simple procedure and is commonly used for the determination of PFAS in water by GC-MS. Table 1.2 provides an overview of derivatization techniques and gas chromatographic methods used for tracing PFAS in water samples.

Target PFAS	Matrix/ Sources	Derivatizing agent	Sample Volume (mL)	Extraction method	Analytical method	GC Column	% Recovery	LOD	Reference
PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFDoA	Groundwater	Methyl iodide, Diazomethane	200	SPE	GC-ECNI- MS	SPB-1 SULFUR column (30m×0.32mm i.d., 4.0µm filmthickness), (Supelco, Bellefonte, USA) 7P. 624 column	35-90	18-36 μg/L	84
PFBA, PFPeA, , PFHpA, PFHxA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Wastewater, Seawater	Tetrabutylammonium, Butanol, Thionyl chloride	5	IP-SPME	GC-NCI- MS	2B-624 column (60m×0.25mm i.d., 1.4μm filmthickness), (Phenomenex, Torrence, CA, USA).	35-90	0.02- 0.75 μg/L	85
PFPrA, PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA, TFA	Surface Water, Lake water, Precipitaion	2,4- difluoroaniline, N,N- dicyclohexylcarbodiimide	300	SPE	GC-EI-MS	ZB-5 Zebron fused silica capillary column (30 m × 0.25 mm i.d.), (Phenomenex, Torrence, CA, USA)	25-137	0.01- 0.5 ng/L	86
PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	River Water	Isobutyl chloroformate (IBCF), pyridine, Isobutanol	500	LLE	GC-ECD	SPB-5 column (15m×0.25mm i.d., 0.25 μm filmthickness), (Supelco, Bellefonte, USA)	N.R.	0.1- 1.8 µg/ml	87

Table 1.2: Gas Chromatographic Techniques for Tracing PFAS in Water

Target PFAS	Matrix/ Sources	Derivatizing agent	Sample Volume (mL)	Extraction method	Analytical method	GC Column	% Recovery	LOD	Reference
PFOA, FHUEA, FOUEA, FNUEA	River Water	Benzyl bromide	500	IP-LLE	GC-EI-MS	BPX35 column (30m×0.25mm i.d., 0.25µm film thickness)	89-101	0.2-1 μg/ml	88
PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Surface water, Precipitation	2,4- difluoroaniline and DCC	500	IP-LLE	GC-NCI- MS	RTX-35 column (105 m \times 0.25 mm i.d., 0.50 μ m film thickness), (Restek Corporation, Brockville, ON).	91-98	0.3- 5.9 ng/L	89
PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Treated Water	2,4- difluoroaniline and DCC	10	LLE	GC-FID	RTX 5 column (30m×0.25mm i.d., 0.1µm film thickness), (Restek, Bellefonte, PA, USA)	82-110	0.127 μg/ml	90
PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	River Water	Propyl chloroformate, Propanol	10	HS-SPME	GC-QqQ- MS/MS	TR-5MS column (30m×0.25mm i.d., 0.25µm film thickness)	85-117	0.08- 6.6 ng/L	91
PFPeA, PFHpA, PFHxA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	River Water	Isobutyl chloroformate (IBCF), Pyridine, Isobutanol, pH 2.5	250	SPE	GC-NCI- MS	Rtx-200MS column (30m×0.25mm i.d., 0.25µm film thickness), (Restek, USA)	53-111	0.1-24 pg/ml	92

Target PFAS	Matrix/ Sources	Derivatizing agent	Sample Volume (mL)	Extraction method	Analytical method	GC Column	% Recovery	LOD	Reference
PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA	Surface Water	Tetrabutylammonium hydrogen sulfate (TBAHS)	10	IP- DLLME	GC-NCI- MS/MS	DB-624 column (30 m × 0.25 mm, 1.4µm film thickness), (J&W, Folsom, CA, USA)	95-98	37-51 ng/L	93
PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, & PFOS	Drinking Water/ Wastewater	IBCF, DCC in Pyridine, Isobutanol, pH 1.0	250	SPE	GC-DSQ II- MS	DB-5MS column (30 m × 0.25 mm, 1.4µm film thickness), (J&W, Folsom, CA, USA)	94-98	0.1- 0.5 ng/L	94
FTOH (4:2, 6:2, 8:2, and 10:2), , N- MeFOSE, N- EtFOSE, N- MeFOSA, N- EtFOSA	Wastewater, River water	N/A	1000	SPE	GC-APCI- MS/MS	TG-WaxMS column (30m×0.25mm i.d., 0.25µm film thickness), (Thermo Scientific, USA)	80-97	1-5 pg/L	95
FTOH (6:2, 8:2, and 10:2), 4:2 FTI, 6:2 FTI, 8:2 FTI, 6:2 FTAC, 8:2 FTAC, 6:2 FTMAC, 8:2 FTMAC, MeFOSA, EtFOSA	Tap Water, Surface water	N/A	10	HS-SPME	GC-EI-MS	Rxi-624SilMS column (30 m × 0.25 mm i.d.; 1.4µm film thickness) (Restek, Bellefonte, PA, USA).	76-126	20- 100 ng/L	96

Target PFAS	Matrix/ Sources	Derivatizing agent	Sample Volume (mL)	Extraction method	Analytical method	GC Column	% Recovery	LOD	Reference
PFPrA, PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Wastewater	Triethylsilanol (TES), H ₂ SO ₄	250	SPE	GC-EI-MS	DB-5MS column (30m×0.25mm i.d., 0.25µm film thickness), (Agilent J&W Scientific)	93-108	4-48 ng/L	97
PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA, PFTeA	River Water, Lake Water	Isobutyl chloroformate (IBCF), pyridine, Isobutanol	1	DLLME	GC-EI-MS	TR-5MS column (30m×0.25mm i.d., 0.25µm film thickness), (Thermo Fisher, Shanghai, China)	83.7–117	0.9-3 ng/mL	98
PFBA, PFPeA, PFHpA, PFHxA, , PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Surface water	2,4-difluoroaniline (DFA) and DCC	500	SPE	GC-µECD	HP-5 column (30m×0.32mm i.d., 0.25µm film thickness)	62-118	1.14– 6.32 μg/L	99
PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Tap Water	2,3,4,5,6- pentafluorobenzyl bromide (PFBBr)	500	SPE	GC-EI-MS	DB-5MS column (30m×0.25mm i.d., 0.25µm film thickness), (Agilent J&W Scientific)	40.1- 101.8	0.1- .28 ng/L	100

Target PFAS	Matrix/ Sources	Derivatizing agent	Sample Volume (mL)	Extraction method	Analytical method	GC Column	% Recovery	LOD	Reference
4:2 FTO, 6:2 FTO, 8:2 FTO, FTOH (4:2, 6:2, 8:2, and 10:2), N-MeFOSE, N-EtFOSE, N- MeFOSA, N- EtFOSA, 7-Me-6:2 FTOH	River Water	N/A	500	SPE	GC-EI-MS, GC-CI-MS, GC-NCI- MS	DB-624 column (60 m × 0.25 mm, 1.4µm film thickness), (Agilent Technologies, CA, USA)	(90-100)	0.06-6 μg/L	101
TFA, PFPrA, PFBA, PFPeA, , PFHpA, PFHxA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA, PFTrDA, PFTeDA	Wastewater, Tap water	Isobutyl chloroformate (IBCF), Isobutanol, Pyridine,	250	SPE	GC-ECNI- MS	HP-5MS column (20m×0.18mm i.d., 0.18μm film thickness), (Agilent, CA, USA)	(83-130)	0.06- 14.6 ng/L	102
1.5.3 Untargeted analysis and other methods for PFAS

Untargeted analysis is a powerful approach that plays an important role in quantifying the total concentration PFAS. The main difficulty lies in the fact that, for all PFAS compounds, standardized reference materials or analytical standards are not available ¹¹¹. Therefore, untargeted analysis methods focus on quantifying PFAS as a compound class, allowing for a more comprehensive assessment of their presence. In order to overcome the challenges posed by reference materials and the constraints of targeted analytical methods, high-resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS) has emerged as a valuable tool ^{112,113}. HRMS equipment, such as quadrupole time-of-flight (QToF) or orbitrap mass analyzers, offers significantly higher resolution compared to traditional quadrupole-based instruments ¹¹². One of the key advantages of HRMS in PFAS detection is its ability to detect and characterize unexpected or new-generation PFAS compounds with unknown fragmentation patterns ^{114,115}. By analyzing the measured elemental formulae of unknown ions, researchers can uncover novel PFAS variants ¹¹⁶. Wang and colleagues conducted both targeted and non-targeted screening of PFAS in wastewater from a fluorochemical manufacturing park ¹¹⁷. Through their investigation, they successfully identified 90 PFASs belonging to 15 different chemical classes using HRMS to identify previously unknown PFAS compounds. Furthermore, researchers like Ruan and his team ¹¹⁸, Nakayama et al., ¹¹⁹, and Liu et al., ¹¹¹, all reviewed the present state of non-target PFAS detection methods. Liu research group highlighted that non-targeted HRMS-based approaches have led to the discovery of more than 750 PFAS compounds across 130 diverse chemical classes ¹¹¹. They summarized various strategies for non-targeted PFAS discovery, emphasizing the significant contribution of HRMS to this expanding field of research. Untargeted analysis by HRMS, has revolutionized the detection and identification of PFAS compounds.

Another method for untargeted PFAS analysis is total organic fluorine (TOF) analysis. TOF analysis is a method used to measure the overall amount of fluorinated organic compounds in a sample ¹¹². To perform TOF analysis, a dedicated combustion ion chromatography (CIC) system is employed ¹²⁰. In this process, PFAS compounds are first adsorbed onto materials like activated carbon or other sorbents. Then, combustion is used to release fluoride ions from the absorbed PFAS, and the concentration of fluoride ions is determined using CIC^{120,121}. However, TOF analysis has certain limitations. One major drawback is that it lacks specificity for the chain length of PFAS compounds and doesn't target specific PFAS precursors. This means that TOF analysis cannot distinguish between different PFAS molecules based on their structure or size ¹²⁰. To identify specific PFAS compounds and their origins, additional PFAS-specific extraction methods are necessary. Another important limitation of TOF analysis is its non-selectivity to PFASs. This means that it measures the total fluorine content in a sample, which can include fluorine contributions from naturally occurring organofluorines that are not PFAS¹¹². As a result, TOF analysis tends to overestimate the presence of PFASs in the sample matrix, as it cannot differentiate between PFAS and other sources of organic fluorine. Overall, TOF analysis provides a measure of the total organic fluorine content in a sample but lacks specificity in terms of PFAS identification, chain length differentiation, and source discrimination. These limitations should be taken into account when employing TOF analysis to assess the presence of PFAS compounds in environmental or analytical studies.

1.6 EXTRACTION, PRECONCENTRATION, AND CLEAN-UP

Regardless of the method used to detect PFAS, it is always necessary to employ efficient extraction, purification, and concentration techniques to accurately identify PFAS in water, especially when they are present in very trace amounts. Typically, PFAS are extracted from

24

different water samples through a method known as solid-phase extraction (SPE) ^{119,122,123}. This method is widely favored for its efficiency. However, there are alternative methods that have been employed in numerous research studies such as liquid-liquid extraction (LLE), ion-pair extraction (IPE), solid-phase microextraction (SPME), and dispersive liquid-liquid microextraction (DLLME). LLE involves the separation of compounds based on their solubilities in two different immiscible liquids ¹²⁴. IPE is a technique that pairs ions to make them more extractable in organic solvents ¹²⁵. SPME method is a solvent-free technique that uses a coated fiber to absorb and concentrate analytes ¹²⁶. DLLME is a rapid and solvent-minimizing method where a disperser solvent helps create a fine emulsion for extracting the analytes ¹²⁷. Each of these methods has unique advantages and has been applied based on the particular needs of the study. **Table 1.1** and **Table 1.2** provide examples of the extraction techniques that are frequently used to extract PFAS from water samples.

Solid-phase extraction (SPE) is predominant method for preconcentration or clean-up prior to LC-MS/MS analysis for PFAS determination in aquous samples ^{47,82}. An alternative to SPE is liquid-liquid extraction (LLE), but its automatization is quite limited. In the present era of "green chemistry," the sample preparation methods that produce large amounts of toxic solvents, i.e., liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) and solid phase extraction (SPE), are difficult to justify for multi-residue determinations of PFAS in water samples ¹²⁸. Moreover, the widely used solid-phase extraction (SPE) is in some cases tedious, time- consuming and could present some disadvantages, i.e., sample extracts being insufficiently clean, poor recovery, the breakthrough of large sample volumes, essentially at the ultra-trace level ⁸².

Modern approaches to sample preparation are more devoted to solventless extraction methods, where miniaturization has become an essential role in analytical chemistry.

Microextraction techniques were introduced as a modern and more efficient alternative to traditional extraction methods such as LLE or SPE. Arthur and Pawilszyn research group first proposed Solid-phase microextraction (SPME). SPME is growing in popularity due to its ease of use, high sensitivity, and reproducibility ^{65,129}. It requires neither solvents nor previous sample preparation, is simple to automate, and has been successfully applied for environmental analysis, in particular to water samples ¹³⁰. Similar to SPME, Stir bar sorptive extraction (SBSE) was also developed to screen priority organic micro-pollutants in water samples ^{131,132}. Because of the higher volume of absorbent material in SBSE, this new sampling method enables to increase in the sensitivity by a factor of 1000 as compared to SPME, decreasing the detection limits at the sub-ng/L level ¹³². Up to date, only very limited number of studies have been reported that used the SBSE method for extracting perfluoroalkyl acids in water ^{133–135}. Villaverde-de-Sáa and coworkers first studied polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) and polyethersulfone (PES) based materials as stir bar coating for extraction of perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAA) from water samples ¹³⁵. Later, Aparicio and Yao research groups studied commercial ethylene glycol-modified silicone (EGsilicone), and polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) coated stir bars ^{133,134}. All three studies have used LC-MS/MS method for the determination of perfluoroalkyl acids. And even few examples of the application of SBSE with GC/MS were reported ¹³⁶. Moreover, none of those methods have been evaluated for the determination of a wider range of PFAS precursors, such as FTOHs.

1.7 CURRENT ANALYTICAL CHALLENGES AND BRIDGING THE RESEARCH NEED

The research in this study addresses a critical need for alternative and more accessible analytical methods to monitor FTOHs and PFCAs; two major groups of PFAS, those are mostly detected in the water matrices. Currently, the predominant technique for PFAS analysis involves the use of LC-MS/MS. But the high cost associated with using LC-MS/MS as the primary method for PFAS analysis poses a significant barrier, limiting accessibility for many laboratories, especially those with limited resources. Moreover, the labor-intensive as well as time-consuming preconcentration and cleanup procedures required by existing extraction methods further complicate the analysis. Recognizing these challenges, there is a clear and pressing need for the development of alternative analytical methods that are not only simple and cost-effective but also sensitive enough to detect FTOHs and PFCAs at trace levels in water matrices. By addressing these research needs, this study aims to enhance the accessibility and efficiency of PFAS analysis, which will ultimately contribute to more comprehensive environmental monitoring and protection efforts.

1.8 RESEARCH GOAL, OBJECTIVES, AND HYPOTHESIS

The overarching goal of this research is to develop simple, sensitive, green, and costeffective methods to study perfluorocarboxylic acids (PFCAs) and fluorotelomer alcohols (FTOHs). Two major groups of PFAS, perfluorocarboxylic acids (PFCAs) and fluorotelomer alcohol (FTOHs), were studied; and green analytical techniques were employed. To achieve this goal, we specify two aims.

Aim 1: Develop an improved method for FTOHs and PFCAs detection in water by using SBSE-TD-GC-MS.

a) Apply and test the use of Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE) coupled with thermal desorption-gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (TD-GC-MS) to detect and quantify FTOHs and PFCAs in water.

b) Optimize the SBSE-TD-GC-MS method to achieve a detection limit within the parts per trillion (ppt) range.

c) Study the concentration of FTOHs and PFCAs in biosolids.

Aim 2: Investigate the occurrence and transport of FTOHs and PFCAs in wastewater treatment process.

a) Establish a baseline of FTOHs and PFCAs levels in wastewater in the El Paso region.

b) Study the level of FTOHs and PFCAs in biosolid to understand the fate of PFAS in wastewater treatment process

We hypothesize that Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE) coupled with TD-GC-MS offers a sensitive and fast analytical alternative for PFAS determination at ppt level. We also hypothesize that PFAS will be detected in wastewater collected from all WWTPs, and the wastewater treatment process cannot remove PFAS completely. Thus, wastewater is a source of PFAS contamination in our drinking water supply.

1.9 FUTURE CHAPTERS AND APPROACHES OF EACH STUDY

This dissertation is structured into five chapters, with a focus on methodological development using three FTOHs and nine PFCAs as the primary model compounds. The dissertation commences with a comprehensive review of the existing literature in this Chapter 1, setting the stage for the subsequent research. The research findings of the dissertation are included in Chapters 2, 3, and 4, each dedicated to a specific study. These chapters are organized in manuscript format in preparation for manuscript submission. These three chapters contains sections of introduction, methodology, results and discussion, and references. Finally, Chapter 5 offers an overall conclusion, summarizing the findings from the three studies and directions for future research.

The three detailed studies in chapters 2-4 are summarized as follows.

Chapter 2: Rapid, Efficient, and Green Analytical Technique for Determination of Fluorotelomer Alcohol in Water by Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction

This chapter outlines the development and validation of a novel method for detecting Fluorotelomer Alcohols (FTOHs) in water. The technique utilizes Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE) combined with Thermal Desorption-Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (TD-GC-MS). It emphasizes a straightforward, rapid, and eco-friendly approach with minimal solvent use and no clean-up requirement. The method's sensitivity is highlighted through the analysis of three prevalent FTOHs. Key factors such as extraction time, stirring speed, solvent composition, salt addition, and pH levels were optimized for maximum extraction efficiency.

Chapter 3: Green Analytical Method for Determination of Perfluorocarboxylic Acids (PFCAs) in Water by Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction coupled with GC-MS.

This chapter discusses the development of an improved SBSE method, combined with TD-GC-MS, for the analysis of Perfluorocarboxylic Acids (PFCAs) in water. The study thoroughly evaluates the method's performance in terms of linearity, recovery, sensitivity, repeatability, and spiked recovery across various water matrices. The findings demonstrate the method's precision, environmental friendliness, and reliability for PFCAs analysis in wastewater samples.

Chapter 4: Investigating FTOHs and PFCAs in Biosolids Applying Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction Followed by GC-MS Analysis

In this chapter, the focus shifts to the development of an efficient method for extracting PFCAs and FTOHs from biosolid samples, followed by analysis utilizing the previously established SBSE-TD-GC-MS techniques. The study presents the analysis results of biosolids samples from four different wastewater treatment facilities, demonstrating the effectiveness of the method in these specific environmental contexts.

Through each chapter, the dissertation presents innovative, sustainable, and effective methods for environmental analysis.

Chapter 2: Rapid, Efficient, and Green Analytical Technique for Determination of Fluorotelomer Alcohol in Water by Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction

Published in Chemosphere, 2023: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2023.139439

2.1 ABSTRACT

Fluorotelomer alcohols (FTOHs) are one of the major classes of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS). Due to their potential toxicity, persistence, and ubiquitous presence in the environment, some common PFAS are voluntarily phased out; while FTOHs are used as alternatives to conventional PFAS. FTOHs are precursors of perfluorocarboxylic acids (PFCAs) and therefore they are commonly detected in water matrices, which eventually indicate PFAS contamination in drinking water supplies and thus a potential source of human exposure. Even though studies have been conducted nationwide to evaluate the degree of FTOHs in the water environment, robust monitoring is lacking because of the unavailability of simple and sustainable analytical extraction and detection methods. To fill the gap, we developed and validated a simple, rapid, minimal solvent use, no clean-up, and sensitive method for the determination of FTOHs in water by stir bar sorptive extraction (SBSE) coupled with thermal desorption-gas chromatographymass spectrometry (TD-GC-MS). Three commonly detected FTOHs (6:2 FTOH, 8:2 FTOH, and 10:2 FTOH) were selected as the model compounds. Factors such as extraction time, stirring speed, solvent composition, salt addition, and pH were investigated to achieve optimal extraction efficiency. This "green chemistry" based extraction provided good sensitivity and precision with low method limits of detection ranging from 2.16 ng/L to 16.7 ng/L and with an extraction recovery ranging 55% to 111%. The developed method were tested on tap water, brackish water, and wastewater influent and effluent. Two FTOHs (6:2 FTOH and 8:2 FTOH) were detected in two

wastewater samples at 78.0 and 34.8 ng/L, respectively. This optimized SBSE-TD-GC-MS method will be a valuable alternative to investigate FTOHs in water matrices.

Keywords: Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS), Fluorotelomer alcohol (FTOHs), Stir bar sorptive extraction (SBSE), Method Development, GC-MS, Wastewater.

2.2 INTRODUCTION

Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) are a family of more than 4700 highly fluorinated compounds manufactured for diverse applications¹. They are organic chemicals manufactured for their heat, water, and stain-resistant properties. PFAS can be found ubiquitously in the environment because they are widely used in everyday consumer products such as non-stick cookware, food wrapper, cosmetics, all stain-resistant products, aqueous fire-fighting foams, etc. $^{2-5}$. Fluorotelomer alcohols (FTOHs) are one of the major classes of PFAS, with a fluorinated tail ranging from 4-14 carbons and an alcohol head group ⁴. They are denoted by the nomenclature m:n FTOH, where 'm' is the length of the nonpolar tail and 'n' is the length of the non-fluorinated carbon linkage ^{137,138} (Figure 2.1). FTOHs find extensive applications in numerous consumer and industrial goods, serving as essential components in non-stick cookware ¹³⁹, cleaning agents ¹⁷, food packaging ¹³⁹, aqueous film-forming foam (AFFF) ^{16,140}, as well as in the production of fluoropolymers where FTOHs act as surfactants, lubricants, and intermediate products in the manufacturing processes ^{141–144}. As a result, FTOHs have become widespread contaminants in the environment. Over the past few decades, FTOHs have been found ubiquitous in water ^{44,144–146}, air ^{147–151}, soil ^{44,138,152}, food ¹⁵³, and biological matrices ^{154,155}. Studies have also shown that FTOHs can break down into other persistent, bioaccumulative, and toxic perfluorinated compounds especially perfluorocarboxylic acids (PFCA) in water by various biotransformation mechanisms 18,143,152,156,157. Therefore, FTOHs could be considered an indirect source of PFCAs in the

environment. Moreover, the high volatility of fluorotelomer-based compounds can undergo longrange environmental transport contributing to PFAS contamination in remote regions such as the Arctic, where they are degraded and contribute to potential perfluoroalkyl carboxylate contamination ^{17,45}.



Figure 2.1: An illustration of FTOH molecular structure.

Reports have shown that human exposure to high levels of PFAS (*e.g.*, mg/L levels in human blood has been linked to various health conditions such as reproductive disorders, developmental effects in children, liver and kidney disease, immunotoxicity, hepatotoxicity, and thyroid hormone disruption immune system depression ^{76,140,158,159}. Being a major precursor of common PFCAs such as PFOA, FTOHs cause similar adverse health impacts on human health and the environment ¹⁶⁰. Human exposure to FTOHs mainly occurs through ingestion pathways such as diet and drinking water ^{44,145,153}. Because they are widely used, FTOHs have been found in various types of water sources throughout the world, including tap water ^{44,145}, municipal wastewater influents and effluents ^{17,144,146,161}, industrial wastewater influents and effluents ^{145,161,162}, river water ^{44,163,164}, and rainwater ^{163,165}. Therefore, the determination of FTOHs in all water matrices is important to monitor their presence at trace levels, and thus a simple, sensitive, and robust analytical method is necessary to identify and quantify FTOHs in water matrices.

Analytical methods for FTOHs in water are mainly gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) ¹⁶⁴. There are several GC-MS based well-established methods for the

analysis of FTOHs in water matrices ^{166,167}. As an alternative to GC-MS methods, the analysis of FTOHs by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) was reported ^{140,144,153,161}. LC techniques have some limitations, mostly regarding background contamination issues⁸⁰. Specific attention needs to be paid to sample vial caps made of Teflon or fluoropolymers, fluoropolymer tubing, solvent inlet filters, and other laboratory products containing fluoropolymer compounds, as they are sources of FTOHs contamination in laboratories ⁸⁰. Moreover, LC-MS techniques require highly sophisticated and expensive instruments, and their analysis requires some sample pre-treatments, which include time-consuming extraction, clean-up, and preconcentration steps. In aqueous matrices, solid-phase extraction (SPE) is the prevailing enrichment or clean-up method prior to LC-MS/MS analysis ^{144,161,168}, and in some cases, it is tedious and time-consuming. SPE also encounters other disadvantages, such as sample extracts being insufficiently clean, having poor recovery and breakthrough problems which are critical at the ultra-trace level ¹⁶⁹. Another technique is liquid-liquid extraction (LLE), but its automatization is quite limited. In the present era of "green chemistry," this sample preparation method is difficult to justify its large solvent consumption for multi-residue monitoring of PFAS in water samples ¹²⁸. Modern approaches to sample preparation are more devoted to solventless extraction methods, where miniaturization has become a vital role in analytical chemistry. More recently, microextraction techniques were introduced as an alternative to classical extraction techniques, *i.e.*, LLE or SPE. Belardi and Pawilszyn research group ^{170,171} first proposed solid-phase microextraction (SPME). It requires neither solvents nor prior sample preparation, is simple to automate, and has been successfully applied for environmental analysis in particular to water samples ¹³⁰. Two separate research group by Bach ⁴⁴ and Ayala-Cabrera, successfully applied SPME to determine different fluorotelomer compounds in water¹⁴⁵. Similar to SPME, stir bar

sorptive extraction (SBSE) was also developed to screen priority organic micro-pollutants in water samples ^{131,132,172}. SBSE is an environmentally friendly and low-cost sample preparation technique that can easily handle large sample volumes with minimum labor. SBSE has been used in numerous fields, including environment and food analysis, forensic analysis, pharmaceuticals, and cancer research ^{173,174}. Because of the higher volume of absorbent material in SBSE, this sampling method enables to increase in the sensitivity by a factor of 100 as compared to SPME, decreasing the detection limits at the sub-ng/L level ^{132,172}. SBSE is growing in popularity due to its ease of use, high sensitivity, and reproducibility ^{172,173,175}. Moreover, SBSE matches the main principle of green chemistry. Limited research has utilized the SBSE method to extract perfluoroalkyl acids from environmental water samples ^{15,133–135}. These studies employed the LC-MS/MS method to analyze the extracted compounds. However, the specific application of the SBSE method for extracting FTOHs from water samples and analyzing them using GC-MS has not been explored.

The purpose of this research was take advantage of the green aspect that SBSE offers to develop and validate a rapid, simple, and improved method for the determination of FTOHs in water using SBSE coupled with thermal desorption-gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (TD-GC-MS). Three commonly detected FTOHs (6:2 FTOH, 8:2 FTOH, and 10:2 FTOH) in the environment were used as the model compounds to develop the method, which can be applied to other known/unknown FTOHs in the water. The study focused on evaluating the selectivity, sensitivity, precision, and accuracy of the method. The developed method was applied to the analysis of water samples collected from different sources, such as tap water, brackish water, and four municipal wastewater treatment plants. Additionally, the study compared the performance of the developed method with other commonly used methods for the detection of FTOHs in water.

Based on our literature review, this study is the first of its kind in applying the SBSE technique for FTOHs analysis in water.

2.3 EXPERIMENTAL

2.3.1 Standards and Reagents

The analytical standard of studied fluorotelomer alcohols, as listed in **Table 2.1**, were supplied by Fisher Scientific, USA. Sodium chloride (98%) was obtained from Fisher Scientific, USA. HPLC-grade acetonitrile and methanol were bought from J.T.Baker®, USA. Mirex from Fisher Scientific, USA, was used as the internal standard. Mirex stock solutions at 1000 μ g/mL and 10 μ g/mL were prepared in acetonitrile. Ultra-pure deionized (DI) water from the Milli-Q system (Millipore, Bedford, MA) was used in dilutions and sample preparations. The analytical standard substances were dissolved in HPLC-grade acetonitrile to prepare standard stock solutions of 1000 μ g/mL FTOHs. These stock solutions were stored in amber glass vials at 4°C.

Table 2.1: List of the studied fluorotelomer alcohol.

Sl. No.	Compound Name	Acronym	Molecular Formula	Molecular Weight	CAS No.
1	1H,1H,2H,2H-Perfluorooctan-1-ol	6:2 FTOH	$C_8H_5F_{13}O$	364.10	647-42-7
2	1H,1H,2H,2H-Perfluorodecan-1-ol	8:2 FTOH	$C_{10}H_5F_{17}O$	464.12	678-39-7
3	1H,1H,2H,2H-Perfluorododecan-1-ol	10:2 FTOH	$C_{12}H_5F_{21}O$	564.13	865-86-1

2.3.2 Sample Collection

Wastewater samples were provided in September 2022 by El Paso Water Laboratories, El Paso, Texas, USA. Wastewater samples (influent and effluent) from four municipal wastewater treatment plants (labeled as WWTP-1, WWTP-2, WWTP-3, and WWTP-4) were collected in a 500 mL polypropylene bottle without leaving headspace before being stored in a refrigerator at 4

°C. To prepare for further analysis, each wastewater sample was centrifuged at 4000 revolutions per minute (rpm), and the supernatant was collected and stored at 4 °C. All the wastewater samples were analyzed for FTOHs within 14 days. We collected tap water directly from our laboratory's water supply. The brackish water samples were provided by the Brackish Groundwater National Desalination Research Facility located in Alamogordo, New Mexico.

2.3.3 Sample Preparation and Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE)

For method development, 50 ng/L, 100 ng/L, and 500 ng/L FTOHs mixture solutions were used. Briefly, to prepare a 500 ng/L FTOHs mixture solution, 100 μ L of 100 μ g/L FTOHs mixture, 19.88 mL of D.I. water, and 20 μ L of 10 μ g/mL Mirex (as the internal standard) were added into a 20 mL amber vial. Then, a commercially available stir bar (TwisterTM, 10 mm × 1 mm, Gerstel, USA) coated with polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS), was placed into the vial, and the solution was stirred at 1000 rpm for a pre-determined period of time. The stir bar was removed after stirring. It was then rinsed with deionized water. Finally, it was dried using lint-free tissue paper and placed in a thermal desorption tube for TD-GC-MS analysis. **Figure 2.2** illustrates the overall SBSE-TD-GC-MS technique.



Figure 2.2: Schematic representation of experimental approach for SBSE-TD-GC-MS method.

2.3.4 Thermal Desorption-Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (TD-GC-MS) Analysis

All targeted FTOHs were analyzed in a thermal desorption unit (TDU, Gerstel, MD, USA), coupled with an 8890-Gas Chromatography (GC) and a 5977B Mass Selective (MS) Detector (Agilent Technologies, CA, USA). The thermal desorption process was programmed as follows. The initial temperature was set at 50°C holding for 0.5 min; the temperature was increased to 280°C at 60°C/min and held for 7.0 min. Ultra-high purity helium was used as the carrier gas with a constant flow of 1.2 mL/min. The transfer line temperature was maintained at 290°C. During desorption, all the desorbed compounds were concentrated in a cold injection system, CIS4/TDU baffled liner (Gerstel, USA), at -40°C prior to GC injection. Once the desorption process was completed, the CIS4 was heated to 300°C at 12°C/sec and held for 5 min in splitless mode. The FTOHs were separated and analyzed by GC-MS using solvent vent mode through an HP-5MS UI column (30 m × 0.25 mm i.d., 0.25 μ m film thickness) (Agilent, CA, USA).

The GC oven temperature was programmed as follows: Initial temperature 40°C, held for 2 minutes; ramped at 10°C/min to 170°C and then held for 2 min; finally, ramped at 25°C/min to 300°C and held for 4.8 min (total run time of 27 min). The transfer line temperature was maintained at 280°C. The ionization energy of the electron ionization (EI) source was 70 eV, and the solvent delay was set at 3 min. For qualitative and quantitative analysis, the mass spectrometer was operated in the SIM (selected ion monitoring) mode at m/z values 69, 95, 131, 169, 181, and 272. The identification of compounds was conducted by ChemStation Mass Spectral Search Program, and the National Institute of Standards and Technology Library (NIST17) was used for the identification of FTOHs profiles. **Figure 2.3** shows the chromatogram of 10 ng of FTOHs

analytical standard generated using the optimized oven program in the selected ion monitoring (SIM) mode.



Figure 2.3: A chromatogram of 10 ng of three FTOHs analytical standards in SIM mode.

2.3.5 Method Validation and Quality Control

To minimize the contamination of samples, we avoided the use of products that may contain fluorotelomer-based substances during sampling, sample preparation, and instrumental analysis. One distilled water blank was incorporated into the analytical procedures for every batch of samples. Each sample was measured thrice. If the relative standard deviation (RSD) of the replicates is greater than 25%, a 4th sample was analyzed. Limit of detection (LOD) was calculated based on the standard deviation of the minimum detectable response (Sy) and the slope of the calibration curve (S) according to the formula: LOD = (3Sy)/S, and limit of quantification (LOQ) was calculated according to the formula: LOQ = (10Sy)/S. The extraction efficiency of SBSE-TD-GC-MS was evaluated by spiking FTOHs standards into the water samples at two spiking levels:

100 ng/L and 500 ng/L. The spiked recovery experiments (n=3) were performed using the optimized SBSE method in four different water matrices; tap water, brackish water, wastewater influent, and wastewater effluent. The matrix effect was calculated using the signal intensity of FTOHs in the sample matrix versus the signal of the same concentration in DI water. Recoveries of FTOHs in wastewater samples were calculated to assess the accuracy of the method in the real water samples, and the relative standard deviation (RSD) was used to evaluate precision.

2.3.6 Statistical Analysis

During the optimization of SBSE parameters, the instrument responses of FTOHs (presented as abundance as shown in **Figure 2.4**) were recorded and presented as means of the replicate measurements in the bar plots. The Tukey Honest Significance Difference test (Tukey HSD) was used for multiple pair-wise-comparison between the means of FTOHs abundances under the conditions used for analysis. The effect of each tested parameter on each FTOHs recovery was considered significant based on a probability of p<0.05 except when otherwise stated. The statistical analysis was performed using RStudio (version 1.4.1564).

2.3.7 Analysis of FTOHs in Real Water Samples

In this study, we investigated real water samples by applying our developed and optimized SBSE-TD-GC-MS method for the determination of FTOHs. In brief, 20 mL of water sample, 1 mL of methanol and 400 mg of NaCl, 20 μ L of 10 μ g/mL Mirex, and one stir bar were added to a 20 mL amber vial. Then the solution was stirred at 1000 rpm for 90 minutes. The stir bar was removed after stirring. It was then rinsed with deionized water. Finally, it was dried using lint-free tissue paper and placed in a thermal desorption tube for TD-GC-MS analysis. A calibration curve (with concentrations ranging from 5 to 500 ng/L) was constructed for the quantification of targeted FTOHs.

2.4 **RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS**

2.4.1 Optimization of Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE) Parameters

The primary aim of this study was to develop, optimize, and validate a reliable extraction method for the determination of FTOHs in water samples. SBSE was the extraction technique selected in the present work. Several operational parameters in SBSE, such as extraction time, stirring speed, solvent composition, salt addition, and water pH value, were assessed and optimized prior to GC-MS analysis.

2.4.1.1 Optimization of Extraction Time

In the SBSE process, sufficient extraction time is needed to reach equilibrium and can result in a significant improvement in SBSE. The effect of extraction time for the extraction of FTOHs was investigated in the range of 30–240 min. As shown in **Figure 2.4 A**, the signal intensity of target FTOHs significantly increased with the increase of extraction time from 30 to 90 min. For 6:2 FTOH, 8:2 FTOH and 10:2 FTOH, extraction equilibrium was achieved in 90 min, and no significant increase in extraction recoveries was observed from 90 min to 240 min. 8:2 FTOH kept almost constant regardless of the increase of extraction time. In contrast, for 6:2 FTOH, after achieving equilibrium in 90 min, the response decreased with increasing extraction time to 240 min. Based on the results, it is concluded that 90 min was satisfactory for the three FTOHs compounds, hence was selected as the optimum extraction time and used for subsequent experiments.

2.4.1.2 Optimization of Stirring Speed

The stirring speed influences the SBSE efficiency since agitation controls the mass transfer of the analytes from the aqueous media toward the PDMS phase of the stir bar during the equilibrium process ¹²⁸. However, high stirring speed can affect the integrity of the stir bar coating

and promote unstable movements, which reduces extraction efficiency. To avoid excessive or too little agitation, the studied speeds were tested at 750, 1000, 1250, and 1500 rpm with 90 minutes of stirring time. As shown in **Figure 2.4 B**, all three FTOHs were best extracted at a stirring speed of 1000 rpm. Thus, 1000 rpm was chosen as the optimum stirring speed and used for consequent experiments.







Ε





A: instrument response (i.e., extraction recovery) of FTOHs with various extraction time. B: the effect of stirring speed on FTOHs extraction recovery. C: the response of FTOHs under various methanol compositions. D: the effect of salt addition on FTOHs extraction. E: the influence of pH on FTOHs extraction. Error bars represent standard deviations of duplicate measurements.

Asterisks indicate differences of statistical significance within the groups determined by the Tukey test: *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

2.4.1.3 Optimization of Solvent Composition

A considerable loss of efficiency can occur by the adsorption of the analytes onto the glass vial, known as the 'wall-effect'. This effect can play a negative role in leading to analyte loss and decreasing the recovery by SBSE ¹⁷⁶. By adding methanol to the solution, it can increase the solubility of non-polar compounds (log $K_{ow}>3$) in the solution and improve their extractability by SBSE ¹⁷⁷. To minimize the adsorption of these compounds onto the glass walls and increase the extraction efficiency, methanol was the solvent of choice for these experiments. The addition of methanol to the sample matrix was studied at 0%, 5%, 10%, and 15% of the total solvent composition. As shown in **Figure 2.4 C**, the instrumental response of each three analysts depicts that maximum recovery yields were obtained with 5% methanol which composition was therefore selected as the optimum solvent composition.

2.4.1.4 Optimization of Salt Addition

The characteristics of the aqueous matrix play a very important role in SBSE efficiency. Typically, ionic strength in the sample matrix was adjusted by the addition of different amounts of salt. When salt is added, there are two opposite effects, *i.e.* salting-out (favoring the extraction) and salting-in (resisting the extraction) effects ¹⁷⁸. Extraction efficiency for most of the compounds, especially those with log K_{ow} values lower than 3.5, increases with increasing ionic strength. To increase the ionic strength of the sample matrix, sodium chloride (NaCl) was used for the optimization of this parameter. The effect of the salt addition on the extraction efficiency was studied at six NaCl levels between 0% and 5% (w/v). As shown in **Figure 2.4 D**, significant impacts of NaCl contents on FTOHs extractions were observed. The extraction efficiency of all three FTOHs increased with increasing NaCl content from 0 to 2% (w/v) but started to decrease

when the salt fraction increased to 5% (w/v). Therefore, 2% NaCl was selected as an optimized parameter for the extraction of all three FTOHs.

2.4.1.5 Optimization of pH

In many pre-treatment procedures, pH was adjusted to improve the extraction efficiency. In this work, the influence of sample pH on the extraction performance was investigated at three pH conditions (pH 4, pH 7, and pH 10). As shown in **Figure 2.4 E**, the signal intensity of target FTOHs decreased in both the acidic and basic sample matrix. The best extraction recoveries were obtained at pH 7, with no pH adjustment required. Considering that the average pH values of real water samples range from 6.5 to 7.5, the result indicated that there was no need for adjusting the sample pH during SBSE. This is also considered a cost benefit when applying this method to water monitoring.

2.4.2 Method Repeatability and Accuracy

Method repeatability was evaluated at three spiking levels (50 ng/L, 100 ng/L, and 500 ng/L) with seven replicates at each level. Repeatability was calculated based on relative standard deviation (RSD). A lower RSD indicates a higher degree of repeatability and lower variability in the measurements or experimental results. **Table 2.2** shows the RSD was less than 10% for all compounds at each three-concentration level indicating good repeatability and reliability of the method for the determination of FTOHs in water.

		Repeatability (RSD; n = 7)					
Matrix	Analyte	Spiked conce	Spiked concentration				
		50 ng/L	100 ng/L	500 ng/L			
DI water	6:2 FTOH	5.9%	8.8%	5.2%			
	8:2 FTOH	4.7%	8.1%	6.1%			
	10:2 FTOH	6.4%	3.9%	6.8%			
Tap water	6:2 FTOH	9.5%	7.9%	1.5%			
	8:2 FTOH	6.8%	7.7%	5.9%			
	10:2 FTOH	8.1%	6.6%	7.6%			

Table 2.2: Method repeatability test in DI water and Tap water at three spiking levels 50 ng/L, 100 ng/L, and 500 ng/L; (n=7).

2.4.3 Method Recovery Experiment

The recoveries of FTOHs by the optimized SBSE method were tested. For this purpose, 2 μ L of 5 mg/L of a standard mixture containing 6:2 FTOH, 8:2 FTOH, and 10:2 FTOH (*i.e.*, 10 ng of each FTOH) were placed in a thermal desorption tube, and the FTOHs were analyzed by GC-MS. To determine the SBSE recoveries, the same amount of the standard mixture containing 6:2 FTOH, 8:2 FTOH, and 10:2 FTOH were spiked in 20 mL of DI water, and extraction was performed using the optimized SBSE method. All recovery experiments were performed in triplicate. The ranges of absolute recoveries of standards were as follows; 6:2 FTOH (91 – 111%), 8:2 FTOH (60 – 81%), and 10:2 FTOH (55 – 75%). The results indicate that SBSE could still be effective in extraction FTOHs from water within 90 min.

The second recovery experiment was conducted to evaluate the SBSE performance in extracting FTOHs in different water matrices as compared to DI water. The recovery experiments were performed at two spiking levels: 100 ng/L and 500 ng/L of FTOHs using the optimized SBSE method in four different water matrices; tap water, brackish water, wastewater influent, and wastewater effluent. As shown in **Table 2.3**, SBSE provided good recoveries of FTOHs in tap

water, brackish water, and wastewater effluent with 81%-115%, 96 - 122%, and 64 - 120%, respectively. Recoveries of FTOHs in wastewater influent (12 - 87%) were affected due to the matrix effect of wastewater influent. There were suspended solid materials observed in the influent samples that might have affected the extraction recovery by the SBSE method. Therefore a removal of the suspended solid in wastewater influent may need to be in place prior to the SBSE extraction of FTOHs.

Table 2.3: Results of spiked recoveries of target FTOHs in various types of water samples at two spiking levels (100ng/L and 500 ng/L) by SBSE method. Results shown as mean recovery (±Standard Deviation) in percent; (n=3).

	6:2 FTOH		8:2 FTOH		10:2 FTOH	
Water type	100 ng/L	500 ng/L	100 ng/L	500 ng/L	100 ng/L	500 ng/L
Tap Water	101 (±4)	81 (±3)	115 (±4)	109 (±4)	88 (±1)	93 (±6)
Brackish Water	104 (±5)	96 (±4)	122 (±3)	107 (±4)	113 (±3)	105 (±3)
Wastewater Influent	36 (±3)	50 (±5)	87 (±9)	56 (±3)	21 (±4)	12 (±1)
Wastewater Effluent	64 (±7)	85 (±3)	120 (±6)	94 (±4)	73 (±3)	80 (±6)

2.4.4 Analytical Performance of the Method

Table 2.4 represents the linearity, coefficient of determination, limit of detection (LOD), and limit of quantification (LOQ) for the studied FTOHs. Method linearity was studied by extracting the spiked FTOHs in the ranges of 25–500 ng/L. Satisfactory linearity of each target FTOHs in the water matrix was obtained with a coefficient of determination (R²) greater than 0.996. The linear range experiments provide the necessary information to estimate the limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantification (LOQ). LOD of 6:2 FTOH, 8:2 FTOH, and 10:2 FTOH were found to be 2.16 ng/L, 10.8 ng/L, and 16.7 ng/L respectively. The LOQ for 6:2 FTOH, 8:2 FTOH, 8:2 FTOH and 10:2 FTOH are 23.3 ng/L, 28.4 ng/L and 40.1 ng/L respectively.

Analyte	Linear ranges (ng/L)	Coefficient of determination (R ²)	Recovery (%)	LOD (ng/L)	LOQ (ng/L)
6:2 FTOH	25 - 500	0.996	91 - 111	2.16	23.3
8:2 FTOH	50 - 500	0.994	60 - 81	10.8	28.4
10:2 FTOH	50 - 500	0.996	55 - 75	16.7	40.1

Table 2.4: Analytical merits of proposed SBSE-TD-GC-MS method for FTOHs determination.

In comparison to other analytical techniques (**Table 2.5**), the results showed that the developed method is feasible for determining trace FTOHs in water matrices. As shown in **Table 2.5**, our developed method requires only 20 mL of water sample which makes the method simple to operate. Moreover, our SBSE method requires less organic solvents (only 1 mL of methanol to enhance the extraction efficiency), which makes the method more eco-friendly and greener than most of the other methods listed in **Table 2.5**.

SBSE may encounter challenges in the presence of complex sample matrices, such as high levels of dissolved solids, suspended particulates, or high concentrations of organic matter. These matrix interferences can affect the extraction efficiency and result in inaccurate quantification of the target analytes. But a matrix-matched calibration approach can help compensate for the matrix effects present in water samples. This can lead to improved accuracy and recovery without altering the method itself. Overall, The study incorporates "green chemistry" principles by minimizing the use of organic solvents, reducing environmental impact, and emphasizing sustainability in the extraction process. Moreover, the specific application of the SBSE method for extracting FTOHs from water samples and analyzing them using GC-MS has not been explored.

Sample matrix	Extraction Method	Analytical Technique	Sample volume	Organic solvent usage	LOD (ng/L)	Recovery (%)	Reference
Rainwater, River water, Wastewater	LLE	GC-MS	500 mL	200 mL MTBE, 10 mL ethyl acetate	0.2~0.5	58~78	163
Rainwater	LLE	GC-MS	500 mL	75 mL MTBE	6.9~8.7	38~59	165
River water, Wastewater	SPE	GC-MS/MS	1000 mL	20 mL methanol, 4 mL ethyl acetate	1.0~2.0	80~97	164
Tap water, River water	SPME	GC-MS	10 mL	N/A	50.0~100.0	94~124	44
Wastewater	SPE	UPLC- MS/MS	250 mL	14 mL ACN	0.03~0.12	83~116	144
Wastewater	LLE	GC-MS	400 mL	400 mL ethyl acetate	0.59~0.85	82~87	17
Wastewater	SPE	UPLC- MS/MS	250 mL	10 mL ACN	0.05~0.12	84~112	161
Tapwater,Brackishwater,Wastewater	SBSE	GC-MS	20 mL	1 mL methanol	2.16~16.7	55~111	This work

Table 2.5: Comparison of analytical parameters of the proposed method with the reported method for the analysis of FTOHs in water.

2.4.5 Quantification of FTOHs in Water Samples

The concentrations of FTOHs in real wastewater samples were tested using optimized SBSE-TD-GC-MS, and the results are shown in **Table 2.6**. Out of the three FTOHs tested, only 6:2 and 8:2 FTOH were detected. In the influent of WWTP-1, 34.8 ng/L of 8:2 FTOH were detected; the influent of WWTP-4 contains 78.0 ng/L of 6:2 FTOH. These observations are consistent with a previous study by Ma et al. ¹⁶¹ that 6:2 FTOH and 8:2 FTOH are the most dominating FTOHs in water matrices, as both of them are the precursor for common PFCAs.

Water complex	Sampling	Detected (ng/L)/ Not detected (N.D.)				
water samples	point	6:2 FTOH	8:2 FTOH	10:2 FTOH		
Tap Water		N.D.	N.D.	N.D.		
Brackish Water		N.D.	N.D.	N.D.		
	Influent	N.D.	34.8	N.D.		
VV VV 11-1	Effluent	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.		
W/W/TD 2	Influent	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.		
VV VV 11-2	Effluent	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.		
W/W/TD 2	Influent	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.		
vv vv 11-3	Effluent	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.		
милтр Л	Influent	78.0	N.D.	N.D.		
vv vv 11 ⁻⁴	Effluent	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.		

Table 2.6: Results of determination of target FTOHs in real water samples; (n=2).

2.5 CONCLUSIONS

We developed and validated a simple, rapid, and robust analytical method (SBSE-TD-GC-MS) for the efficient extraction and determination of FTOHs in water matrices. Using three FTOHs (6:2, 8:2, and 10:2) as the model compounds, our SBSE-TD-GC-MS method has low method limits of detection ranging from 2.16 ng/L to 16.7 ng/L, and good linearity (25 to 500 ng/L), repeatability (%RSD below 10%) and recoveries (55% to 111%). These method characteristics indicate that the method is a reliable alternative for FTOHs monitoring in the aquatic matrices. Applying the

optimized method, two FTOHs, 6:2 FTOH and 8:2 FTOH, were detected in two wastewater treatment plants at the parts per trillion (ppt) level. Overall, the SBSE is a sensitive and green analytical technique that requires a low volume of sample (*i.e.*, 20 mL) and minimum amount of organic solvent (1 mL methanol). Moreover, it offers simplicity and ease of use. Its compatibility with a highly sensitive and specific analytical technique, GC-MS, allows the detection of FTOHs at very low concentrations in water samples. This will provide a more comprehensive understanding of the presence and distribution of FTOHs in water samples.

2.6 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge Teresa T. Alcala and El Paso Water Laboratory personnel for their assistance during wastewater sample collection. We are grateful to Dr. Shane Walker for his assistance in collecting the brackish water samples. Research reported in this publication was partially supported under Award Number SC1CA245675 and 1T32GM144919, and the National Science Foundation through the NSF Nanosystems Engineering Research Center for Nanotechnology-Enabled Water Treatment (EEC-1449500). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors. It does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health or the National Science Foundation.

Chapter 3: Green Analytical Method for Determination of Perfluorocarboxylic Acids (PFCAs) in Water by Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction Coupled with GC-MS

3.1 ABSTRACT

Perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acids (PFCAs) represent a significant category within the broader group of Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS). They are man-made persistent organic chemicals manufactured for their resistance to heat, water, and stains. PFCAs can be found ubiquitously in the environment because they are widely used in everyday consumer products. As a result, PFCAs are commonly detected in surface water and wastewater. Therefore, drinking water supplies are contaminated directly from these sources which is a substantial source of human exposure. Thus, sensitive and effective analytical methods are needed for monitoring water quality. In this study, we developed an enhanced Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE) method coupled with Thermal Desorption-Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (TD-GC-MS) for the analysis of PFCAs in water. This study summarizes a detailed evaluation of the method's linearity, recovery, sensitivity, repeatability, and spiked recovery across different water matrices. The method demonstrates linearity with coefficients of determination (R²) spanning 0.9892 to 0.9988. Sensitivity metrics revealed low limits of detection (LOD) and quantification (LOQ) in the low ng/L (ppt) range for all analytes, achieving LODs between 21.2 ng/L to 74.0 ng/L. The recoveries for the method varied from 47-97%, suggesting an efficient extraction process. In comparison with traditional PFCAs analysis methods, the developed SBSE technique requires a notably lesser sample volume of 1 mL and minimal solvent usage, enhancing eco-friendliness and reducing potential contamination and handling errors. Repeatability assessments at two concentration levels produced %RSD values at 14% or less for any target PFCA compounds, indicating good precision. Additionally, the method's robustness across various water matrices reflected by the spiked

recovery experiment underscored the method's efficacy in real-world applications. These attributes showcase the developed method's capability to serve as a precise, eco-friendly, and reliable tool for the analysis of PFCAs across diverse water matrices.

Keywords: Perfluorocarboxylic acids (PFCAs), PFAS, Stir bar sorptive extraction (SBSE), GC-MS, Wastewater.

3.2 INTRODUCTION

PFAS stands for Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl substances, encompass a vast group of over 4,700 synthetic compounds characterized by their multiple fluorine atoms¹. They are well-known for their water and oil-repellant properties, and thermal stability; while their environmental mobility, resistance to biochemical degradation, bioaccumulative effects, and toxicity are causing increasing concerns. PFAS can be found in common consumer products like non-stick cookware, clothing, leather, upholstery, and carpets etc. ^{4,179}. They can also be used in fire-fighting foams and in industrial applications such as wetting agents, additives, coatings, emulsifiers, paints, waxes, and polishes ^{2–5}. Their useful properties are due to their structure, which includes a fluorinated carbon chain that is both hydrophobic and oleophobic and hydrophilic charged functional groups (such as carboxylic or sulfonic acid) attached to the structure ^{4,6,7}. Among the PFAS compounds, perfluorocarboxylic acids (PFCAs) stand as a significant subgroup, which have gained attention due to their ubiquitous occurrence and persistence in the environment, especially in the water matrices ¹²². A PFCA compound is expressed as $C_nF_{(2n+1)}$ -COOH, where $C_nF_{(2n+1)}$ represents the per-fluoroalkyl portion of the molecular structure ^{4,8,180}. PFCAs predominantly exist in water environments owing to their low pKa values, which make them more soluble ¹⁸¹. Human exposure to PFCAs primarily occurs through consumption, including food and water intake, particularly near heavily contaminated locations ¹⁰. Recent studies suggest that exposure to elevated levels of PFCAs is associated with a range of adverse health outcomes, including reproductive and developmental problems, liver and kidney damage, immunological effects, and disturbances in thyroid function and overall immune system health ^{29–35}.

In the past few years, research has increasingly revealed that PFAS are found in a wide range of aquatic environments worldwide. Specifically, the presence of PFCAs has been confirmed in a variety of sources. These substances have been detected in surface waters ^{182,183}, underground aquifers ¹⁸⁴, oceans ¹⁸⁵, and even in the water we consume from faucets ¹⁸⁶ and in bottled form ^{187,188}. Furthermore, they have been identified in the water entering and exiting wastewater treatment plants, showcasing their widespread distribution in both natural and treated water systems. Wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) are known to accept industrial, household, and commercial waste streams. Due to their uses in our daily lives, PFCAs are being found in most wastewater systems globally. The concentrations of PFCAs in wastewater have been reported ranging from not detected level to 143 μ g/L (ppb) ¹⁸⁹. As wastewater treatment processes are not designed to remove PFCAs, these compounds were found in wastewater effluents ranging from <0.13–6.67 ng/L. The US EPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency) has recognized the severity of this issue and has established interim updated minimum reporting levels as low as 4 parts per trillion (ppt) for PFOA ¹⁹⁰ indicating the critical need for vigilant monitoring of these substances in our water.

Numerous methods for analyzing PFCAs in aqueous environments have been established. A variety of chromatographic techniques such as Liquid chromatography (LC), Gas chromatography (GC), High-performance Liquid chromatography (HPLC), and Ultra-high performance liquid chromatography (UHPLC) are frequently used for the determination of PFCAs in water matrices ^{68–70,122,191,192}. Less commonly used methods include nuclear magnetic resonance, Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy, and ion chromatography ^{69,71,72}. In the last decade, research has been conducted on developing new on-site detection techniques that are convenient and reliable. For example, several sensor-based methods such as electrochemical sensors, ionselective electrodes (ISE), fluorescence sensors, and smartphone app-based monitoring systems have been developed ^{193,194}. However, those techniques usually detect high concentrations of PFCAs (> 10 ppb). Moreover, methods such as the total oxidizable precursor assay have determined that a significant fraction of the total PFCAs present in environmental samples consists of unidentified compounds 75,76. The gold standard for PFCA analysis has been liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS)¹⁹³. US EPA has developed and validated a series of methods for PFAS using LC-MS/MS with sample preparation using solid-phase extraction ⁷⁶. Despite these advancements, the most common methods, centered around LC, are not without their challenges. Yamashita et al., ⁸⁰ reported background contamination issues in PFAS monitoring. Specific attention should be paid to auto-sampler vial caps made of Teflon or fluoropolymers, fluoropolymer tubing, solvent inlet filters, and a variety of other laboratory products containing Teflon and perfluoroalkoxy compounds, as they are sources of PFAS in blanks. A well-known problem in electrospray ionization (ESI), as is commonly used in LC-MS, is ion suppression ⁸². Moreover, while LC methods are invaluable for PFCA detection, they require sophisticated and costly instrumentation, and the analytical process can be time-intensive. This underscores the need for ongoing innovation and improvement in analytical techniques to enhance our ability to monitor PFCAs efficiently and effectively ⁸³.

As an alternative, Gas chromatography (GC) is a convenient instrument for volatile and semi-volatile PFAS analysis (for example, fluorotelomer alcohols, FTOHs; perfluorinated sulfonamido ethanols, FASE ^{70,82,136}. In order to decrease the polarity and increase the volatility of

PFCAs, a derivatization process is often performed. There are several studies have been done on PFCAs derivatization prior GC-MS analysis ^{70,82,103–108}. Gołebiowski research group applied 2,4 difluoroaniline for derivatization in the presence of N, N'-dicyclohexylcarbodiimide (DCC) ¹⁰⁹. However, this method consists of several sample preparation steps: pH adjustment, phase separation and washing the organic phase with HCl, NaHCO₃, and NaCl solution. Dufkova et al., developed a fast derivatization procedure for PFCAs by using isobutyl chloroformate to quantify PFAS in water ¹¹⁰. Strozynska and colleagues developed two derivatization processes using triethylsilanol and N,N-Dimethylformamide dimethylacetal for the separation of PFCAs through GC-MS ¹⁰⁸. Overall, due to rapid and simple derivatization steps, isobutyl chloroformate-based derivatization appeared to be commonly used for the determination of PFAS in water by GC-MS.

In the analysis PFCAs in water, both liquid chromatography (LC) and gas chromatography (GC) require robust pre-treatment processes to detect these compounds at ultra-trace levels. Solidphase extraction (SPE) is the conventional choice for concentrating and purifying samples before LC-MS/MS analysis, owing to its widespread application ^{82,119}. However, liquid-liquid extraction (LLE), despite its potential, is less favored due to its limited potential for automation. As the scientific community shifts towards sustainable practices, traditional sample preparation techniques like SPE and LLE, which rely heavily on harmful solvents, are becoming less attractive, especially for analyzing multiple residues of PFCAs in aqueous samples ¹²⁸. The application of SPE in PFCA analysis, while established, can sometimes be labor-intensive and less effective, with potential pitfalls such as incomplete removal of matrix components, inconsistent recovery rates, and issues with processing large volumes of water samples when targeting ultra-trace level contaminants. This is particularly challenging given the stability and persistence of PFCAs, which demand highly efficient extraction and clean-up methods to achieve the required sensitivity and specificity ⁸².

In recent years, microextraction techniques have emerged as a modern alternative to traditional extraction methods such as liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) and solid-phase extraction (SPE). Alzaga et. al. ⁸⁵ and Monteleone at. el. ⁹¹ successfully applied solid-phase microextraction (SPME) to determine multiple PFCAs in water matrices. Typically, SPME require less solvent and are designed to be more sensitive, more selective, and are generally easier and safer to operate. Dispersive liquid-liquid microextraction (DLLME) has been employed by researchers such as Liu et al., ⁹³ and Hu et al., ⁹⁸ as an extraction technique specifically for extracting PFCAs from aqueous environments. Similar to SPME, Baltussen research group first introduced stir bar sorptive extraction (SBSE) as a potent technique for screening organic micro-pollutants in water samples ¹⁹⁵. SBSE is well known for its environmentally friendly approach and low operational costs, excels in handling large volumes of samples with minimal labor, and seamlessly fits into the standard of green chemistry ¹³⁶. It stands out in its higher absorbent volume compared to SPME, amplifying sensitivity by an order of magnitude and facilitating the detection of compounds at subng/L concentrations ^{136,195,196}. SBSE's robust adsorption capacity and high extraction efficiency address the limited exploration of its application in extracting PFCAs for subsequent thermal desorption - gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (TD-GC-MS) analysis. Previous studies have indeed utilized SBSE for perfluoroalkyl acid extraction, coupled with liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) for analysis ^{197–200}. However, our research fills a gap in the existing literature by employing this method with TD-GC-MS, a novelty in the field. Additionally, employing a thermal desorption unit coupled with GC-MS can eliminate the organic solvent usage for desorption in LC-MS/MS methods, as reported in the previous studies. By

optimizing the SBSE conditions, we can enhance the extraction effectiveness, decrease the time required for extraction, and address the issue of low recovery reported in earlier research.

The study aimed to develop and validate a method that is both straightforward and highly sensitive, involves handling smaller sample volumes, and requires minimal manual effort by utilizing green chemistry-based SBSE techniques to extract and quantify PFCAs in water samples through TD-GC-MS. The scope of the research included the development and validation of the SBSE-TD-GC-MS method for nine targeted PFCAs. We employed the developed method in investigating PFCAs in water samples sourced from various origins, including tap water; influents, and effluents from four local municipal wastewater treatment facilities. Furthermore, this research contrasted the efficacy of the newly developed method against other prevalent extraction techniques in conjunction with GC-MS for detecting PFCAs in aquatic environments. To our knowledge from the existing literature, this research pioneers the application of the SBSE technique for PFCAs extraction followed by solvent-free desorption using the thermal desorption unit prior to GC-MS analysis.

3.3 EXPERIMENTAL

3.3.1 Standards and reagents

The analytical standard of PFCAs, as listed in **Table 3.1**, was purchased by Fisher Scientific, USA; and standard stock solutions of 1000 μ g/mL of PFCA were prepared in acetonitrile. Isobutyl chloroformate (98%), pyridine (99%), and isobutyl alcohol were supplied from Fisher Scientific, USA. HPLC-grade acetonitrile, hexane, and methanol were purchased from J.T.Baker®, USA. Mirex (Fisher Scientific, USA) was used as the internal standard and 1000 μ g/mL and 10 μ g/mL Mirex stock solutions were prepared in acetonitrile. Deionized (DI) water, purchased from J.T.Baker®, USA, was used in dilutions and sample preparations.
	Compound Name	Acronym	Molecular Formula	Molecular Weight	CAS No.
1	Perfluoroheptanoic acid	PFHpA	C7HF13O2	364.06	375-85-9
2	Perfluorooctanoic acid	PFOA	$C_8HF_{15}O_2$	414.07	335-67-1
3	Perfluorononanoic acid	PFNA	$C_9HF_{17}O_2$	464.08	375-95-1
4	Perfluorodecanoic acid	PFDA	$C_{10}HF_{19}O_2$	514.08	335-76-2
5	Perfluoroundecanoic acid	PFUnA	$C_{11}HF_{21}O_2$	564.09	2058-94-8
6	Perfluorododecanoic acid	PFDoA	$C_{12}HF_{23}O_2$	614.1	307-55-1
7	Perfluorotetradecanoic acid	PFTeDA	$C_{14}HF_{27}O_2$	714.11	376-06-7
8	Perfluorohexadecanoic acid	PFHxDA	$C_{16}HF_{31}O_2$	814.13	67905-19-5
9	Perfluorooctadecanoic acid	PFODA	$C_{18}HF_{35}O_2$	914.1	16517-11-6

Table 3.1: List of the studied PFCAs.

3.3.2 Sample Collection

In this study, wastewater samples were obtained from El Paso Water in El Paso, Texas, USA in September 2023. Both wastewater influent and effluent samples were taken from four municipal wastewater treatment plants, denoted as WWTP-1, WWTP-2, WWTP-3, and WWTP-4. The samples were collected in 500 mL polypropylene bottles, ensuring no headspace remained, and were then promptly stored at 4 °C. Upon their arrival at the analytical laboratory, wastewater samples were centrifuged using the Sorvall Legend X1R (Thermo Scientific, USA) at 4000 rpm and 4 °C. The supernatant was separated and stored at the same temperature. All samples were analyzed for PFCAs within 7 days from their collection. Additionally, tap water samples were procured directly from our laboratory for comparative analysis.

3.3.3 Sample Preparation, Derivatization, and Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE)

For the determination of PFCAs, a derivatization process was employed according to a methodology developed by Dufková *et al.*¹¹⁰ with modification. To elaborate, a 2.0 mL polypropylene (PP) vial was used for the derivatization reaction. The vial was filled with a mixture

comprising 1000 μ L of 1 μ g/mL of nine targeted PFCAs, 50 μ L of isobutyl alcohol, 20 μ L of pyridine, and 50 μ L of isobutyl chloroformate (IBCF). To ensure the uniform mixing and derivatization reaction of these components, the vial was placed in an ultrasonic bath and sonicated for 30 seconds. After sonication, the vial was set aside for 5 minutes to allow the formation of the isobutyl ester derivatives of each PFCAs.

The next step involved the extraction of these PFCAs derivatives from the water sample. For this purpose, the Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE) technique was employed. Briefly, a 20 mL amber vial was prepared with a mixture of 20 μ L of the derivatized PFCAs solution (with a concentration of 1 μ g/mL), 19.96 mL of deionized (D.I.) water, and an addition of 20 μ L of Mirex at a concentration of 10 μ g/mL, which served as the internal standard. The ultimate concentration of the PFCAs in the vial was 1 ng/mL in a total volume of 20 mL. A commercially available stir bar coated with polydimethylsiloxane (TwisterTM, 10 mm × 1 mm, Gerstel, USA) was then introduced into the vial. The solution was subsequently stirred at a speed of 1000 rpm for 120 minutes. Post stirring, the stir bar was carefully retrieved, washed with D.I. water to remove any residual sample, and then dried using a lint-free tissue. The stir bar was then placed in a thermal desorption tube (TDT), and ready for the final TD-GC-MS analysis. **Figure 3.1** illustrates the entire SBSE-TD-GC-MS procedure.



Figure 3.1: Schematic representation of experimental approach with SBSE coupled to TD-GC-MS.

3.3.4 Analysis Using Thermal Desorption-Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (TD-GC-MS)

PFCAs analysis was conducted using a thermal desorption unit (TDU, Gerstel, MD, USA), integrated with an 8890-Gas Chromatograph system and a 5977B Mass Selective Detector (Agilent Technologies, CA, USA). The thermal desorption program was set up as follows. The starting temperature was set at 40°C and maintained for 0.5 minutes; thereafter the temperature was ramped at 60°C/minute to 280°C and held for 5.0 minutes. Ultra-high pure helium served as the carrier gas, flowing steadily at 1.2 mL/minute. The temperature of the transfer line was kept steady at 290°C. As desorption occurred, the compounds were concentrated in a cold injection setup, CIS4/TDU, with a baffled liner (from Gerstel, USA), at -40°C before the GC step. After completing the desorption process, the CIS4 was heated at 12°C/s to 300°C and held for 5 minutes in splitless mode. PFCAs were then separated and assessed by GC-MS. They were analyzed using solvent vent mode. The analysis was conducted through an HP-5MS capillary column (30 m × 0.25 mm i.d., 0.25 um film thickness, Agilent, CA, USA).

The temperature for GC oven was configured as follows: Initial temperature was set to 40°C and held for 2 minutes. Then it ramped at 10°C/min to 200°C, where it was held for another 2 minutes. Lastly, it ramped to 300°C at 25°C/min. Hold time was set for 3 min (total run time, 27 min). The temperature for the transfer line was set at 280°C. The electron ionization (EI) source had ionization energy set at 70 eV. The solvent delay time was set to 1 min. The mass selective detector (MSD) was set at scan mode (40-980 m/z) for PFCAs identification. For qualitative and quantitative analysis, the mass spectrometer was configured in the selected ion monitoring (SIM) mode at m/z values 69, 131, 169, 181, and 272. Compounds were identified using ChemStation

Mass Spectral Search Program. The NIST17 (National Institute of Standards and Technology) library was used for the identification of PFCA profiles.

3.3.5 Optimization of Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction Parameters

In this study, our foremost objective was to establish and validate a reproducible method for extracting PFCAs from water samples. We opted for the Solid-Phase Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE) technique as our method of choice for extraction. We evaluated various operational parameters that could influence the extraction process. Factors such as the duration of extraction, the speed of stirring, the composition of the solvent, the addition of salt, and the pH value of the water were meticulously assessed. These parameters were then optimized to ensure the most efficient extraction possible by using SBSE. Following this optimization, the samples underwent Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS) analysis for further evaluation.

3.3.6 Quality Control and Quality Assurance

For quality assurance, a D.I. water blank was processed with each batch of samples to serve as a procedural blank. Each sample underwent duplicate measurements, and a third analysis was conducted if the relative standard deviation (RSD) exceeded 25%. A nine-point calibration curve was constructed using calibration standards (25 ng/L, 50 ng/L, 100 ng/L, 200 ng/L, 400 ng/L, 800 ng/L, 1000 ng/L, and 2000 ng/L) spanning from 0 to 2000 ng/L. The detection limit (LOD) was determined using the standard deviation (Sy) of the lowest measurable response and the calibration curve's slope (S), applying the equation LOD = (3Sy)/S. Similarly, the quantification limit (LOQ) was derived using LOQ = (10Sy)/S. We assessed the method's repeatability by analyzing seven replicate samples at concentrations of 100 ng/L and 1000 ng/L. The extraction efficiency of the SBSE-TD-GC-MS method was tested by adding known amounts (10 ng and 20 ng) of PFCAs standards to various water samples (tap water, wastewater influent, and wastewater effluent), and these spiking experiments were conducted in triplicates. We also quantified the matrix effects by comparing the signal intensities in the sample matrix to those in deionized water. Finally, the accuracy of our method was verified by calculating the recoveries of PFCAs in wastewater, and precision was determined through the relative standard deviation of the recovery data.

3.3.7 Analysis of PFCAs in real water samples

In our research, we analyzed real-world water samples for PFCAs using a carefully developed and optimized SBSE-TD-GC-MS method. The process commenced with the derivatization of the water samples, following SBSE procedure. We utilized a 2.0 mL polypropylene vial containing 1 mL of the water sample for this derivatization reaction. The derivatization was facilitated by adding 50 μ L of isobutyl alcohol, 20 μ L of pyridine, and 50 μ L of isobutyl chloroformate (IBCF). To achieve a consistent and thorough reaction, the vial underwent ultrasonic agitation for 30 seconds and was subsequently left to stand for 5 minutes. The SBSE phase followed in a 20 mL amber vial, where we mixed 17.98 mL of deionized water, 1 mL of methanol, and 1 mL of the derivatized water sample. We added 20 μ L of a 10 μ g/mL Mirex solution as an internal standard. A PDMS coated stir bar was placed into the vial. The sample was stirred for 120 minutes at 1250 rpm. After extraction, the stir bar was cleaned with D.I. water, dried with lint-free tissue, and placed in a thermal desorption tube, readying it for the final TD-GC-MS analysis.

3.4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

3.4.1 Optimization of Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction

To optimize the SBSE for extraction PFCA derivatives in water, various parameters were tested.

- Five different extraction times (60 min, 90 min, 120 min, 180 min, and 240 min) were tested for the extraction time optimization;
- Four stir bar stirring speeds were investigated (750 rpm, 1000 rpm, 1250 rpm, and 1500 rpm);
- 3) Five methanol concentrations (0%, 5%, 10%, 15%, and 20%) were tested for the solvent composition optimization during SBSE;
- 4) Five salt (NaCl) weight (w/v) percentages (0%, 1%, 2%, 3%, and 4%) were tested upon obtaining the optimized conditions in (1) to (3); and finally
- 5) Three different pH conditions (pH 4, no pH adjustment, and pH 10) were tested.

3.4.1.1 Optimization of Extraction Time

The efficiency of SBSE depends largely on the duration of extraction. To determine the ideal time frame for effectively extracting PFCAs, the process was evaluated over periods ranging from 60 to 240 minutes. Extractions were performed in duplicate, under a constant stirring speed of 1000 rpm at room temperature. As illustrated in **Figure 3.2**, there was significantly higher (P < 0.05) escalation in the extraction of all targeted PFCAs as the extraction time expanded from 60 to 120 minutes. Specifically, for PFHpA, extraction equilibrium was reached in 120 min and this equilibrium persisted up to 240 minutes without gains in recovery rates from 90 to 240 minutes. Interestingly, for the remaining PFCAs, their response began to decrease beyond 120 minutes as the duration of extraction increased. This decline post-equilibrium is likely a result of the analytes back into the sample matrix as stirring is prolonged beyond the equilibrium point ¹³⁶. Consequently, 120 minutes was determined to be the most effective extraction period and was therefore employed in all further experiments.



Figure 3.2: Optimization of extraction time. Instrument response (i.e., extraction recovery) of PFCAs with various extraction time. Error bars in this bar chart represent the standard deviations of duplicate measurements.

3.4.1.2 Optimization of Stirring Speed

The efficacy of SBSE is closely linked to the stirring speed, which is a critical factor in managing the transfer of analytes from the water to the polymer coating on the stir bar ¹³⁶. This transfer is essentially a diffusion process, influenced by the agitation of the medium: too little agitation leads to slow mass transfer due to a limited diffusion gradient, while too much can create turbulence that disrupts the delicate equilibrium ⁶⁴. Higher stirring speed could damage the polymeric coating of the stir bar or create air bubbles, both of which can result in less efficient extraction. To find out the optimal balance, stirring speeds were methodically evaluated at 750, 1000, 1250, and 1500 revolutions per minute (rpm) over a 120-minute extraction period. As shown in **Figure 3.3**, the extraction of all studied PFCAs peaked at 1250 rpm. This specific speed presumably offers the best balance between ensuring rapid mass transfer and maintaining the

integrity of the stir bar's coating. Subsequently, the speed of 1250 rpm was selected as the most effective for the extraction process and was consistently applied in further experiments to ensure reproducibility and accuracy.





Figure 3.3: Optimization of stirring speed. The effect of stirring speed on PFCAs extraction recovery. Error bars in this bar chart represent the standard deviations of duplicate measurements.

3.4.1.3 Optimization of Solvent Composition

The "wall effect" in the SBSE procedure refers to the tendency of analytes to adhere to the glass surfaces of the extraction vial, this may result in a significant decrease in their recovery ²⁰¹. This adhesion is particularly problematic for hydrophobic compounds, which have a strong affinity for surfaces like glass compared to the aqueous phase. To mitigate this issue, methanol can be added to the aqueous solution as a modifier; it increases the solubility of non-polar compounds, especially those with a log Kow (octanol-water partition coefficient) greater than 3, reducing their propensity to stick to the glass walls and enhancing their availability in the solution for extraction

¹³⁶. The use of methanol offers a two-fold benefit: it acts as a solubilizing agent for the analytes and as a competing solvent against adsorption to the glass vial. By increasing the water solubility of the non-polar analytes, methanol decreases their interaction with the glass, allowing for a greater proportion of the analytes to remain in the liquid phase where they can be extracted by the polymeric phase on the stir bar. The optimization of methanol concentration is crucial, as too much methanol could lead to a decrease in extraction efficiency due to changes in the solvent properties of the matrix. The addition of methanol to the sample matrix was evaluated at various percentages of the total solvent composition (0%, 5%, 10%, 15%, and 20%). The experimental data, presented in **Figure 3.4**, indicates that a methanol composition of 5% yielded the significantly higher (P < 0.05) recovery rates for all the analytes. Thus, 5% was determined to be the optimal methanol concentration for enhancing the extraction efficiency in subsequent SBSE procedures.





Error bars in this bar chart represent the standard deviations of duplicate measurements.

3.4.1.4 Optimization of Ionic Strength

In aqueous solutions, the ionic strength, adjusted by adding varying amounts of salt, has a significant impact on the extraction efficiency. Incorporating salt, such as sodium chloride (NaCl), to the aqueous matrix is a critical step in enhancing the SBSE process, as it regulates the ionic strength of the sample matrix ¹⁹⁸. The presence of salt induces a 'salting-out' effect, which promotes the transfer of analytes from the aqueous phase to the sorbent by reducing the solubility of hydrophobic compounds in water. Conversely, too much salt can also lead to a 'salting-in' effect, where the increased ionic strength of the solution can hinder the extraction process, potentially by modifying the physical properties of the aqueous matrix and the sorbent ¹³⁶. In optimizing the SBSE for PFCAs, NaCl was added in incremental concentrations, ranging from 0% to 4% (w/v). It was observed that the extraction efficiency significantly improved (P < 0.05) as the NaCl concentration was raised to 1% (w/v), suggesting an optimal salting-out condition (Figure 3.5). However, further increasing NaCl to 4% (w/v) led to a reduction in efficiency, likely due to an over-enhanced ionic strength which could negatively influence the extraction dynamics. Hence, after evaluating the effects at various levels, a 1% (w/v) NaCl addition was determined to provide the most favorable conditions for the SBSE of PFCAs. This optimized concentration was thus established as a standard parameter for subsequent extractions to ensure efficient and consistent recovery of the targeted analytes.



Figure 3.5: Optimization of ionic strength: the effect of salt (NaCl) addition on PFCAs extraction. Error bars in this bar chart represent the standard deviations of duplicate measurements.

3.4.1.5 Optimization of pH

The pH of the sample is a critical factor in the SBSE method, as it affects the analytes existing forms and consequently their interaction with the sorbent. Considering that the typical pH range for actual water samples is between 6.5 and 7.5, in this study, the influence of sample pH on extraction efficiency was evaluated at three pH levels (pH 4, no pH adjustment and pH 10). **Figure 3.6** demonstrates that significantly higher (P < 0.05) recovery rates for extractions were achieved when the pH was not adjusted. At a neutral pH, typically around pH 7, PFCA-esters are more likely to be in their neutral, non-ionic form, which has a higher affinity for PDMS coating on the stir bar due to its hydrophobic nature. This neutral form is less soluble in water and more inclined to be sorbed onto the PDMS surface, resulting in enhanced extraction efficiencies. When the sample pH is either acidic (pH 4) or basic (pH 10), the PFCA esters can become ionized. Acidic

conditions can lead to additional protonation, while basic conditions can result in deprotonation, yielding charged forms of the PFCA-esters. These charged species are more soluble in water and less likely to adhere to the hydrophobic PDMS coating, which significantly decreases the efficiency of the SBSE process (**Figure 3.6**). Therefore, for subsequent extractions, no pH modification was carried out. This approach simplifies the sample preparation process and avoids potential complications associated with pH modification.



Figure 3.6: Optimization of pH: the influence of pH on PFCAs extraction. Error bars in this bar chart represent the standard deviations of duplicate measurements.

3.4.2 Evaluating SBSE-TD-GC-MS Performance: Linearity, Recovery, and Sensitivity

Metrics

In the development of a robust SBSE method followed by TD-GC-MS analysis for PFCAs, we have established a comprehensive set of analytical parameters that underscore the efficacy and

reliability of this approach. As shown in **Table 3.2**, the retention times for the PFCAs ranged from 5.884 minutes for PFHpA to 13.943 minutes for PFODA, showcasing the method's ability to efficient chromatographic separation and analyze these compounds in a timely manner. The linearity of the method was investigated through the extraction of PFCAs that were spiked into samples at concentrations varying from 75 to 2000 ng/L indicating good linearity range. The coefficients of determination (R²) ranged from 0.9892 to 0.9988, representing a high level of precision in the quantitative analysis. The method's sensitivity, as demonstrated by the limits of detection (LOD) and limits of quantification (LOQ), were notably in lower ppt range across all analytes. LODs ranging from 21.2 ng/L to 74.0 ng/L. Furthermore, the LOQs remained well under 200 ng/L, with PFODA demonstrating the lowest LOQ of 87.74 ng/L. As documented in the study by Bansal and colleagues, ¹⁸⁹, the concentrations of PFCAs in wastewater span a range from below detectable levels up to 143 µg/L (ppb). The LOQs established by our developed method have enabled dependable detection and precise quantification of PFCAs,, even at very low levels. Collectively, these analytical merits not only validate the effectiveness of the SBSE-TD-GC-MS method but also emphasize its potential as a reliable tool for monitoring PFCAs in water matrices.

Analyte	Retention time (min)	Parent ion (m/z)	Coefficient of determination (R ²)	% Recovery (±SD)	LOD (ng/L)	LOQ (ng/L)
PFHpA	5.88	405	0.998	97 (±11)	21.2	138
PFOA	6.64	455	0.995	94 (±11)	21.2	103
PFNA	7.61	505	0.996	86 (±5)	30.1	90.8
PFDA	8.44	555	0.989	91 (±10)	54.3	170
PFUnA	9.41	605	0.989	88 (±10)	34.4	133
PFDoA	10.0	655	0.993	85 (±8)	74.0	192
PFTeDA	11.4	755	0.991	85 (±3)	35.0	107
PFHxDA	12.7	855	0.999	79 (±7)	51.8	128
PFODA	13.9	955	0.993	77 (±6)	42.1	87.7

 Table 3.2: Performance Parameters of SBSE-TD-GC-MS for PFCAs Analysis - Linearity, Recovery, and Sensitivity Data

In comparison with established analytical methods for PFCA analysis, as detailed in **Table 3.3**, the newly developed SBSE-TD-GC-MS technique showcases a significant advancement in the field. This method distinguishes itself by requiring only a 20 mL sample volume, which is markedly less than the 200-500 mL typically needed by other techniques. This reduced sample volume is not only a logistical advantage but also a methodological improvement, potentially leading to less sample handling efforts. Furthermore, the SBSE method uses just 1 mL of methanol to enhance the extraction process, thereby supporting the method's eco-friendliness. This reduced solvent use is aligned with the principles of green chemistry, and it makes our approach not only more sustainable but also less hazardous compared to traditional methods that utilize larger volumes of organic solvents. **Table 3.3** summarizes methods, such as SPE and LLE, with recovery rates from 25% to 137%, and limits of detection (LODs) ranging widely from ng/L to μ g/L. Our SBSE method achieves a consistent recovery rate of 47-97% with LODs from 21.2 to 74.0 ng/L. This demonstrates a competitive sensitivity and efficiency in detecting trace levels of PFCAs.

Overall, our developed method maintains a balance between methodological simplicity and analytical performance, avoiding the need for more complex and costly MS/MS systems.

Sl No.	Target PFCAs	Matrix/ Sources	Derivatizing agent	Extractio n Method	Sample Volume	Instrumentati on	Recover y %	LOD (ng/L)	Refere nce
1	PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFDoA	Groundwater	Methyl iodide, Diazomethane	SPE	200 mL	GC-ECNI-MS	35-90	18-36 μg/L	84
2	PFBA, PFPeA, PFHpA, PFHxA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Wastewater, Seawater	Tetrabutylamm onium, Butanol, Thionyl chloride	IP-SPME	5 mL	GC–NCI-MS	35-90	20-750	85
3	TFA, PFPrA, PFBA, PFPeA, PFHpA, PFHxA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Surface water, Lake water, Sewage WTP, Precipitation	2,4- difluoroaniline and N, N- dicyclohexylcar bodiimide	SPE	300 mL	GC-EI-MS	25-137	0.01- 0.5	86
4	PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	River water	Isobutyl chloroformate, Pyridine, Isobutanol	LLE	500 mL	GC-EI-MS	N/A	200- 2200 μg/L	87
5	PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Surface water, Precipitation	2,4- difluoroaniline and DCC	IP-LLE	500 mL	GC-NCI-MS	91-98	0.3-5.9	89

Table 3.3: Analytical performance of SBSE-TD-GC-MS for PFCAs detection compared to existing water analysis methods.

Sl No.	Target PFCAs	Matrix/ Sources	Derivatizing agent	Extractio n Method	Sample Volume	Instrumentati on	Recover y %	LOD (ng/L)	Refere nce
6	PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	River water	Propyl chloroformate, Propanol	HS-SPME	10 mL	GC–QqQ– MS/MS	84.4- 116.8	0.08- 6.6	91
7	PFPeA, PFHpA, PFHxA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	River Water	Isobutyl chloroformate, Pyridine, Isobutanol	SPE	250 mL	GC-NCI-MS	53-111	0.1-24	92
8	PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA	Surface water	Tetrabutylamm onium hydrogen sulfate	IP- DLLME	10 mL	GC-NCI- MS/MS	95-98	37-51	93
9	PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA	Drinking water/ Wastewater	Isobutyl chloroformate, DCC in Pyridine, Isobutanol	SPE	250 mL	GC-DSQ II- MS	94-98	0.1-0.5	94
10	PFPrA, PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Wastewater	Triethylsilanol, H2SO4	SPE	250 mL	GC-EI-MS	93-108	4 - 48	97

SI No.	Target PFCAs	Matrix/ Sources	Derivatizing agent	Extractio n Method	Sample Volume	Instrumentati on	Recover y %	LOD (ng/L)	Refere nce
11	PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA, PFTeA	River water, Lake water	Isobutyl chloroformate, Pyridine, Isobutanol	DLLME	1 mL	GC-EI-MS	83.7-117	0.9-3	98
12	PFBA, PFPeA, PFHpA, PFHxA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Surface water	2,4- difluoroaniline and DCC	SPE	500 mL	GC-µECD	62-118	1140– 6320	99
13	PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	Tap water	2,3,4,5,6- pentafluorobenz yl bromide	SPE	500 mL	GC-EI-MS	40.1- 101.8	0.128	100
14	TFA, PFPrA, PFBA, PFPeA, PFHpA, PFHxA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA, PFTrDA, PFTeDA	Tap water, Precipitation, Ocean water	Diphenyl diazomethane	SPE	250 mL	GC-ECNI-MS	83-130	0.06- 14.6	202

Sl No.	Target PFCAs	Matrix/ Sources	Derivatizing agent	Extractio n Method	Sample Volume	Instrumentati on	Recover y %	LOD (ng/L)	Refere nce
15	PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA, PFTeDA, PFHxDA, PFODA	Wastewater, Tap water	Isobutyl chloroformate, Isobutanol, Pyridine,	SBSE	20 mL	GC-EI-MS	47-97	21.17- 73.96	This work

3.4.4 Method Repeatability

The method repeatability has been rigorously evaluated through a series of tests at two spiked concentration levels, 100 ng/L and 1000 ng/L, with seven replicates for each level. The resultant data (**Table 3.4**) demonstrates the method's robust precision, with the percentage relative standard deviation (%RSD) below 14% for all target compounds, regardless of the concentration level. These results are consistently replicated in tap water analyses, with PFNA displaying a notably low %RSD of 7.2% at the 1000 ng/L concentration. This data emphasizes the method's reliable performance and its high repeatability which highlights its suitability for accurate and consistent monitoring of PFCAs.

Table 3.4: Method repeatability test in DI water and Tap water at two spiking levels, 100 ng/L and 1000 ng/L; (n=7).

	Repeatability (RSD %; n = 7)					
	DI V	Vater	Tap Water			
Analyte –	100 ng/L	1000 ng/L	100 ng/L	1000 ng/L		
PFHpA	8.6%	6.5%	13.1%	9.7%		
PFOA	13.3%	10.3%	9.4%	8.6%		
PFNA	10.0%	9.5%	11.4%	7.2%		
PFDA	6.2%	8.2%	12.3%	6.2%		
PFUnA	12.5%	10.2%	9.6%	12.5%		
PFDoA	13.4%	12.1%	7.8%	12.0%		
PFTeDA	12.9%	8.3%	8.9%	10.2%		
PFHxDA	11.6%	12.7%	12.0%	9.0%		
PFODA	6.7%	9.6%	12.8%	9.4%		

3.4.5 Spiked recovery experiment

In our study, we thoroughly assessed the recovery efficiency of our newly developed SBSE-TD-GC-MS method for PFCAs analysis across various water matrices. This was accomplished by spiking two levels (10 ng and 20 ng) in 20 mL of tap water, wastewater influent, and wastewater effluent samples. The recovery percentages, along with their respective standard deviations, were calculated based on duplicate measurements (n=2) for each condition. In tap water, recovery rates were fairly high, ranging from 68% (\pm 8) to 90% (\pm 10) at the 10 ng level, and improved at the 20 ng level with rates from 61% (±1) to 96% (±6) (**Table 3.5**). This indicates a degree of matrix-related enhancement in recovery at the higher spiking level. On the other hand, the recovery rates in wastewater influent were significantly lower, with values from 29% (±12) to 44% (\pm 11) at the 10 ng level, and only a slight increase at the 20 ng level, achieving between 21% (± 7) and 31% (± 10) . This indicates the substantial matrix effect likely due to the presence of interfering substances. Wastewater effluent displayed intermediate recovery rates. The 10 ng spikes yielded 43% (\pm 6) to 65% (\pm 14) recoveries and the 20 ng spikes showing 44% (\pm 11) to 74% (± 8) recoveries. These findings further confirm the impact of matrix complexity on the extraction efficiency of PFCAs. The effluent samples showed a lesser degree of interference compared to influent samples, likely due to the partial removal of contaminants during the wastewater treatment process. To address the matrix effect encountered, particularly in the more complex wastewater samples, the standard addition method could be considered as a viable solution. By adding known quantities of PFCAs directly to the samples, this method compensates for the matrix-induced deviations. This allows for more accurate quantification of the analytes.

	Tap w	ater	Wastewate	Wastewater Influent		Wastewater Effluent	
Analyte	10 ng	20 ng	10 ng	20 ng	10 ng	20 ng	
PFHpA	68 (±8)	81 (±7)	29 (±12)	27 (±9)	45 (±8)	64 (±11)	
PFOA	74 (±5)	77 (±13)	31 (±7)	26 (±8)	46 (±7)	53 (±3)	
PFNA	75 (±6)	73 (±10)	35 (±4)	21 (±7)	59 (±12)	44 (±11)	
PFDA	90 (±10)	87 (±12)	31 (±9)	23 (±6)	56 (±6)	49 (±10)	
PFUnA	69 (±3)	61 (±1)	29 (±9)	29 (±10)	43 (±6)	45 (±11)	
PFDoA	82 (±13)	93 (±7)	32 (±6)	27 (±9)	56 (±11)	65 (±10)	
PFTeDA	85 (±15)	96 (±6)	41 (±10)	30 (±6)	53 (±4)	74 (±8)	
PFHxDA	84 (±8)	93 (±1)	44 (±11)	31 (±10)	57 (±11)	62 (±6)	
PFODA	82 (±8)	92 (±6)	42(±2)	24 (±10)	65 (±14)	61 (±10)	

Table 3.5: Results of spiked recoveries of target PFCAs in tap water, wastewater influent, and wastewater effluent samples at two spiking levels (10 ng and 20 ng). Results shown in % recovery (±SD); (n=2).

3.4.6 Determination of PFCAs in real water samples

In our deployment of the novel SBSE-TD-GC-MS methodology, comprehensive testing was conducted on various water matrices, including tap water and both influent and effluent samples from four distinct wastewater treatment facilities. Despite the method's enhanced sensitivity and specificity for PFCAs detection, none of the analytes were identified above the method's quantification limit in the real water samples examined. This absence of detectable PFCAs may reflect the efficiency of the wastewater treatment processes, which seem to be effective in removing these compounds or reducing their concentrations to sub-threshold levels. It's also important to consider the potential influence of matrix effects, which could lead to signal suppression or enhancement, affecting the detection of PFCAs in complex matrices like wastewater. However, due to the rigorous method validation, including standard addition strategies to counter matrix effects, the absence of detectable PFCAs in the tested samples likely reflects

their true scarcity or absence in the sampled environments rather than an artifact of analytical interference.

3.4.7 Method Strengths and Limitations

The SBSE-TD-GC-MS method for PFCAs analysis presents a novel approach that integrates the principles of green chemistry and marks a significant advancement in environmental analytical methodologies. Its strength lies in minimizing environmental impact by drastically reducing the reliance on organic solvents traditionally required for extraction processes. This not only aligns with green chemistry goals but also decreases the potential for introducing solventrelated contamination. Another considerable strength of the method is its ability to effectively analyze PFCAs without the need for a clean-up and pre-concentration step. This method requires only 20 mL of water sample. This feature is particularly advantageous for field studies where sample volume is often limited or in situations where the transportation of large volumes of samples is impractical. This aspect of the method greatly enhances its application in remote or logistically challenging environments, where carrying out extensive sampling may not be feasible. Furthermore, this method is the first to use the SBSE technique to extract PFCAs from water without using solvents for desorption prior GC-MS analysis as thermal desorption unit is coupled with GC-MS. Solventless desorption simplifies the process, cuts down the steps, and lowers the chance of errors or contamination.

However, despite these strengths, the method does have its limitations. The matrix effects observed in wastewater samples indicate that complex sample matrices can influence the recovery and detection of PFCAs. Although the standard addition method and matrix-matched calibrations can be employed to counter these effects, they do add complexity and may increase the time

required for sample preparation and analysis. Overall, the SBSE-TD-GC-MS method represents a significant step forward for the efficient analysis of PFCAs in water samples.

3.5 CONCLUSIONS

The research successfully developed and validated a sophisticated SBSE-TD-GC-MS analytical method, characterized by simplicity, sensitivity, and robustness, for the extraction and quantification of PFCAs in aquatic environments. Through rigorous testing, the method demonstrated exemplary linearity across a concentration range of 75–2000 ng/L, repeatability with a %RSD within 14%, and a consistent recovery rate of 47-97%. The LODs ranged from 21.2 to 74.0 ng/L. These attributes emphasize the method's reliability as an alternative to the conventional methods for PFCAs analysis. Despite its heightened sensitivity and specificity, it is notable that none of the targeted PFCAs were identified in the real water samples analyzed. The environmental sustainability of this method is evident in its minimal requirement for sample volume (20 mL) and organic solvent (1 mL of methanol), marking it as a green analytical technique. This study also sets a precedent by being the first to report the use of SBSE without necessitating organic solvent for desorption. It surpasses traditional methods such as SPE, LLE, and SPME in terms of efficiency and cost-effectiveness, and its compatibility with commercially available stir bars makes it more user-friendly than previous SBSE methods associated with LC-MS/MS.

3.6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors extend their gratitude to Teresa T. Alcala and the staff at El Paso Water Laboratory for their support with the collection of wastewater samples. The authors in this publication were partially funded by the National Cancer Institute of the National Institutes of Health (grant number SC1CA245675). The contents expressed in this publication are the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the official position of the National Institutes of Health.

Chapter 4: Green Analytical Method for Determination of Perfluorocarboxylic Acids (PFCAs) in Water by Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction Coupled with GC-MS

4.1 ABSTRACT:

Fluorotelomer Alcohols (FTOHs) and Perfluorocarboxylic Acids (PFCAs) are major group members of the Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) family. They are known for their versatile industrial and consumer applications and potential environmental and health risks. This study presents a comprehensive exploration into the presence and transport behavior of FTOHs and PFCAs in biosolid samples collected from wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) in El Paso, Texas. We optimized an ultrasonic extraction method for efficient recovery of FTOHs and PFCAs compounds from biosolids, subsequently Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE) and Thermal Desorption-Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (TD-GC-MS) analysis. The results revealed specific concentrations of FTOHs compounds in biosolid samples from the different WWTPs. 6:2 FTOH was not detected in any of the samples, while 8:2 FTOH was found in three WWTPs at varying concentrations: 100.30 ng/g in WWTP-1, 62.87 ng/g in WWTP-2, and 56.41 ng/g in WWTP-4. Additionally, 10:2 FTOH was detected in WWTP-1 at a concentration of 68.07 ng/g. Interestingly, despite the sensitive analytical approach employed, none of the targeted PFCAs were detected in any of the biosolid samples. These findings provide important insights into the distribution and prevalence of specific FTOHs in biosolids from WWTPs, that highlight the inherent variability in their occurrence. Since FTOHs compounds are potential precursors to PFCAs, this study contributes to the ongoing endeavor of monitoring and managing PFAS in water matrices.

Keywords: Fluorotelomer alcohol (FTOHs), Perfluorocarboxylic Acids (PFCAs), Stir bar sorptive extraction (SBSE), Method Development, GC-MS, Biosolids.

4.2 INTRODUCTION

Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) represent a vast family of over 4700 highly fluorinated compounds renowned for their remarkable properties, including water and oil repellency, thermal stability, resistance to biochemical degradation, bioaccumulative tendencies, and toxicological effects ^{136,203,204}. These versatile chemicals find their way into everyday consumer products like nonstick cookware, clothing, leather goods, upholstery, carpets, and more ^{102,203,205}. PFAS also play a crucial role in industrial applications, serving as wetting agents, additives, coatings, emulsifiers, paints, waxes, and polishes, while their presence in fire-fighting foams underscores their importance in safety applications ^{193,206–209}. These distinctive properties arise from their unique molecular structure, featuring a perfluorinated carbon chain that is both hydrophobic and oleophobic, coupled with hydrophilic charged functional groups for example carboxylic or sulfonic acid ^{189,203}. Fluorotelomer alcohols (FTOHs) and perfluorocarboxylic acids (PFCAs) are two major groups of PFAS with various uses, such as in cleaning products, firefighting foam, and making materials like fluoropolymers ^{102,189,193,204,210,211}. These compounds have become common pollutants in water, air, soil, food, and living organisms 91,96,136,212,213. Studies have also shown that FTOHs can break down into other persistent, bioaccumulative, and toxic perfluorinated compounds, especially perfluorocarboxylic acids (PFCA) in water by various biotransformation mechanisms ^{7,214}. Therefore, FTOHs could be considered an indirect source of PFCAs in the environment. Furthermore, exposure to high levels of FTOHs and PFCAs has been linked to health problems, including reproductive issues, liver and kidney damage, immune system effects, and thyroid disruptions ^{215–218}.

FTOHs and PFCAs were found in various water sources, including surface waters, underground aquifers, oceans, tap water, bottled water, and wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs)

^{183,184,210,219–222}. In WWTPs, sewage sludge is a significant reservoir of PFCAs and their precursors ^{223–225}. Biosolids, which are the nutrient-rich solid residues derived from municipal sewage sludge, are often used as organic-rich fertilizers in agriculture due to their nutrient content. Land application is the favored method for biosolid use and disposal, returning nutrients and organic matter to the land at minimal costs ^{218,226-230}. However, the use and disposal of wastewater biosolids are not currently regulated for PFAS, making land application a potential major pathway for PFAS release into the environment. Additionally, laboratory studies have provided strong evidence for microbial biodegradation processes that transform FTOHs into PFCAs²³⁰⁻²³². In particular, the biotransformation of 6:2 FTOH into perfluorohexanoic acid (PFHxA) and perfluoropentanoic acid (PFPeA) has been well-documented in diluted activated sludge ²³². Several research studies have investigated the levels of FTOHs and PFCAs in biosolids. For instance, Yoo research group ²³¹ conducted an analysis of FTOHs concentrations in biosolidamended soils, revealing elevated levels of 8:2 FTOH (ranging from 5 to 73 ng/g) and 10:2 FTOH (below 5.6 to 166 ng/g) in these soils. Moreover, another research group by Wang, ²³⁰ reported that FTOHs can undergo aerobic biotransformation in both soil and activated sludge, leading to the formation of PFHxA and PFOA. Additionally, Washington et al.,²²⁵ observed the accumulation of perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) and FTOHs in soils resulting from the land use of biosolids originating from industrial sources. These findings highlight the importance of monitoring and studying FTOHs and PFCAs in biosolids, given their potential presence at trace levels and their potential for transport into the environment through land application. Consequently, the development of a straightforward, sensitive, and robust analytical method is crucial for the accurate identification and quantification of FTOHs and PFCAs in biosolid matrices.

In analyzing FTOHs and PFCAs in biosolid samples, researchers commonly utilize both liquid chromatography (LC) and gas chromatography (GC) methods for qualitative and quantitative determination of these compounds ^{216,219,225,233-235}. Both methods require robust pretreatment processes due to the need to detect these compounds at ultra-trace levels. Solid-phase extraction (SPE) is mostly used for the extraction process for these compounds ^{118,119,122}. But, in recent years, microextraction techniques have emerged as a modern and efficient alternative to traditional extraction methods like liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) and solid-phase extraction (SPE) ^{202,236}. Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE) has gained prominence in this context, primarily due to its environmentally friendly approach and cost-effectiveness ^{197,237–239}. SBSE excels in handling large sample volumes with minimal labor involvement and aligns well with the principles of green chemistry. Notably, SBSE offers a higher absorbent volume compared to Solid-Phase Microextraction (SPME), which significantly enhances sensitivity, enabling the detection of compounds at sub-ng/L concentrations ^{196,239}. This technique's robust adsorption capacity and high extraction efficiency make it particularly suitable for the extraction of FTOHs and PFCAs from biosolid samples. Yet, this SBSE technique in line with thermal desorption-gas chromatographymass spectrometry (TD-GC-MS) is a relatively unexplored area for PFCAs and FTOHs quantification.

This study aimed to investigate the presence of FTOHs and PFCAs in municipal wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) biosolid samples. To achieve this, we incorporated an ultrasonic pre-extraction method for the efficient extraction of these target compounds from biosolid samples. Subsequently, the extracts were subjected to our previously established Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE) techniques for quantifying FTOHs and PFCAs in water samples using TD-GC-MS. The developed method was applied to analyze FTOHs and PFCAs in biosolid

samples, representing a pioneering use of SBSE for efficient extraction from this matrix based on existing literature. To quantify these target compounds in biosolid samples, a solvent-free desorption step was conducted using a thermal desorption unit before GC-MS analysis. This research contributes to an improved understanding of the transport and release of FTOHs and PFCAs from municipal WWTPs into the environment.

4.3 **EXPERIMENTAL**

4.3.1 Standards and reagents

The analytical standard of PFCAs and FTOHs, as listed in **Table 4.1**, was purchased from Fisher Scientific, USA. Standard stock solutions of 1000 μ g/mL of FTOHs were prepared in acetonitrile. HPLC-grade acetonitrile, hexane, and methanol were purchased from J.T.Baker®, USA. Mirex (Fisher Scientific, USA) was used as the internal standard, and 1000 μ g/mL and 10 μ g/mL Mirex stock solutions were prepared in acetonitrile. Deionized (DI) water, purchased from J.T.Baker®, J.T.Baker®, USA, was used in dilutions and sample preparations.

	Compound Nama	Aaronym	Molecular	Molecular	CASNo
	Compound Name	Acronym	Formula	Weight	CAS NO.
1	Perfluoroheptanoic acid	PFHpA	$C_7HF_{13}O_2$	364.06	375-85-9
2	Perfluorooctanoic acid	PFOA	$C_8HF_{15}O_2$	414.07	335-67-1
3	Perfluorononanoic acid	PFNA	$C_9HF_{17}O_2$	464.08	375-95-1
4	Perfluorodecanoic acid	PFDA	$C_{10}HF_{19}O_2$	514.08	335-76-2
5	Perfluoroundecanoic acid	PFUnA	$C_{11}HF_{21}O_2$	564.09	2058-94-8
6	Perfluorododecanoic acid	PFDoA	$C_{12}HF_{23}O_2$	614.10	307-55-1
7	Perfluorotetradecanoic acid	PFTeDA	$C_{14}HF_{27}O_2$	714.11	376-06-7
8	Perfluorohexadecanoic acid	PFHxDA	$C_{16}HF_{31}O_2$	814.13	67905-19-5
9	Perfluorooctadecanoic acid	PFODA	$C_{18}HF_{35}O_2$	914.10	16517-11-6
10	1H,1H,2H,2H-Perfluorooctan-1-ol	6:2 FTOH	$C_8H_5F_{13}O$	364.10	647-42-7

Table 4.1: List of the targeted PFCAs and FTOHs.

11	1H,1H,2H,2H-Perfluorodecan-1-ol	8:2 FTOH	$C_{10}H_5F_{17}O$	464.12	678-39-7
12	1H,1H,2H,2H-Perfluorododecan-1-ol	10:2 FTOH	$C_{12}H_5F_{21}O$	564.13	865-86-1

4.3.2 Sample Collection

In this study, biosolid samples from wastewater treatment plants were obtained from El Paso Water in El Paso, Texas, USA, in September 2023. Biosolid samples were taken from four municipal wastewater treatment plants, denoted as WWTP-1, WWTP-2, WWTP-3, and WWTP-4. All the wastewater treatment plants are located in El Paso, Texas, USA. The samples were collected in 500 mL polypropylene bottles, ensuring no headspace remained, and were then promptly stored at 4 °C. All samples were analyzed for FTOHs and PFCAs within 7 days from their collection date.

4.3.3 Sample preparation:

4.3.3.1 Ultrasonic extraction

Initially, the biosolid samples underwent a deionized water wash to remove any residual wastewater. This washing process was carried out through vacuum filtration. Then, the biosolid samples were left to air dry. After that, the dry biosolid samples were ground using mortar and pestle. For pre-extraction method development, 1 gram of dry biosolid sample was measured and placed into a 15-milliliter polypropylene (PP) tube. Subsequently, 500 μ L of 1 μ g/mL mixture containing three target FTOHs standards were introduced into the tube. The PP tube was vortexed for one minute to ensure a thorough and uniform blending of the standards with the biosolid. Following this, the samples were allowed to rest overnight in a refrigerator at 4 °C. Afterward, 10 mL of extraction solvent was added, and the mixture was once again vortexed for one minute. Various solvents were tested to assess their effects, including methanol (MeOH), acetonitrile (ACN), acetone (ACE), a 1:1 (v/v) mixture of methanol and acetonitrile (MeOH/ACN), a 1:1

mixture of methanol and acetone (MeOH/ACE), and a 1:1 mixture of acetonitrile and acetone (ACN/ACE). Ultrasonic extraction was performed using a Fisher Scientific FS 30H ultrasonic bath. The vial containing the 10 mL of organic solvent with the biosolid sample was subjected to ultrasonication for varying durations, including 30 minutes, 60 minutes, and 90 minutes, to optimize the extraction process. Following ultrasonic extraction, centrifugation was carried out at 4000 rpm for 20 minutes and the temperature was set at 4 °C using the Sorvall Legend X1R centrifuge from Thermo Scientific, USA. Afterward, the liquid supernatant was transferred into a new 15 mL PP tube for use in the subsequent SBSE process. Figure 4.1 provides a detailed workflow of this pre-extraction procedure.



Figure 4.1: Workflow for the ultrasonic extraction from biosolid samples. FTOHs are used as the model PFAS group.

4.3.3.2 Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE)

We employed our previously established Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE) technique as a preliminary step for extraction and concentration before conducting Thermal Desorption-Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (TD-GC-MS) analysis. To outline the procedure briefly, we initiated the process in a 20 mL amber vial, where 3 mL of the prior extract was combined with 17 mL of deionized (D.I.) water. Additionally, 20 μ L of Mirex, at a concentration of 10 μ g/mL, was introduced as the internal standard. We then inserted a commercially available stir bar coated with polydimethylsiloxane (TwisterTM, 10 mm × 1 mm, Gerstel, USA) into the vial. This solution was subsequently stirred following the previously established SBSE method for FTOHs and PFCAs, as described in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 of the experimental section. After stirring, the stir bar was carefully removed, rinsed with D.I. water to eliminate any residual sample, and dried using a lint-free tissue. Subsequently, the stir bar was placed into a thermal desorption tube (TDT) for the final TD-GC-MS analysis.

4.3.4 Thermal desorption-gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (TD-GC- MS) analysis

The TD-GC-MS analysis was conducted following our previously established method specifically for FTOHs (detailed in Chapter 3) and PFCAs (as outlined in Chapter 4). A summary of both methods is represented in **Table 4.2**.

Method Parameter	FTOHs Analysis	PFCAs Analysis		
Instrumentation	TDU (Gerstel, MD, USA), 8890-GC, 5977B MS (Agilent Technologies,			
instrumentation	CA, USA)			
GC-MS	HP-5MS UI column (30 m \times 0.25 mm	i.d., 0.25 µm film thickness, Agilent,		
Column	CA, USA)			
Carrier Gas	rrier Gas Ultra-high purity helium, 1.2 mL/min			

Table 4.2: TD-GC-MS method parameters for FTOHs and PFCAs analysis.

Method Parameter	FTOHs Analysis	PFCAs Analysis
Thermal Desorption Program	Initial Temperature: 50°C for 0.5 min; Temperature Ramp: Increase to 280°C at 60°C/min, Hold at 280°C for 7.0 min	Initial Temperature: 40°C for 0.5 min; Temperature Ramp: Increase to 280°C at 60°C/min, Hold at 280°C for 5.0 min
TD Transfer Line Temp.	290°C	290°C
Cold Injection System (CIS)	CIS4/TDU baffled liner (Gerstel, USA) at -40°C during desorption, then heated to 300°C at 12°C/sec and held for 5 min in splitless mode	CIS4/TDU baffled liner (Gerstel, USA) at -40°C during desorption, then heated to 300°C at 12°C/sec and held for 5 min in splitless mode
GC Oven Temp. Program	Initial Temperature: 35°C for 3 min, Temperature Ramp: Increase at 5°C/min to 100°C, hold for 2 min, Temperature Ramp: Increase at 25°C/min to 300°C, hold for 3 min, Total Run Time: 29 min	Initial Temperature: 40°C for 2 min, Temperature Ramp: Increase at 10°C/min to 200°C, hold for 2 min, Temperature Ramp: Increase to 300°C at 25°C/min, hold for 3 min, Total Run Time: 27 min
MSD Transfer Line Temp.	280°C	280°C
Ionization Energy	Electron Ionization (EI) at 70 eV	Electron Ionization (EI) at 70 eV
Solvent Delay	3 min	1 min
Mass Spectrometry Mode	Selected Ion Monitoring (SIM)	Selected Ion Monitoring (SIM)
SIM Ion (m/z)	69, 95, 131, 169, 181, 272	69, 131, 169, 181, 272

4.3.5 Analysis of FTOHs and PFCAs in biosolid samples

For the determination of FTOHs and PFCAs in biosolid samples, an optimized preextraction method was carried out before SBSE-TD-GC-MS analysis. Initially, the biosolid samples underwent a deionized water wash to remove any residual wastewater. This washing process was carried out through vacuum filtration. Then, the biosolid samples were left to air dry. After that, the dry biosolid samples were ground using mortar and pestle. For pre-extraction, 500 mg of dry biosolid sample was measured and placed into a 15-milliliter polypropylene (PP) tube. Then, 10 mL acetonitrile as extraction solvent was added, and the mixture was vortexed for one minute. Ultrasonic extraction was performed for 30 min. Following ultrasonic extraction, centrifugation was carried out at 4000 rpm for 20 minutes and 4 °C using the Sorvall Legend X1R centrifuge from Thermo Scientific, USA. Afterward, the liquid supernatant was transferred into a new 15 mL PP tube for use in the subsequent SBSE process for FTOHs and PFCAs analysis. Three mL of extract were used for FTOHs determination as described in Chapter 3; while 1 mL extract was used for derivatization and extraction of PFCA by SBSE applying the developed method outlined in Chapter experimental section.

4.4 **RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS**

4.4.1 Optimization of Pre-treatment of Biosolids by Ultrasonic Extraction

4.4.1.1 Extraction Solvent Optimization

We conducted ultrasonic extraction to extract FTOHs and PFCAs from biosolid samples. In the process of optimizing the ultrasonic method, we focused on the influence of different solvents used during the extraction procedures. The optimization was guided by the outcomes derived from the extraction recovery data of the three studied FTOHs compounds. Various solvents, including methanol, acetonitrile, acetone, and acetonitrile:acetone 1:1 (v/v), were assessed. The extraction efficiency for 6:2 FTOH was not significantly different (P < 0.05) when using either acetonitrile or a 1:1 (v/v) mixture of acetonitrile and acetone (**Figure 4.2**). However, when it came to 8:2 FTOH and 10:2 FTOH, acetonitrile consistently produced significantly higher (P < 0.05) response compared to the other solvent compositions tested. This finding aligns with a study by Chen research group ²¹¹ who also reported optimal extraction recovery results when using acetonitrile for extracting FTOHs from wastewater sludge samples. As a result of these

investigations, we selected acetonitrile as the preferred extraction solvent during ultrasonication for extracting FTOHs and PFCAs from biosolid samples.



Figure 4.2: Optimization of extraction solvent: instrument response (i.e., extraction recovery) of FTOHs with various extraction solvent compositions. Standard deviations of duplicate measurements are represented as error bars in this bar chart. Here, MeOH-methanol, ACN- acetonitrile, and ACE- acetone.

4.4.1.2 Sonication Time Optimization

Two solvent systems: acetonitrile and a 1:1 (v/v) mixture of acetonitrile and acetone (ACN:ACE, 1:1) were used in this optimization. To optimize the sonication time, we considered three different durations for the extraction process: 30 minutes, 60 minutes, and 90 minutes. **Figure 4.3** displays the results of the extraction recovery of FTOHs at these three sonication time intervals. For 8:2 FTOH, consistent response levels were observed when using acetonitrile across all three sonication time points. In the case of 6:2 FTOH, a significantly higher (P < 0.05) response was
noted at the 60-minute sonication time for both solvent systems. Meanwhile, 10:2 FTOH exhibited significantly higher (P < 0.05) response at the 30-minute sonication time. Overall, the 30-minute sonication time provided a comparable response for all three target compounds and offered a time-saving advantage for ultrasonic extraction. Therefore, we selected a 30-minute sonication period with acetonitrile as the solvent for ultrasonic extraction for the subsequent experiment.



Figure 4.3: Optimization of sonication time: Instrument response (i.e., extraction recovery) of FTOHs with various sonication times. Error bars in this bar chart represent the standard deviations of duplicate measurements. Here, ACN- acetonitrile and ACE-acetone.

4.4.1.3 Effect of Sample Load on Ultrasonic Extraction

The influence of sample load was assessed at three different amounts: 100 mg, 500 mg, and 1000 mg of biosolids. The results of the extraction recovery are presented in **Figure 4.4** as a percentage recovery. From **Figure 4.4**, it became evident that both the 100 mg and 500 mg sample

loads exhibited higher extraction recovery rates compared to the 1000 mg biosolid sample load for all three target compounds. Among the three options, the 500 mg sample load demonstrated the most favorable performance in terms of extraction recovery for all three FTOHs compounds. It's noteworthy that Chen and colleagues ²¹¹ also used a 500 mg sample amount when analyzing FTOHs in wastewater sludge samples, as reported in the literature. Given the extraction recovery results, we have chosen 500 mg as the optimal sample quantity for the ultrasonic extraction process.



Figure 4.4: Effect of sample load on ultrasonic extraction: % recovery of FTOHs with 3 sample amounts: 100 mg, 500 mg, and 1000 mg. Error bars in this bar chart represent the standard deviations of duplicate measurements.

4.4.2 OCCURRENCE AND PROFILES OF FTOHS AND PFCAS IN BIOSOLID SAMPLES

The results presented in Table 4.3 provide insightful information about the presence of FTOHs in biosolid samples from different wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs). Specifically, the analysis focused on three types of FTOHs: 6:2 FTOH, 8:2 FTOH, and 10:2 FTOH. It was observed that 6:2 FTOH was not detected in any of the samples across all four WWTPs, indicating its absence in these biosolid samples. In contrast, 8:2 FTOH was found in three of the four WWTP samples, with varying concentrations: 100.30 ng/g in WWTP-1, 62.87 ng/g in WWTP-2, and 56.41 ng/g in WWTP-4. These findings align with prior research conducted by two research group, Chen ²¹¹ and Ellington ²²⁵ who found 8:2 FTOH in sewage sludges from wastewater treatment plants. This variation suggests differing levels of this compound's presence in the wastewater treatment processed by each plant. Notably, 10:2 FTOH was detected in only one sample (WWTP-1) at a concentration of 68.07 ng/g, highlighting its relatively less frequent occurrence compared to 8:2 FTOH in biosolid samples. These findings suggest that the presence of these FTOHs compounds in biosolid samples varies among WWTPs, which supports the results from previous research outcomes ^{210,211,213}. These FTOHs are the source of PFCAs contamination in waster matrices as they bio-transform into PFCAs ^{227,230,240}. Also, the findings are significant as they provide a record of the distribution and prevalence of specific FTOHs in wastewater treatment plants.

 Table 4.3: Results of determination of target FTOHs in biosolid samples; each sample ran in duplicates.

Biosolid Samples	Detected (ng/g)/ Not detected (N.D.)		
	6:2 FTOH	8:2 FTOH	10:2 FTOH
WWTP-1	N.D.	100.30	68.07
WWTP-2	N.D.	62.87	N.D.
WWTP-3	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.
WWTP-4	N.D.	56.41	N.D.

In addition to the determination of FTOHs compounds, our comprehensive investigation extended to the analysis of PFCAs within biosolid samples collected from the aforementioned WWTPs. Despite utilizing a highly sensitive method optimized for the extraction and detection of PFCAs, our findings showed the absence of any of the targeted PFCAs in the biosolid samples across all WWTP sources. This intriguing outcome indicates a difference between the presence of FTOHs compounds and PFCAs in biosolid samples.

4.5 **CONCLUSIONS**

This comprehensive study provided valuable insights into the occurrence and transport of the FTOHs and PFCAs in wastewater biosolids collected from WWTPs. Our analytical approach involved the optimization of ultrasonic extraction methods to extract FTOHs and PFCAs from biosolid samples efficiently prior to SBSE-TD-GC-MS analysis; those methods were developed in our previous study. The research found variations in the occurrence of specific FTOHs compounds across multiple WWTPs in El Paso, Texas, with 6:2 FTOH absent in all samples, while 8:2 FTOH exhibited variable concentrations in three of the four WWTPs. Importantly, the study also highlighted the complete absence of any of the targeted PFCAs in the biosolid samples despite employing a highly sensitive analytical approach. Overall, this research contributes valuable data to ongoing efforts to monitor and manage emerging contaminants in wastewater treatment systems.

4.6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors extend their gratitude to Teresa T. Alcala and the staff at El Paso Water Laboratory for their support with the collection of biosolid samples. The authors in this publication were partially funded by the National Cancer Institute of the National Institutes of Health (grant number SC1CA245675). The contents expressed in this publication are the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the official position of the National Institutes of Health.

Chapter 5: Conclusions and Recommendations for Future Work

5.1 **CONCLUSIONS**

This dissertation aimed to investigate the occurrence and transport of two predominant groups of PFAS: FTOHs and PFCAs in wastewater and biosolids. In this study, we developed and validated a simple, low-cost, no clean-up, and sensitive method for the determination of FTOHs and PFCAs in wastewater and biosolids samples by applying 'green chemistry' based extraction, i.e., stir bar sorptive extraction (SBSE) coupled with thermal desorption-gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (TD-GC-MS). We applied this newly developed method to investigate FTOHs and PFCAs in four distinct wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) within our region.

In this study, our developed SBSE-TD-GC-MS provides sensitive techniques for analyzing FTOHs in water. Using three FTOHs (6:2, 8:2, and 10:2) as model compounds, our method demonstrated low detection limits ranging from 2.16 ng/L to 16.7 ng/L, good linearity (25–500 ng/L), repeatability (%RSD below 10%), and recoveries (55%–111%). These characteristics establish the method as a dependable alternative for monitoring FTOHs in aquatic environments. By applying this optimized method, we detected two FTOHs, namely 6:2 FTOH and 8:2 FTOH, in two wastewater treatment plants at levels as low as parts per trillion (ppt). We also successfully developed another analytical method for PFCAs analysis using the SBSE-TD-GC-MS approach. This method allowed for the extraction and quantification of PFCAs in aqueous samples and demonstrated good linearity across a concentration range of 75–2000 ng/L, repeatability (%RSD within 14%), and recovery rates of 47-97%. The method's limits of detection (LODs) ranged from 21.2 to 74.0 ng/L for all targeted PFCAs considered during method development. These attributes emphasize the method's reliability as an alternative to conventional PFCAs analysis techniques. Our comprehensive study yielded valuable insights into the presence and distribution of FTOHs

and PFCAs in wastewater biosolids collected from WWTPs. We optimized ultrasonic extraction methods for efficiently extracting FTOHs and PFCAs from biosolid samples before SBSE-TD-GC-MS analysis. The study revealed variations in the occurrence of specific FTOH compounds across multiple WWTPs in El Paso, Texas, with 6:2 FTOH absent in all samples and 8:2 FTOH showing variable concentrations in three of the four WWTPs. Particularly, none of the targeted PFCAs were detected in the wastewater and biosolid samples despite the use of a highly sensitive analytical approach.

Overall, SBSE proved to be a sensitive and environmentally friendly analytical technique, requiring a small sample volume (20 mL) and minimal organic solvent (1 mL methanol). Its simplicity and compatibility with the sensitive GC-MS system enable the detection of FTOHs and PFCAs at low concentrations in water samples and surpassing traditional methods in terms of efficiency and cost-effectiveness. This study also sets a precedent by being the first to report the use of SBSE coupled with GC-MS for FTOHs and PFCAs determination in water matrices. Largely, this research provides valuable data contributing to ongoing efforts to monitor and manage emerging contaminants in wastewater treatment systems.

5.2 **Recommendations for Future Work**

In the field of environmental analysis, the detection and quantification of PFAS in water matrices are of utmost importance due to the persistent nature and potential risks of these substances. Future research directions in this area may include:

I. **Extended Monitoring and Sampling:** Expanding the monitoring efforts to include a wider geographical area such as WWTPs of these nearby cities (Juárez, Mexico and Las Cruces, New Mexico) could provide a more comprehensive understanding of the regional

and even national distribution of FTOHs and PFCAs. This broader data collection could help identify potential hotspots and trends in PFAS contamination.

- II. Diverse Field Application and Monitoring: Implementing the developed method by conducting long-term monitoring campaigns at various water sources, such as lakes, rivers, and groundwater, can help track PFAS trends, sources, and seasonal variations.
- III. Incorporating More PFAS Variants: Expanding the analysis to include a wider range of PFAS variants, beyond FTOHs and PFCAs, can provide insights into the presence and behavior of other emerging PFAS compounds.
- IV. Method Refinement: Continuous refinement and optimization of the analytical method for PFAS detection in water matrices is essential. Researchers can explore variations in extraction techniques, chromatographic separation, and mass spectrometry detection to further improve sensitivity, accuracy, and efficiency.
- V. **Community and Stakeholder Engagement:** Engaging with local communities and stakeholders to raise awareness about PFAS contamination in water sources, its potential health risks, and mitigation strategies is important.

In summary, this dissertation represents a significant step forward and contributes valuable data to the ongoing efforts to monitor and manage emerging contaminants in wastewater treatment systems. Through the development and validation of a cost-effective, environmentally friendly, and sensitive analytical method, we have provided a reliable alternative for monitoring these contaminants in aquatic matrices. This study offers a foundation for future studies in this field.

References

- (1) OECD. Toward a New Comprehensive Global Database of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs): Summary Report on Updating the OECD 2007 List of per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs). *Series on Risk Management* **2018**, *No. 39*. (39), 1–24.
- (2) Wang, Z.; Dewitt, J. C.; Higgins, C. P.; Cousins, I. T. A Never-Ending Story of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs)? *Environ Sci Technol* 2017, *51* (5), 2508–2518. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b04806.
- (3) Kotthoff, M.; Müller, J.; Jürling, H.; Schlummer, M.; Fiedler, D. Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Consumer Products. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* **2015**, *22* (19), 14546–14559. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-4202-7.
- (4) Buck, R. C.; Franklin, J.; Berger, U.; Conder, J. M.; Cousins, I. T.; Voogt, P. De; Jensen, A. A.; Kannan, K.; Mabury, S. A.; van Leeuwen, S. P. J. Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in the Environment: Terminology, Classification, and Origins. *Integr Environ Assess Manag* 2011, 7 (4), 513–541. https://doi.org/10.1002/ieam.258.
- (5) Lu, G. H.; Gai, N.; Zhang, P.; Piao, H. T.; Chen, S.; Wang, X. C.; Jiao, X. C.; Yin, X. C.; Tan, K. Y.; Yang, Y. L. Perfluoroalkyl Acids in Surface Waters and Tapwater in the Qiantang River Watershed—Influences from Paper, Textile, and Leather Industries. *Chemosphere* 2017, 185, 610–617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.06.139.
- (6) Knutsen, H.; Mæhlum, T.; Haarstad, K.; Slinde, G. A.; Arp, H. P. H. Leachate Emissions of Short- And Long-Chain per- And Polyfluoralkyl Substances (PFASs) from Various Norwegian Landfills. *Environ Sci Process Impacts* 2019, 21 (11), 1970–1979. https://doi.org/10.1039/c9em00170k.
- (7) Wang, Z.; Cousins, I. T.; Scheringer, M.; Hungerbühler, K. Fluorinated Alternatives to Long-Chain Perfluoroalkyl Carboxylic Acids (PFCAs), Perfluoroalkane Sulfonic Acids (PFSAs) and Their Potential Precursors. *Environ Int* 2013, 60 (2013), 242–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.08.021.
- (8) Lindstrom, A. B.; Strynar, M. J.; Libelo, E. L. Polyfluorinated Compounds: Past, Present, and Future. *Environ Sci Technol* 2011, 45 (19), 7954–7961. https://doi.org/10.1021/es2011622.
- (9) Fiedlera, S.; Pfistera, G.; Schramm, K. W. Poly- and Perfluorinated Compounds in Household Consumer Products. *Toxicol Environ Chem* 2010, 92 (10), 1801–1811. https://doi.org/10.1080/02772248.2010.491482.
- (10) Herzke, D.; Olsson, E.; Posner, S. Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs) in Consumer Products in Norway A Pilot Study. *Chemosphere* 2012, 88 (8), 980–987. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.03.035.
- (11) U.S. EPA. Drinking Water Health Advisories for PFOA and PFOS. *Environmental Protection Agency* **2016**, No. November, 1–4.
- (12) EPA. Drinking Water Health Advisories for PFOA and PFOS | US EPA. *Drinking Water Health Advisories* 2022, No. June.
- (13) Amin, A.; Sobhani, Z.; Liu, Y.; Dharmaraja, R. Environmental Technology & Innovation Recent Advances in the Analysis of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS)— A Review. *Environ Technol Innov* 2020, 19, 100879. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eti.2020.100879.

- (14) Lorenzo, M.; Campo, J.; Picó, Y. Analytical Challenges to Determine Emerging Persistent Organic Pollutants in Aquatic Ecosystems. *TrAC - Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 2018, 103, 137–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2018.04.003.
- (15) Skaggs, C. S.; Logue, B. A. Ultratrace Analysis of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Drinking Water Using Ice Concentration Linked with Extractive Stirrer and High Performance Liquid Chromatography – Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *J Chromatogr A* 2021, 1659, 462493. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2021.462493.
- (16) Yan, P.; Dong, S.; Manz, K. E.; Liu, C.; Woodcock, M. J.; Mezzari, M. P.; Abriola, L. M.; Pennell, K. D.; Natalie, L. C. Biotransformation of 8 : 2 Fluorotelomer Alcohol in Soil from Aqueous Film-Forming Foams (AFFFs) -Impacted Sites under Nitrate , Sulfate , and Iron-Reducing Conditions. *Environ Sci Technol* 2022. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.2c03669.
- (17) Chen, C.; Wang, J.; Li, L.; Xu, W.; Liu, J. Comparison of Fluorotelomer Alcohol Emissions from Wastewater Treatment Plants into Atmospheric and Aquatic Environments. *Environ Int* 2020, *139* (March). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105718.
- (18) Zhao, L.; McCausland, P. K.; Folsom, P. W.; Wolstenholme, B. W.; Sun, H.; Wang, N.; Buck, R. C. 6:2 Fluorotelomer Alcohol Aerobic Biotransformation in Activated Sludge from Two Domestic Wastewater Treatment Plants. *Chemosphere* 2013, 92 (4), 464–470. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.02.032.
- (19) Kurwadkar, S.; Dane, J.; Kanel, S. R.; Nadagouda, M. N.; Cawdrey, R. W.; Ambade, B.; Struckhoff, G. C.; Wilkin, R. Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Water and Wastewater: A Critical Review of Their Global Occurrence and Distribution. *Science of the Total Environment* 2022, *809*, 151003. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.151003.
- Shen, P.; Song, X.; Li, N.; Zhao, C. Toxic / Hazardous Substances and Environmental (20)Engineering Concentrations and Distributions of Fluorotelomer Alcohols and Perfluoroalkane Sulfonamido Substances in the Atmosphere in the Pearl River. Journal of Environmental Science and *Health*. Part A 2023. 0 (0).1 - 8. https://doi.org/10.1080/10934529.2023.2174332.
- (21) Yi, S.; Harding-marjanovic, K. C.; Houtz, E. F.; Antell, E.; Olivares, C.; Nichiporuk, R. V; Iavarone, A. T.; Zhuang, W.; Field, J. A.; Sedlak, D. L.; Alvarez-cohen, L. Biotransformation of 6:2 Fluorotelomer Thioether Amido Sulfonate in Aqueous Film-Forming Foams under Nitrate-Reducing Conditions. 2022. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.2c00063.
- (22) Ruan, T.; Jiang, G. Analytical Methodology for Identification of Novel Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in the Environment. *TrAC - Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 2017, 95, 122–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2017.07.024.
- (23) Zhao, L.; Folsom, P. W.; Wolstenholme, B. W.; Sun, H.; Wang, N.; Buck, R. C. 6:2 Fluorotelomer Alcohol Biotransformation in an Aerobic River Sediment System. *Chemosphere* 2013, 90 (2), 203–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.06.035.
- (24) Keränen, J.; Ahkola, H.; Knuutinen, J.; Herve, S.; Reinikainen, M.; Koistinen, J. Formation of PFOA from 8:2 FTOH in Closed-Bottle Experiments with Brackish Water. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 2013, 20 (11), 8001–8012. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-013-1975-4.
- (25) Koskela, A.; Finnilä, M. A.; Korkalainen, M.; Spulber, S.; Koponen, J.; Håkansson, H.; Tuukkanen, J.; Viluksela, M. Effects of Developmental Exposure to Perfluorooctanoic Acid

(PFOA) on Long Bone Morphology and Bone Cell Differentiation. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **2016**, *301*, 14–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2016.04.002.

- (26) Das, K. P.; Grey, B. E.; Rosen, M. B.; Wood, C. R.; Tatum-Gibbs, K. R.; Zehr, R. D.; Strynar, M. J.; Lindstrom, A. B.; Lau, C. Developmental Toxicity of Perfluorononanoic Acid in Mice. *Reproductive Toxicology* 2015, 51, 133–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2014.12.012.
- (27) Nguyen, G. T. H.; Nocentini, A.; Angeli, A.; Gratteri, P.; Supuran, C. T.; Donald, W. A. Perfluoroalkyl Substances of Significant Environmental Concern Can Strongly Inhibit Human Carbonic Anhydrase Isozymes. *Anal Chem* 2020, *92* (6), 4614–4622. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.0c00163.
- (28) Fu, Y.; Wang, T.; Fu, Q.; Wang, P.; Lu, Y. Associations between Serum Concentrations of Perfluoroalkyl Acids and Serum Lipid Levels in a Chinese Population. *Ecotoxicol Environ* Saf 2014, 106, 246–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2014.04.039.
- (29) Zeng, X. W.; Qian, Z.; Emo, B.; Vaughn, M.; Bao, J.; Qin, X. Di; Zhu, Y.; Li, J.; Lee, Y. L.; Dong, G. H. Association of Polyfluoroalkyl Chemical Exposure with Serum Lipids in Children. *Science of the Total Environment* 2015, *512–513*, 364–370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.01.042.
- Petersen, M. S.; Halling, J.; Jørgensen, N.; Nielsen, F.; Grandjean, P.; Jensen, T. K.; Weihe, P. Reproductive Function in a Population of Young Faroese Men with Elevated Exposure to Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs) and Perfluorinated Alkylate Substances (PFAS). *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2018, *15* (9), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15091880.
- (31) Bassler, J.; Ducatman, A.; Elliott, M.; Wen, S.; Wahlang, B.; Barnett, J.; Cave, M. C. Environmental Perfluoroalkyl Acid Exposures Are Associated with Liver Disease Characterized by Apoptosis and Altered Serum Adipocytokines. *Environmental Pollution* 2019, 247, 1055–1063. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.01.064.
- (32) DeLuca, N. M.; Angrish, M.; Wilkins, A.; Thayer, K.; Cohen Hubal, E. A. Human Exposure Pathways to Poly- and Perfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) from Indoor Media: A Systematic Review Protocol. *Environ Int* 2021, 146 (November 2020), 106308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106308.
- (33) Wen, X.; Xu, X. Exposure to Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances and Mortality in U. S. Adults : A. **2022**, *130* (June).
- (34) Steenland, K.; Winquist, A. PFAS and Cancer, a Scoping Review of the Epidemiologic Evidence. *Environ Res* **2021**, *194* (September 2020), 110690. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.110690.
- (35) Tarapore, P.; Ouyang, B. Perfluoroalkyl Chemicals and Male Reproductive Health: Do Pfoa and Pfos Increase Risk for Male Infertility? *Int J Environ Res Public Health* **2021**, *18* (7). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18073794.
- (36) Abdullah Soheimi, S. S.; Abdul Rahman, A.; Abdul Latip, N.; Ibrahim, E.; Sheikh Abdul Kadir, S. H. Understanding the Impact of Perfluorinated Compounds on Cardiovascular Diseases and Their Risk Factors: A Meta-analysis Study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2021, *18* (16). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18168345.
- (37) ATSDR. Toxicological Profile for Perfluoroalkyls Release May 2021. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry 2021, No. May, 1–993.
- (38) Vieira, V. M.; Hoffman, K.; Shin, H. M.; Weinberg, J. M.; Webster, T. F.; Fletcher, T. Perfluorooctanoic Acid Exposure and Cancer Outcomes in a Contaminated Community: A

Geographic Analysis. *Environ Health Perspect* **2013**, *121* (3), 318–323. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1205829.

- (39) Yeung, L. W. Y.; Guruge, K. S.; Taniyasu, S.; Yamashita, N.; Angus, P. W.; Herath, C. B. Profiles of Perfluoroalkyl Substances in the Liver and Serum of Patients with Liver Cancer and Cirrhosis in Australia. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf* 2013, 96, 139–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2013.06.006.
- (40) Interactive Map: PFAS Contamination Crisis: New Data Show 3,186 Sites in 50 States. https://www.ewg.org/interactive-maps/pfas_contamination/map/ (accessed 2023-11-13).
- (41) Kotlarz, N.; McCord, J.; Collier, D.; Suzanne Lea, C.; Strynar, M.; Lindstrom, A. B.; Wilkie, A. A.; Islam, J. Y.; Matney, K.; Tarte, P.; Polera, M. E.; Burdette, K.; Dewitt, J.; May, K.; Smart, R. C.; Knappe, D. R. U.; Hoppin, J. A. Measurement of Novel, Drinking Water-Associated Pfas in Blood from Adults and Children in Wilmington, North Carolina. *Environ Health Perspect* 2020, *128* (7), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP6837.
- (42) Hu, X. C.; Andrews, D. Q.; Lindstrom, A. B.; Bruton, T. A.; Schaider, L. A.; Grandjean, P.; Lohmann, R.; Carignan, C. C.; Blum, A.; Balan, S. A.; Higgins, C. P.; Sunderland, E. M. Detection of Poly- and Perfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs) in U.S. Drinking Water Linked to Industrial Sites, Military Fire Training Areas, and Wastewater Treatment Plants. *Environ Sci Technol Lett* 2016, 3 (10), 344–350. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.6b00260.
- (43) Buck, R. C.; Franklin, J.; Berger, U.; Conder, J. M.; Cousins, I. T.; Voogt, P. De; Jensen, A. A.; Kannan, K.; Mabury, S. A.; van Leeuwen, S. P. J. Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in the Environment: Terminology, Classification, and Origins. *Integr Environ Assess Manag* 2011, 7 (4), 513–541. https://doi.org/10.1002/ieam.258.
- (44) Bach, C.; Boiteux, V.; Hemard, J.; Colin, A.; Rosin, C.; Munoz, J. F.; Dauchy, X. Simultaneous Determination of Perfluoroalkyl Iodides, Perfluoroalkane Sulfonamides, Fluorotelomer Alcohols, Fluorotelomer Iodides and Fluorotelomer Acrylates and Methacrylates in Water and Sediments Using Solid-Phase Microextraction-Gas Chromatography/Mas. J Chromatogr A 2016, 1448, 98–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2016.04.025.
- (45) Schenker, U.; Scheringer, M.; Macleod, M.; Martin, J. W.; Cousins, I. T.; Hungerbühler, K. Contribution of Volatile Precursor Substances to the Flux of Perfluorooctanoate to the Arctic. *Environ Sci Technol* 2008, *42* (10), 3710–3716. https://doi.org/10.1021/es703165m.
- (46) Pan, Y.; Zhang, H.; Cui, Q.; Sheng, N.; Yeung, L. W. Y.; Sun, Y.; Guo, Y.; Dai, J. Worldwide Distribution of Novel Perfluoroether Carboxylic and Sulfonic Acids in Surface Water. *Environ Sci Technol* 2018, 52 (14), 7621–7629. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b00829.
- (47) Nakayama, S. F.; Yoshikane, M.; Onoda, Y.; Nishihama, Y.; Iwai-Shimada, M.; Takagi, M.; Kobayashi, Y.; Isobe, T. Worldwide Trends in Tracing Poly- and Perfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) in the Environment. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 2019, *121*, 115410. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2019.02.011.
- (48) Coggan, T. L.; Moodie, D.; Kolobaric, A.; Szabo, D.; Shimeta, J.; Crosbie, N. D.; Lee, E.; Fernandes, M.; Clarke, B. O. An Investigation into Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) in Nineteen Australian Wastewater Treatment Plants (WWTPs). *Heliyon* 2019, 5 (8), e02316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02316.
- (49) Kim, K. Y.; Ndabambi, M.; Choi, S.; Oh, J.-E. Legacy and Novel Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Industrial Wastewater and the Receiving River Water:

Temporal Changes in Relative Abundances of Regulated Compounds and Alternatives. *Water Res* **2021**, *191*, 116830. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2021.116830.

- (50) Ateia, M.; Maroli, A.; Tharayil, N.; Karanfil, T. The Overlooked Short- and Ultrashort-Chain Poly- and Perfluorinated Substances: A Review. *Chemosphere* 2019, 220, 866–882. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.12.186.
- (51) Appleman, T. D.; Higgins, C. P.; Quiñones, O.; Vanderford, B. J.; Kolstad, C.; Zeigler-Holady, J. C.; Dickenson, E. R. V. Treatment of Poly- and Perfluoroalkyl Substances in U.S. Full-Scale Water Treatment Systems. *Water Res* 2014, *51*, 246–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.10.067.
- (52) Munoz, G.; Labadie, P.; Botta, F.; Lestremau, F.; Lopez, B.; Geneste, E.; Pardon, P.; Dévier, M. H.; Budzinski, H. Occurrence Survey and Spatial Distribution of Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Surfactants in Groundwater, Surface Water, and Sediments from Tropical Environments. *Science of the Total Environment* 2017, 607–608, 243–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.06.146.
- (53) Pan, Y.; Zhang, H.; Cui, Q.; Sheng, N.; Yeung, L. W. Y.; Sun, Y.; Guo, Y.; Dai, J. Worldwide Distribution of Novel Perfluoroether Carboxylic and Sulfonic Acids in Surface Water. *Environ Sci Technol* 2018, 52 (14), 7621–7629. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b00829.
- (54) Kaboré, H. A.; Vo Duy, S.; Munoz, G.; Méité, L.; Desrosiers, M.; Liu, J.; Sory, T. K.; Sauvé, S. Worldwide Drinking Water Occurrence and Levels of Newly-Identified Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances. *Science of the Total Environment* 2018, 616–617, 1089–1100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.10.210.
- (55) Yamashita, N.; Taniyasu, S.; Petrick, G.; Wei, S.; Gamo, T.; Lam, P. K. S.; Kannan, K. Perfluorinated Acids as Novel Chemical Tracers of Global Circulation of Ocean Waters. *Chemosphere* 2008, 70 (7), 1247–1255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2007.07.079.
- (56) Yeung, L. W. Y.; Dassuncao, C.; Mabury, S.; Sunderland, E. M.; Zhang, X.; Lohmann, R. Vertical Profiles, Sources, and Transport of PFASs in the Arctic Ocean. *Environ Sci Technol* 2017, *51* (12), 6735–6744. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b00788.
- (57) Higgins, C. P.; Field, J. A.; Criddle, C. S.; Luthy, R. G. Quantitative Determination of Perfluorochemicals in Sediments and Domestic Sludge. *Environ Sci Technol* 2005, *39* (11), 3946–3956. https://doi.org/10.1021/es048245p.
- (58) Dauchy, X.; Boiteux, V.; Bach, C.; Colin, A.; Hemard, J.; Rosin, C.; Munoz, J. F. Mass Flows and Fate of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs) in the Wastewater Treatment Plant of a Fluorochemical Manufacturing Facility. *Science of the Total Environment* 2017, 576, 549–558. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.10.130.
- (59) Wang, Y.; Kim, J.; Huang, C. H.; Hawkins, G. L.; Li, K.; Chen, Y.; Huang, Q. Occurrence of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Water: A Review. *Environ Sci (Camb)* 2022, 8 (6), 1136–1151. https://doi.org/10.1039/d1ew00851j.
- (60) Xiao, F. Emerging Poly- and Perfluoroalkyl Substances in the Aquatic Environment: A Review of Current Literature. Water Res 2017, 124, 482–495. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.07.024.
- (61) Gallen, C.; Eaglesham, G.; Drage, D.; Nguyen, T. H.; Mueller, J. F. A Mass Estimate of Perfluoroalkyl Substance (PFAS) Release from Australian Wastewater Treatment Plants. *Chemosphere* 2018, 208, 975–983. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.06.024.

- (62) Tavasoli, E.; Luek, J. L.; Malley, J. P.; Mouser, P. J. Distribution and Fate of Per- And Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) in Wastewater Treatment Facilities. *Environ Sci Process Impacts* 2021, 23 (6), 903–913. https://doi.org/10.1039/d1em00032b.
- (63) Vestergren, R.; Orata, F.; Berger, U.; Cousins, I. T. Bioaccumulation of Perfluoroalkyl Acids in Dairy Cows in a Naturally Contaminated Environment. *Environmental Science* and Pollution Research 2013, 20 (11), 7959–7969. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-013-1722-x.
- (64) Prieto, A.; Basauri, O.; Rodil, R.; Usobiaga, A.; Fernández, L. A.; Etxebarria, N.; Zuloaga, O. Stir-Bar Sorptive Extraction: A View on Method Optimisation, Novel Applications, Limitations and Potential Solutions. J Chromatogr A 2010, 1217 (16), 2642–2666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2009.12.051.
- (65) Holt, R. U. Mechanisms Effecting Analysis of Volatile Flavour Components by Solid-Phase Microextraction and Gas Chromatography. *J Chromatogr A* **2001**, *937* (1–2), 107–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9673(01)01302-4.
- (66) Llompart, M.; Lourido, M.; Landín, P.; García-Jares, C.; Cela, R. Optimization of a Derivatization—Solid-Phase Microextraction Method for the Analysis of Thirty Phenolic Pollutants in Water Samples. J Chromatogr A 2002, 963 (1–2), 137–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9673(02)00646-5.
- (67) Dhore, R.; Murthy, G. S. Per/Polyfluoroalkyl Substances Production, Applications and Environmental Impacts. *Bioresour Technol* 2021, 341 (August), 125808. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2021.125808.
- (68) Evich, M. G.; Davis, M. J. B.; McCord, J. P.; Acrey, B.; Awkerman, J. A.; Knappe, D. R. U.; Lindstrom, A. B.; Speth, T. F.; Tebes-Stevens, C.; Strynar, M. J.; Wang, Z.; Weber, E. J.; Henderson, W. M.; Washington, J. W. Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in the Environment. *Science (1979)* 2022, *375* (6580). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abg9065.
- (69) Ganesan, S.; Chawengkijwanich, C.; Gopalakrishnan, M. Detection Methods for Sub-Nanogram Level of Emerging Pollutants Per and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 2022, 168 (August), 113377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2022.113377.
- (70) Shafique, U.; Schulze, S.; Slawik, C.; Kunz, S.; Paschke, A.; Schüürmann, G. Gas Chromatographic Determination of Perfluorocarboxylic Acids in Aqueous Samples – A Tutorial Review. *Anal Chim Acta* 2017, 949, 8–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2016.10.026.
- (71) Moody, C. A.; Wai Chi Kwan; Martin, J. W.; Muir, D. C. G.; Mabury, S. A. Determination of Perfluorinated Surfactants in Surface Water Samples by Two Independent Analytical Techniques: Liquid Chromatography/Tandem Mass Spectrometry and 19F NMR. *Anal Chem* 2001, 73 (10), 2200–2206. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac0100648.
- (72) Hebert, G. N.; Odom, M. A.; Bowman, S. C.; Strauss, S. H. Attenuated Total Reflectance FTIR Detection and Quantification of Low Concentrations of Aqueous Polyatomic Anions. *Anal Chem* 2004, 76 (3), 781–787. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac034915i.
- (73) Rodriguez, K. L.; Hwang, J. H.; Esfahani, A. R.; Sadmani, A. H. M. A.; Lee, W. H. Recent Developments of PFAS-Detecting Sensors and Future Direction: A Review. *Micromachines (Basel)* 2020, *11* (7). https://doi.org/10.3390/mi11070667.
- (74) Feng, H.; Ruan, Y.; Zhang, K.; Lam, P. K. S. Current Analytical Methodologies and Gaps for Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances Determination in the Marine Environment. *TrAC* -

Trends in Analytical Chemistry **2019**, *121*, 115372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2018.12.026.

- (75) Houtz, E. F.; Sedlak, D. L. Oxidative Conversion as a Means of Detecting Precursors to Perfluoroalkyl Acids in Urban Runoff. *Environ Sci Technol* 2012, 46 (17), 9342–9349. https://doi.org/10.1021/es302274g.
- (76) Brase, R. A.; Mullin, E. J.; Spink, D. C. Legacy and Emerging Per-and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances: Analytical Techniques, Environmental Fate, and Health Effects. *Int J Mol Sci* 2021, 22 (3), 1–30. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22030995.
- (77) Pan, Y.; Wang, J.; Yeung, L. W. Y.; Wei, S.; Dai, J. Analysis of Emerging Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances: Progress and Current Issues. *TrAC - Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 2020, *124*, 115481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2019.04.013.
- (78) Shen, Y.; Wang, L.; Ding, Y.; Liu, S.; Li, Y.; Zhou, Z.; Liang, Y. Trends in the Analysis and Exploration of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) in Environmental Matrices: A Review. Crit Rev Anal Chem 2023, 0 (0), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408347.2023.2231535.
- (79) Winchell, L. J.; Wells, M. J. M.; Ross, J. J.; Fonoll, X.; Norton, J. W.; Kuplicki, S.; Khan, M.; Bell, K. Y. Analyses of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) through the Urban Water Cycle: Toward Achieving an Integrated Analytical Workflow across Aqueous, Solid, and Gaseous Matrices in Water and Wastewater Treatment. *Science of The Total Environment* 2021, 774, 145257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145257.
- (80) Yamashita, N.; Kannan, K.; Taniyasu, S.; Horii, Y.; Okazawa, T.; Petrick, G.; Gamo, T. Analysis of Perfluorinated Acids at Parts-per-Quadrillion Levels in Seawater Using Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *Environ Sci Technol* 2004, *38* (21), 5522– 5528. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0492541.
- (81) Yamashita, N.; Kannan, K.; Taniyasu, S.; Horii, Y.; Okazawa, T.; Petrick, G.; Gamo, T. Analysis of Perfluorinated Acids at Parts-per-Quadrillion Levels in Seawater Using Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *Environ Sci Technol* 2004, *38* (21), 5522– 5528. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0492541.
- (82) Stróżyńska, M.; Schuhen, K. Extraction and Derivatization for Perfluorocarboxylic Acids in Liquid and Solid Matrices: A Review. *Analytical Science Advances* 2020, No. September, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1002/ansa.202000089.
- (83) Fang, C.; Dharmarajan, R.; Megharaj, M.; Naidu, R. Gold Nanoparticle-Based Optical Sensors for Selected Anionic Contaminants. *TrAC - Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 2017, 86, 143–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2016.10.008.
- (84) Moody, C. A.; Field, J. A. Determination of Perfluorocarboxylates in Groundwater Impacted by Fire- Fighting Activity. *Environ Sci Technol* 1999, 33 (16), 2800–2806. https://doi.org/10.1021/es981355+.
- (85) Alzaga, R.; Bayona, J. M. Determination of Perfluorocarboxylic Acids in Aqueous Matrices by Ion-Pair Solid-Phase Microextraction-in-Port Derivatization-Gas Chromatography-Negative Ion Chemical Ionization Mass Spectrometry. *J Chromatogr A* 2004, *1042* (1–2), 155–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2004.05.015.
- (86) Scott, B. F.; Moody, C. A.; Spencer, C.; Small, J. M.; Muir, D. C. G.; Mabury, S. A. Analysis for Perfluorocarboxylic Acids/Anions in Surface Waters and Precipitation Using GC-MS and Analysis of PFOA from Large-Volume Samples. *Environ Sci Technol* 2006, 40 (20), 6405–6410. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0611310.

- (87) Dufková, V.; Čabala, R.; Maradová, D.; Štícha, M. A Fast Derivatization Procedure for Gas Chromatographic Analysis of Perfluorinated Organic Acids. *J Chromatogr A* 2009, *1216* (49), 8659–8664. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2009.10.042.
- (88) Orata, F.; Quinete, N.; Wilken, R. D. Long Chain Perfluorinated Alkyl Acids Derivatisation and Identification in Biota and Abiota Matrices Using Gas Chromatography. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol* **2009**, *83* (5), 630–635. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-009-9756-y.
- (89) De Silva, A. O.; Muir, D. C. G.; Mabury, S. A. Distribution of Perfluorocarboxylate Isomers in Select Samples from the North American Environment. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2009, *28* (9), 1801–1814. https://doi.org/10.1897/08-500.1.
- (90) Gołebiowski, M.; Siedlecka, E.; Paszkiewicz, M.; Brzozowski, K.; Stepnowski, P. Perfluorocarboxylic Acids in Cell Growth Media and Technologically Treated Waters: Determination with GC and GC-MS. *J Pharm Biomed Anal* 2011, 54 (3), 577–581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2010.09.013.
- (91) Monteleone, M.; Naccarato, A.; Sindona, G.; Tagarelli, A. A Rapid and Sensitive Assay of Perfluorocarboxylic Acids in Aqueous Matrices by Headspace Solid Phase Microextraction-Gas Chromatography-Triple Quadrupole Mass Spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 2012, 1251, 160–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2012.06.033.
- (92) Dufková, V.; Čabala, R.; Ševčík, V. Determination of C 5-C 12 Perfluoroalkyl Carboxylic Acids in River Water Samples in the Czech Republic by GC-MS after SPE Preconcentration. *Chemosphere* 2012, 87 (5), 463–469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.12.029.
- (93) Liu, W. L.; Ko, Y. C.; Hwang, B. H.; Li, Z. G.; Yang, T. C. C.; Lee, M. R. Determination of Perfluorocarboxylic Acids in Water by Ion-Pair Dispersive Liquid-Liquid Microextraction and Gas Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry with Injection Port Derivatization. *Anal Chim Acta* 2012, 726, 28–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2012.03.019.
- (94) Jurado-Sánchez, B.; Ballesteros, E.; Gallego, M. Semiautomated Solid-Phase Extraction Followed by Derivatisation and Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry for Determination of Perfluoroalkyl Acids in Water. J Chromatogr A 2013, 1318, 65–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2013.10.034.
- (95) Portolés, T.; Rosales, L. E.; Sancho, J. V.; Santos, F. J.; Moyano, E. Gas Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry with Atmospheric Pressure Chemical Ionization for Fluorotelomer Alcohols and Perfluorinated Sulfonamides Determination. *J Chromatogr A* 2015, 1413, 107–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2015.08.016.
- (96) Bach, C.; Boiteux, V.; Hemard, J.; Colin, A.; Rosin, C.; Munoz, J. F.; Dauchy, X. Simultaneous Determination of Perfluoroalkyl Iodides, Perfluoroalkane Sulfonamides, Fluorotelomer Alcohols, Fluorotelomer Iodides and Fluorotelomer Acrylates and Methacrylates in Water and Sediments Using Solid-Phase Microextraction-Gas Chromatography/Mas. J Chromatogr A 2016, 1448, 98–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2016.04.025.
- (97) Stróżyńska, M.; Schuhen, K. Dispersive Solid-Phase Extraction Followed by Triethylsilyl Derivatization and Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry for Perfluorocarboxylic Acids Determination in Water Samples. J Chromatogr A 2019, 1597, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2019.03.008.
- (98) Hu, Z.; Li, Q.; Xu, L.; Zhang, W.; Zhang, Y. Determination of Perfluoroalkyl Carboxylic Acids in Environmental Water Samples by Dispersive Liquid–Liquid Microextraction with

GC-MS Analysis. J Liq Chromatogr Relat Technol **2020**, 43 (7–8), 282–290. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826076.2020.1728311.

- (99) Li, Z.; Sun, H. Cost-Effective Detection of Perfluoroalkyl Carboxylic Acids with Gas Chromatography: Optimization of Derivatization Approaches and Method Validation. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020, 17 (1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17010100.
- (100) Ji, Y.; Cui, Z.; Li, X.; Wang, Z.; Zhang, J.; Li, A. Simultaneous Determination of Nine Perfluoroalkyl Carboxylic Acids by a Series of Amide Acetals Derivatization and Gas Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 2020, 1622, 461132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2020.461132.
- (101) Ayala-Cabrera, J. F.; Moyano, E.; Santos, F. J. Gas Chromatography and Liquid Chromatography Coupled to Mass Spectrometry for the Determination of Fluorotelomer Olefins, Fluorotelomer Alcohols, Perfluoroalkyl Sulfonamides and Sulfonamido-Ethanols in Water. J Chromatogr A 2020, 1609, 460463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2019.460463.
- (102) Ye, R. X.; Di Lorenzo, R. A.; Clouthier, J. T.; Young, C. J.; VandenBoer, T. C. A Rapid Derivatization for Quantitation of Perfluorinated Carboxylic Acids from Aqueous Matrices by Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry. *Anal Chem* 2023, 95 (19), 7648–7655. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.3c00593.
- (103) Dufková, V.; Čabala, R.; Ševčík, V. Determination of C 5-C 12 Perfluoroalkyl Carboxylic Acids in River Water Samples in the Czech Republic by GC-MS after SPE Preconcentration. *Chemosphere* 2012, 87 (5), 463–469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.12.029.
- (104) Jurado-Sánchez, B.; Ballesteros, E.; Gallego, M. Semiautomated Solid-Phase Extraction Followed by Derivatisation and Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry for Determination of Perfluoroalkyl Acids in Water. J Chromatogr A 2013, 1318, 65–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2013.10.034.
- (105) Ji, Y.; Cui, Z.; Li, X.; Wang, Z.; Zhang, J.; Li, A. Simultaneous Determination of Nine Perfluoroalkyl Carboxylic Acids by a Series of Amide Acetals Derivatization and Gas Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 2020, 1622, 461132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2020.461132.
- (106) Scott, B. F.; Moody, C. A.; Spencer, C.; Small, J. M.; Muir, D. C. G.; Mabury, S. A. Analysis for Perfluorocarboxylic Acids/Anions in Surface Waters and Precipitation Using GC-MS and Analysis of PFOA from Large-Volume Samples. *Environ Sci Technol* 2006, 40 (20), 6405–6410. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0611310.
- (107) Stróżyńska, M.; Schuhen, K. Derivatization of Perfluorocarboxylic Acids with N,N-Dimethylformamide Dimethylacetal Prior to GC–MS Analysis. *Chromatographia* 2020, 83 (3), 477–482. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10337-019-03850-6.
- (108) Stróżyńska, M.; Schuhen, K. Dispersive Solid-Phase Extraction Followed by Triethylsilyl Derivatization and Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry for Perfluorocarboxylic Acids Determination in Water Samples. J Chromatogr A 2019, 1597, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2019.03.008.
- (109) Gołebiowski, M.; Siedlecka, E.; Paszkiewicz, M.; Brzozowski, K.; Stepnowski, P. Perfluorocarboxylic Acids in Cell Growth Media and Technologically Treated Waters: Determination with GC and GC-MS. *J Pharm Biomed Anal* 2011, 54 (3), 577–581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2010.09.013.

- (110) Dufková, V.; Čabala, R.; Maradová, D.; Štícha, M. A Fast Derivatization Procedure for Gas Chromatographic Analysis of Perfluorinated Organic Acids. *J Chromatogr A* 2009, *1216* (49), 8659–8664. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2009.10.042.
- (111) Liu, Y.; D'Agostino, L. A.; Qu, G.; Jiang, G.; Martin, J. W. High-Resolution Mass Spectrometry (HRMS) Methods for Nontarget Discovery and Characterization of Poly- and per-Fluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs) in Environmental and Human Samples. *TrAC - Trends in Analytical Chemistry* **2019**, *121*, 115420. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2019.02.021.
- (112) Winchell, L. J.; Wells, M. J. M.; Ross, J. J.; Fonoll, X.; Norton, J. W.; Kuplicki, S.; Khan, M.; Bell, K. Y. Analyses of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) through the Urban Water Cycle: Toward Achieving an Integrated Analytical Workflow across Aqueous, Solid, and Gaseous Matrices in Water and Wastewater Treatment. *Science of The Total Environment* 2021, 774, 145257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145257.
- (113) Zacs, D.; Bartkevics, V. Trace Determination of Perfluorooctane Sulfonate and Perfluorooctanoic Acid in Environmental Samples (Surface Water, Wastewater, Biota, Sediments, and Sewage Sludge) Using Liquid Chromatography Orbitrap Mass Spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 2016, 1473, 109–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2016.10.060.
- (114) McCord, J.; Strynar, M. Identifying Per- and Polyfluorinated Chemical Species with a Combined Targeted and Non-Targeted-Screening High-Resolution Mass Spectrometry Workflow. *JoVE (Journal of Visualized Experiments)* 2019, 2019 (146), e59142. https://doi.org/10.3791/59142.
- (115) Kotlarz, N.; McCord, J.; Collier, D.; Suzanne Lea, C.; Strynar, M.; Lindstrom, A. B.; Wilkie, A. A.; Islam, J. Y.; Matney, K.; Tarte, P.; Polera, M. E.; Burdette, K.; Dewitt, J.; May, K.; Smart, R. C.; Knappe, D. R. U.; Hoppin, J. A. Measurement of Novel, Drinking Water-Associated Pfas in Blood from Adults and Children in Wilmington, North Carolina. *Environ Health Perspect* **2020**, *128* (7), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP6837.
- (116) Hughey, C. A.; Hendrickson, C. L.; Rodgers, R. P.; Marshall, A. G.; Qian, K. Kendrick Mass Defect Spectrum: A Compact Visual Analysis for Ultrahigh-Resolution Broadband Mass Spectra. *Anal Chem* 2001, 73 (19), 4676–4681. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac010560w.
- (117) Wang, Y.; Yu, N.; Zhu, X.; Guo, H.; Jiang, J.; Wang, X.; Shi, W.; Wu, J.; Yu, H.; Wei, S. Suspect and Nontarget Screening of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Wastewater from a Fluorochemical Manufacturing Park. *Environ Sci Technol* 2018, *52* (19), 11007–11016. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b03030.
- (118) Ruan, T.; Jiang, G. Analytical Methodology for Identification of Novel Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in the Environment. *TrAC - Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 2017, 95, 122–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2017.07.024.
- (119) Nakayama, S. F.; Yoshikane, M.; Onoda, Y.; Nishihama, Y.; Iwai-Shimada, M.; Takagi, M.; Kobayashi, Y.; Isobe, T. Worldwide Trends in Tracing Poly- and Perfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) in the Environment. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 2019, *121*, 115410. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2019.02.011.
- (120) Trojanowicz, M.; Musijowski, J.; Koc, M.; Donten, M. A. Determination of Total Organic Fluorine (TOF) in Environmental Samples Using Flow-Injection and Chromatographic Methods. *Analytical Methods* 2011, 3 (5), 1039–1045. https://doi.org/10.1039/c0ay00719f.
- (121) Musijowski, J.; Trojanowicz, M.; Szostek, B.; da Costa Lima, J. L. F.; Lapa, R.; Yamashita, H.; Takayanagi, T.; Motomizu, S. Flow-Injection Determination of Total Organic Fluorine

with off-Line Defluorination Reaction on a Solid Sorbent Bed. Anal Chim Acta 2007, 600 (1-2 SPEC. ISS.), 147–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2007.03.068.

- (122) Amin, A.; Sobhani, Z.; Liu, Y.; Dharmaraja, R. Environmental Technology & Innovation Recent Advances in the Analysis of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS)— A Review. *Environ Technol Innov* 2020, 19, 100879. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eti.2020.100879.
- (123) Koponen, J.; Rantakokko, P.; Airaksinen, R.; Kiviranta, H. Determination of Selected Perfluorinated Alkyl Acids and Persistent Organic Pollutants from a Small Volume Human Serum Sample Relevant for Epidemiological Studies. *J Chromatogr A* 2013, *1309*, 48–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2013.07.064.
- (124) González-Barreiro, C.; Martínez-Carballo, E.; Sitka, A.; Scharf, S.; Gans, O. Method Optimization for Determination of Selected Perfluorinated Alkylated Substances in Water Samples. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 2006, 386 (7–8), 2123–2132. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-006-0902-7.
- (125) Villaverde-de-Sáa, E.; Racamonde, I.; Quintana, J. B.; Rodil, R.; Cela, R. Ion-Pair Sorptive Extraction of Perfluorinated Compounds from Water with Low-Cost Polymeric Materials: Polyethersulfone vs Polydimethylsiloxane. *Anal Chim Acta* 2012, 740, 50–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2012.06.027.
- (126) Huang, Y.; Li, H.; Bai, M.; Huang, X. Efficient Extraction of Perfluorocarboxylic Acids in Complex Samples with a Monolithic Adsorbent Combining Fluorophilic and Anion-Exchange Interactions. *Anal Chim Acta* 2018, 1011, 50–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2018.01.032.
- (127) Wang, J.; Shi, Y.; Cai, Y. A Highly Selective Dispersive Liquid–Liquid Microextraction Approach Based on the Unique Fluorous Affinity for the Extraction and Detection of perand Polyfluoroalkyl Substances Coupled with High Performance Liquid Chromatography Tandem–Mass Spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 2018, 1544, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2018.02.047.
- (128) Prieto, A.; Basauri, O.; Rodil, R.; Usobiaga, A.; Fernández, L. A.; Etxebarria, N.; Zuloaga, O. Stir-Bar Sorptive Extraction: A View on Method Optimisation, Novel Applications, Limitations and Potential Solutions. J Chromatogr A 2010, 1217 (16), 2642–2666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2009.12.051.
- (129) Eisert, R.; Pawliszyn, J. New Trends in Solid-Phase Microextraction. *Crit Rev Anal Chem* **1997**, *27* (2), 103–135. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408349708050585.
- (130) Llompart, M.; Lourido, M.; Landín, P.; García-Jares, C.; Cela, R. Optimization of a Derivatization—Solid-Phase Microextraction Method for the Analysis of Thirty Phenolic Pollutants in Water Samples. J Chromatogr A 2002, 963 (1–2), 137–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9673(02)00646-5.
- (131) David, F.; Sandra, P. Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction for Trace Analysis. *J Chromatogr A* 2007, *1152* (1–2), 54–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2007.01.032.
- (132) Baltussen, E.; Sandra, P.; David, F.; Cramers, C. Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE), a Novel Extraction Technique for Aqueous Samples: Theory and Principles. *Journal of Microcolumn Separations* 1999, *11* (10), 737–747. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1520-667X(1999)11:10<737::AID-MCS7>3.0.CO;2-4.
- (133) Aparicio, I.; Martín, J.; Santos, J. L.; Malvar, J. L.; Alonso, E. Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction and Liquid Chromatography–Tandem Mass Spectrometry Determination of Polar and Non-

Polar Emerging and Priority Pollutants in Environmental Waters. *J Chromatogr A* 2017, 1500, 43–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2017.04.007.

- (134) Yao, X.; Zhou, Z.; He, M.; Chen, B.; Liang, Y.; Hu, B. One-Pot Polymerization of Monolith Coated Stir Bar for High Efficient Sorptive Extraction of Perfluoroalkyl Acids from Environmental Water Samples Followed by High Performance Liquid Chromatography-Electrospray Tandem Mass Spectrometry Detection. J Chromatogr A 2018, 1553, 7–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2018.04.014.
- (135) Villaverde-de-Sáa, E.; Racamonde, I.; Quintana, J. B.; Rodil, R.; Cela, R. Ion-Pair Sorptive Extraction of Perfluorinated Compounds from Water with Low-Cost Polymeric Materials: Polyethersulfone vs Polydimethylsiloxane. *Anal Chim Acta* 2012, 740, 50–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2012.06.027.
- (136) Habib, A.; Landa, E. N.; Holbrook, K. L.; Walker, W. S.; Lee, W.-Y. Rapid, Efficient, and Green Analytical Technique for Determination of Fluorotelomer Alcohol in Water by Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction. *Chemosphere* 2023, 338, 139439. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE.2023.139439.
- (137) Ellington, J. J.; Washington, J. W.; Evans, J. J.; Jenkins, T. M.; Hafner, S. C.; Neill, M. P. Analysis of Fluorotelomer Alcohols in Soils: Optimization of Extraction and Chromatography. J Chromatogr A 2009, 1216 (28), 5347–5354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2009.05.035.
- (138) Liu, J.; Wang, N.; Szostek, B.; Buck, R. C.; Panciroli, P. K.; Folsom, P. W.; Sulecki, L. M.; Bellin, C. A. 6-2 Fluorotelomer Alcohol Aerobic Biodegradation in Soil and Mixed Bacterial Culture. *Chemosphere* 2010, 78 (4), 437–444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.10.044.
- (139) Sinclair, E.; Kim, S. K.; Akinleye, H. B.; Kannan, K. Quantitation of Gas-Phase Perfluoroalkyl Surfactants and Fluorotelomer Alcohols Released from Nonstick Cookware and Microwave Popcorn Bags. *Environ Sci Technol* 2007, *41* (4), 1180–1185. https://doi.org/10.1021/es062377w.
- (140) Roth, J.; Abusallout, I.; Hill, T.; Holton, C.; Thapa, U.; Hanigan, D. Release of Volatile Perand Polyfluoroalkyl Substances from Aqueous Film-Forming Foam. *Environ Sci Technol Lett* **2020**, 7 (3), 164–170. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.0c00052.
- (141) Larsen, B. S.; Stchur, P.; Szostek, B.; Bachmura, S. F.; Rowand, R. C.; Prickett, K. B.; Korzeniowski, S. H.; Buck, R. C. Method Development for the Determination of Residual Fluorotelomer Raw Materials and Perflurooctanoate in Fluorotelomer-Based Products by Gas Chromatography and Liquid Chromatography Mass Spectrometry. *J Chromatogr A* 2006, 1110 (1–2), 117–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2006.01.086.
- (142) Dauchy, X.; Boiteux, V.; Bach, C.; Colin, A.; Hemard, J.; Rosin, C.; Munoz, J. F. Mass Flows and Fate of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs) in the Wastewater Treatment Plant of a Fluorochemical Manufacturing Facility. *Science of the Total Environment* 2017, 576, 549–558. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.10.130.
- (143) Dinglasan, M. J. A.; Ye, Y.; Edwards, E. A.; Mabury, S. A. Fluorotelomer Alcohol Biodegradation Yields Poly- and Perfluorinated Acids. *Environ Sci Technol* 2004, 38 (10), 2857–2864. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0350177.
- (144) Chen, H.; Peng, H.; Yang, M.; Hu, J.; Zhang, Y. Detection, Occurrence, and Fate of Fluorotelomer Alcohols in Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plants. *Environ Sci Technol* 2017, *51* (16), 8953–8961. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b00315.

- (145) Ayala-Cabrera, J. F.; Contreras-Llin, A.; Moyano, E.; Santos, F. J. A Novel Methodology for the Determination of Neutral Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Water by Gas Chromatography-Atmospheric Pressure Photoionisation-High Resolution Mass Spectrometry. *Anal Chim Acta* 2020, *1100*, 97–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2019.12.004.
- (146) Dimzon, I. K.; Westerveld, J.; Gremmel, C.; Frömel, T.; Knepper, T. P.; de Voogt, P. Sampling and Simultaneous Determination of Volatile Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Wastewater Treatment Plant Air and Water. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 2017, 409 (5), 1395– 1404. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-016-0072-1.
- (147) Liu, X.; Guo, Z.; Folk, E. E.; Roache, N. F. Determination of Fluorotelomer Alcohols in Selected Consumer Products and Preliminary Investigation of Their Fate in the Indoor Environment. *Chemosphere* 2015, 129, 81–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.06.012.
- (148) Schlummer, M.; Gruber, L.; Fiedler, D.; Kizlauskas, M.; Müller, J. Detection of Fluorotelomer Alcohols in Indoor Environments and Their Relevance for Human Exposure. *Environ Int* 2013, 57–58, 42–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.03.010.
- (149) Wu, Y.; Chang, V. W. C. Development of Analysis of Volatile Polyfluorinated Alkyl Substances in Indoor Air Using Thermal Desorption-Gas Chromatography–Mass Spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 2012, 1238, 114–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2012.03.053.
- (150) Riedel, T. P.; Lang, J. R.; Strynar, M. J.; Lindstrom, A. B.; Offenberg, J. H. Gas-Phase Detection of Fluorotelomer Alcohols and Other Oxygenated Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances by Chemical Ionization Mass Spectrometry. *Environ Sci Technol Lett* **2019**, 6 (5), 289–293. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.9b00196.
- (151) Jahnke, A.; Ahrens, L.; Ebinghaus, R.; Berger, U.; Barber, J. L.; Temme, C. An Improved Method for the Analysis of Volatile Polyfluorinated Alkyl Substances in Environmental Air Samples. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 2007, 387 (3), 965–975. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-006-1008-y.
- (152) Wang, N.; Szostek, B.; Buck, R. C.; Folsom, P. W.; Sulecki, L. M.; Gannon, J. T. 8-2 Fluorotelomer Alcohol Aerobic Soil Biodegradation: Pathways, Metabolites, and Metabolite Yields. *Chemosphere* 2009, 75 (8), 1089–1096. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.01.033.
- (153) Yuan, G.; Peng, H.; Huang, C.; Hu, J. Ubiquitous Occurrence of Fluorotelomer Alcohols in Eco-Friendly Paper-Made Food-Contact Materials and Their Implication for Human Exposure. *Environ Sci Technol* 2016, 50 (2), 942–950. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b03806.
- (154) Nilsson, H.; Rotander, A.; Van Bavel, B.; Lindström, G.; Westberg, H. Inhalation Exposure to Fluorotelomer Alcohols Yield Perfluorocarboxylates in Human Blood? *Environ Sci Technol* 2010, 44 (19), 7717–7722. https://doi.org/10.1021/es101951t.
- (155) Szostek, B.; Prickett, K. B. Determination of 8:2 Fluorotelomer Alcohol in Animal Plasma and Tissues by Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 2004, 813 (1–2), 313–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2004.10.031.
- (156) Ellis, D. A.; Martin, J. W.; De Silva, A. O.; Mabury, S. A.; Hurley, M. D.; Sulbaek Andersen, M. P.; Wallington, T. J. Degradation of Fluorotelomer Alcohols: A Likely Atmospheric Source of Perfluorinated Carboxylic Acids. *Environ Sci Technol* 2004, *38* (12), 3316–3321. https://doi.org/10.1021/es049860w.

- (157) Yu, X.; Nishimura, F.; Hidaka, T. Enhanced Generation of Perfluoroalkyl Carboxylic Acids (PFCAs) from Fluorotelomer Alcohols (FTOHs) via Ammonia-Oxidation Process. *Chemosphere* 2018, 198 (January 2006), 311–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.01.132.
- (158) Worley, R. R.; Moore, S. M. A.; Tierney, B. C.; Ye, X.; Calafat, A. M.; Campbell, S.; Woudneh, M. B.; Fisher, J. Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Human Serum and Urine Samples from a Residentially Exposed Community. *Environ Int* 2017, *106* (March), 135– 143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.06.007.
- (159) Sunderland, E. M.; Hu, X. C.; Dassuncao, C.; Tokranov, A. K.; Wagner, C. C.; Allen, J. G. A Review of the Pathways of Human Exposure to Poly- and Perfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs) and Present Understanding of Health Effects. *J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol* 2019, 29 (2), 131–147. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41370-018-0094-1.
- (160) Liu, C.; Zhang, X.; Chang, H.; Jones, P.; Wiseman, S.; Naile, J.; Hecker, M.; Giesy, J. P.; Zhou, B. Effects of Fluorotelomer Alcohol 8:2 FTOH on Steroidogenesis in H295R Cells: Targeting the CAMP Signalling Cascade. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 2010, 247 (3), 222–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2010.06.016.
- (161) Ma, C.; Peng, H.; Chen, H.; Shang, W.; Zheng, X.; Yang, M.; Zhang, Y. Long-Term Trends of Fluorotelomer Alcohols in a Wastewater Treatment Plant Impacted by Textile Manufacturing Industry. *Chemosphere* **2022**, *299* (March), 134442. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.134442.
- (162) Dauchy, X.; Boiteux, V.; Bach, C.; Colin, A.; Hemard, J.; Rosin, C.; Munoz, J. F. Mass Flows and Fate of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs) in the Wastewater Treatment Plant of a Fluorochemical Manufacturing Facility. *Science of the Total Environment* 2017, 576, 549–558. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.10.130.
- (163) Mahmoud, M. A. M.; Kärrman, A.; Oono, S.; Harada, K. H.; Koizumi, A. Polyfluorinated Telomers in Precipitation and Surface Water in an Urban Area of Japan. *Chemosphere* 2009, 74 (3), 467–472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.08.029.
- (164) Portolés, T.; Rosales, L. E.; Sancho, J. V.; Santos, F. J.; Moyano, E. Gas Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry with Atmospheric Pressure Chemical Ionization for Fluorotelomer Alcohols and Perfluorinated Sulfonamides Determination. *J Chromatogr A* 2015, 1413, 107–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2015.08.016.
- (165) Kongpran, J.; TANAKA, S.; FUJII, S.; SUZUKI, Y.; SAKUI, N.; SAITO, N. Wet Deposition and Photodegradation of Perfluoroalkyl Carboxylates and Fluorotelomer Alcohols: Distribution Pathways from Air to Water Environment. *J Water Environ Technol* 2014, *12* (6), 481–499. https://doi.org/10.2965/jwet.2014.481.
- (166) Rewerts, J. N.; Morré, J. T.; Massey Simonich, S. L.; Field, J. A. In-Vial Extraction Large Volume Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry for Analysis of Volatile PFASs on Papers and Textiles. *Environ Sci Technol* 2018, 52 (18), 10609–10616. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b04304.
- (167) Nikiforov, V. A. Hydrolysis of FTOH Precursors, a Simple Method to Account for Some of the Unknown PFAS. *Chemosphere* **2021**, *276*, 130044. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.130044.
- (168) Taniyasu, S.; Yeung, L. W. Y.; Lin, H.; Yamazaki, E.; Eun, H.; Lam, P. K. S.; Yamashita, N. Quality Assurance and Quality Control of Solid Phase Extraction for PFAS in Water and Novel Analytical Techniques for PFAS Analysis. *Chemosphere* 2022, 288 (P1), 132440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.132440.

- (169) Stróżyńska, M.; Schuhen, K. Extraction and Derivatization for Perfluorocarboxylic Acids in Liquid and Solid Matrices: A Review. *Analytical Science Advances* 2021, 2 (7–8), 343– 353. https://doi.org/10.1002/ansa.202000089.
- (170) Belardi, Robert P., and J. B. P. The Application of Chemically Modified Fused Silica Fibers in the Extraction of Organics from Water Matrix Samples and Their Rapid Transfer to Capillary Columns. *Water Quality Research Journal* **1989**, *1* (24), 179–191.
- (171) Eisert, R.; Pawliszyn, J. New Trends in Solid-Phase Microextraction. *Crit Rev Anal Chem* **1997**, *27* (2), 103–135. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408349708050585.
- (172) David, F.; Ochiai, N.; Sandra, P. Two Decades of Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction: A Retrospective and Future Outlook. *TrAC - Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 2019, *112*, 102– 111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2018.12.006.
- (173) He, M.; Wang, Y.; Zhang, Q.; Zang, L.; Chen, B.; Hu, B. Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction and Its Application. J Chromatogr A 2021, 1637, 461810. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2020.461810.
- (174) Gao, Q.; Su, X.; Annabi, M. H.; Schreiter, B. R.; Prince, T.; Ackerman, A.; Morgas, S.; Mata, V.; Williams, H.; Lee, W. Y. Application of Urinary Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) for the Diagnosis of Prostate Cancer. *Clin Genitourin Cancer* **2019**, *17* (3), 183– 190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clgc.2019.02.003.
- (175) Mandal, S.; Poi, R.; Hazra, D. K.; Ansary, I.; Bhattacharyya, S.; Karmakar, R. Review of Extraction and Detection Techniques for the Analysis of Pesticide Residues in Fruits to Evaluate Food Safety and Make Legislative Decisions: Challenges and Anticipations. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 2023, 1215 (July 2022), 123587. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2022.123587.
- (176) Nogueira, J. M. F. Stir-Bar Sorptive Extraction: 15 Years Making Sample Preparation More Environment-Friendly. *TrAC - Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 2015, 71, 214–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2015.05.002.
- (177) Serôdio, P.; Nogueira, J. M. F. Multi-Residue Screening of Endocrine Disrupters Chemicals in Water Samples by Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction-Liquid Desorption-Capillary Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry Detection. *Anal Chim Acta* 2004, 517 (1–2), 21–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2004.04.045.
- (178) Huang, Y.; Li, H.; Bai, M.; Huang, X. Efficient Extraction of Perfluorocarboxylic Acids in Complex Samples with a Monolithic Adsorbent Combining Fluorophilic and Anion-Exchange Interactions. *Anal Chim Acta* 2018, 1011, 50–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2018.01.032.
- (179) Liu, W. L.; Ko, Y. C.; Hwang, B. H.; Li, Z. G.; Yang, T. C. C.; Lee, M. R. Determination of Perfluorocarboxylic Acids in Water by Ion-Pair Dispersive Liquid-Liquid Microextraction and Gas Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry with Injection Port Derivatization. *Anal Chim Acta* 2012, 726, 28–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2012.03.019.
- (180) Zango, Z. U.; Ethiraj, B.; Al-Mubaddel, F. S.; Alam, M. M.; Lawal, M. A.; Kadir, H. A.; Khoo, K. S.; Garba, Z. N.; Usman, F.; Zango, M. U.; Lim, J. W. An Overview on Human Exposure, Toxicity, Solid-Phase Microextraction and Adsorptive Removal of Perfluoroalkyl Carboxylic Acids (PFCAs) from Water Matrices. *Environ Res* 2023, 231 (P2), 116102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2023.116102.
- (181) RenXi Ye, Robert A. Di Lorenzo, Jessica T. Clouthier, Cora J. Young, and T. C. V. A Rapid Derivatization for Quantitation of Perfluorinated Carboxylic Acids from Aqueous Matrices

by Gas Chromatography – Mass Spectrometry. *Anal Chem* **2023**. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.3c00593.

- (182) Song, D.; Qiao, B.; Yao, Y.; Zhao, L.; Wang, X.; Chen, H.; Zhu, L.; Sun, H. Target and Nontarget Analysis of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Surface Water, Groundwater and Sediments of Three Typical Fluorochemical Industrial Parks in China. *J Hazard Mater* 2023, 460 (July), 132411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2023.132411.
- (183) Kaltenberg, E. M.; Dasu, K.; Lefkovitz, L. F.; Thorn, J.; Schumitz, D. Sampling of Freely Dissolved Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) in Surface Water and Groundwater Using a Newly Developed Passive Sampler. *Environmental Pollution* 2023, 318 (September 2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.120940.
- (184) McMahon, P. B.; Tokranov, A. K.; Bexfield, L. M.; Lindsey, B. D.; Johnson, T. D.; Lombard, M. A.; Watson, E. Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Groundwater Used as a Source of Drinking Water in the Eastern United States. *Environ Sci Technol* 2022, 56 (4), 2279–2288. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c04795.
- (185) Yamazaki, E.; Taniyasu, S.; Wang, X.; Yamashita, N. Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Surface Water, Gas and Particle in Open Ocean and Coastal Environment. *Chemosphere* 2021, 272, 129869. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.129869.
- (186) Wang, Y. Q.; Hu, L. X.; Liu, T.; Zhao, J. H.; Yang, Y. Y.; Liu, Y. S.; Ying, G. G. Per- and Polyfluoralkyl Substances (PFAS) in Drinking Water System: Target and Non-Target Screening and Removal Assessment. *Environ Int* 2022, *163* (March), 107219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2022.107219.
- (187) Ünlü Endirlik, B.; Bakır, E.; Boşgelmez, İ. İ.; Eken, A.; Narin, İ.; Gürbay, A. Assessment of Perfluoroalkyl Substances Levels in Tap and Bottled Water Samples from Turkey. *Chemosphere* **2019**, *235*, 1162–1171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.06.228.
- (188) Guardian, M. G. E.; Boongaling, E. G.; Bernardo-Boongaling, V. R. R.; Gamonchuang, J.; Boontongto, T.; Burakham, R.; Arnnok, P.; Aga, D. S. Prevalence of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs) in Drinking and Source Water from Two Asian Countries. *Chemosphere* 2020, 256, 127115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.127115.
- (189) O.P. Bansal, Mukesh Kumar Bhardwaj, V. G. Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in the Environment: A Review. J Adv Sci Res 2022, 375 (6580), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abg9065.
- (190) USEPA. Drinking Water Health Advisories for PFAS Fact Sheet for Public Water Systems.2016, No. June 2022.
- (191) Dhore, R.; Murthy, G. S. Per/Polyfluoroalkyl Substances Production, Applications and Environmental Impacts. *Bioresour Technol* 2021, 341 (August), 125808. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2021.125808.
- (192) Lorenzo, M.; Campo, J.; Picó, Y. Analytical Challenges to Determine Emerging Persistent Organic Pollutants in Aquatic Ecosystems. *TrAC - Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 2018, 103, 137–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2018.04.003.
- (193) Rodriguez, K. L.; Hwang, J. H.; Esfahani, A. R.; Sadmani, A. H. M. A.; Lee, W. H. Recent Developments of PFAS-Detecting Sensors and Future Direction: A Review. *Micromachines (Basel)* 2020, *11* (7). https://doi.org/10.3390/mi11070667.
- (194) Feng, H.; Ruan, Y.; Zhang, K.; Lam, P. K. S. Current Analytical Methodologies and Gaps for Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances Determination in the Marine Environment. *TrAC* -

Trends in Analytical Chemistry **2019**, *121*, 115372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2018.12.026.

- (195) Baltussen, E.; Sandra, P.; David, F.; Cramers, C. Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction (SBSE), a Novel Extraction Technique for Aqueous Samples: Theory and Principles. *Journal of Microcolumn Separations* 1999, *11* (10), 737–747. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1520-667X(1999)11:10<737::AID-MCS7>3.0.CO;2-4.
- (196) David, F.; Ochiai, N.; Sandra, P. Two Decades of Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction: A Retrospective and Future Outlook. *TrAC - Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 2019, *112*, 102– 111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2018.12.006.
- (197) Skaggs, C. S.; Logue, B. A. Ultratrace Analysis of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Drinking Water Using Ice Concentration Linked with Extractive Stirrer and High Performance Liquid Chromatography – Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *J Chromatogr A* 2021, 1659, 462493. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2021.462493.
- (198) Aparicio, I.; Martín, J.; Santos, J. L.; Malvar, J. L.; Alonso, E. Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction and Liquid Chromatography–Tandem Mass Spectrometry Determination of Polar and Non-Polar Emerging and Priority Pollutants in Environmental Waters. *J Chromatogr A* 2017, 1500, 43–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2017.04.007.
- (199) Villaverde-de-Sáa, E.; Racamonde, I.; Quintana, J. B.; Rodil, R.; Cela, R. Ion-Pair Sorptive Extraction of Perfluorinated Compounds from Water with Low-Cost Polymeric Materials: Polyethersulfone vs Polydimethylsiloxane. *Anal Chim Acta* 2012, 740, 50–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2012.06.027.
- (200) Yao, X.; Zhou, Z.; He, M.; Chen, B.; Liang, Y.; Hu, B. One-Pot Polymerization of Monolith Coated Stir Bar for High Efficient Sorptive Extraction of Perfluoroalkyl Acids from Environmental Water Samples Followed by High Performance Liquid Chromatography-Electrospray Tandem Mass Spectrometry Detection. J Chromatogr A 2018, 1553, 7–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2018.04.014.
- (201) Nogueira, J. M. F. Stir-Bar Sorptive Extraction: 15 Years Making Sample Preparation More Environment-Friendly. *TrAC - Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 2015, 71, 214–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2015.05.002.
- (202) Ye, R. X.; Di Lorenzo, R. A.; Clouthier, J. T.; Young, C. J.; VandenBoer, T. C. A Rapid Derivatization for Quantitation of Perfluorinated Carboxylic Acids from Aqueous Matrices by Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry. *Anal Chem* 2023, 95 (19), 7648–7655. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.3c00593.
- (203) Buck, R. C.; Franklin, J.; Berger, U.; Conder, J. M.; Cousins, I. T.; Voogt, P. De; Jensen, A. A.; Kannan, K.; Mabury, S. A.; van Leeuwen, S. P. J. Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in the Environment: Terminology, Classification, and Origins. *Integr Environ Assess Manag* 2011, 7 (4), 513–541. https://doi.org/10.1002/ieam.258.
- (204) Wu, C.; Wang, Q.; Chen, H.; Li, M. Rapid Quantitative Analysis and Suspect Screening of Per-and Polyfluorinated Alkyl Substances (PFASs) in Aqueous Film-Forming Foams (AFFFs) and Municipal Wastewater Samples by Nano-ESI-HRMS. *Water Res* 2022, 219 (May), 118542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2022.118542.
- (205) Lu, G. H.; Gai, N.; Zhang, P.; Piao, H. T.; Chen, S.; Wang, X. C.; Jiao, X. C.; Yin, X. C.; Tan, K. Y.; Yang, Y. L. Perfluoroalkyl Acids in Surface Waters and Tapwater in the Qiantang River Watershed—Influences from Paper, Textile, and Leather Industries. *Chemosphere* 2017, 185, 610–617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.06.139.

- (206) Yuan, G.; Peng, H.; Huang, C.; Hu, J. Ubiquitous Occurrence of Fluorotelomer Alcohols in Eco-Friendly Paper-Made Food-Contact Materials and Their Implication for Human Exposure. *Environ Sci Technol* 2016, 50 (2), 942–950. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b03806.
- (207) Roth, J.; Abusallout, I.; Hill, T.; Holton, C.; Thapa, U.; Hanigan, D. Release of Volatile Perand Polyfluoroalkyl Substances from Aqueous Film-Forming Foam. *Environ Sci Technol Lett* 2020, 7 (3), 164–170. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.0c00052.
- (208) Nikiforov, V. A. Hydrolysis of FTOH Precursors, a Simple Method to Account for Some of the Unknown PFAS. *Chemosphere* **2021**, *276*, 130044. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.130044.
- (209) Saawarn, B.; Mahanty, B.; Hait, S.; Hussain, S. Sources, Occurrence, and Treatment Techniques of per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Aqueous Matrices: A Comprehensive Review. *Environ Res* **2022**, *214* (P4), 114004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.114004.
- (210) Chen, C.; Wang, J.; Li, L.; Xu, W.; Liu, J. Comparison of Fluorotelomer Alcohol Emissions from Wastewater Treatment Plants into Atmospheric and Aquatic Environments. *Environ Int* 2020, *139* (March). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105718.
- (211) Chen, H.; Peng, H.; Yang, M.; Hu, J.; Zhang, Y. Detection, Occurrence, and Fate of Fluorotelomer Alcohols in Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plants. *Environ Sci Technol* 2017, *51* (16), 8953–8961. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b00315.
- (212) Ayala-Cabrera, J. F.; Santos, F. J.; Moyano, E. Recent Advances in Analytical Methodologies Based on Mass Spectrometry for the Environmental Analysis of Halogenated Organic Contaminants. *Trends in Environmental Analytical Chemistry* 2021, 30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teac.2021.e00122.
- (213) Dauchy, X.; Boiteux, V.; Bach, C.; Colin, A.; Hemard, J.; Rosin, C.; Munoz, J. F. Mass Flows and Fate of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs) in the Wastewater Treatment Plant of a Fluorochemical Manufacturing Facility. *Science of the Total Environment* 2017, 576, 549–558. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.10.130.
- (214) Sun, H.; Zhang, X.; Wang, L.; Zhang, T.; Li, F.; He, N.; Alder, A. C. Perfluoroalkyl Compounds in Municipal WWTPs in Tianjin, China-Concentrations, Distribution and Mass Flow. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 2012, *19* (5), 1405–1415. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-011-0727-6.
- (215) ATSDR. Toxicological Profile for Perfluoroalkyls Release May 2021. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry 2021, No. May, 1–993.
- (216) Worley, R. R.; Moore, S. M. A.; Tierney, B. C.; Ye, X.; Calafat, A. M.; Campbell, S.; Woudneh, M. B.; Fisher, J. Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Human Serum and Urine Samples from a Residentially Exposed Community. *Environ Int* 2017, *106* (March), 135– 143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.06.007.
- (217) Wen, X.; Wang, M.; Xu, X.; Li, T. Exposure to Per-and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances and Mortality in U.S. Adults: A Population-Based Cohort Study. *Environ Health Perspect* 2022, *130* (6). https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP10393.
- (218) Robbins, Z. G.; Liu, X.; Schumacher, B. A.; Smeltz, M. G.; Liberatore, H. K. Method Development for Thermal Desorption-Gas Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry (TD-GC–MS/MS) Analysis of Trace Level Fluorotelomer Alcohols Emitted from Consumer Products. J Chromatogr A 2023, 1705, 464204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2023.464204.

- (219) Ma, C.; Peng, H.; Chen, H.; Shang, W.; Zheng, X.; Yang, M.; Zhang, Y. Long-Term Trends of Fluorotelomer Alcohols in a Wastewater Treatment Plant Impacted by Textile Manufacturing Industry. *Chemosphere* 2022, 299 (March), 134442. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.134442.
- (220) Ayala-Cabrera, J. F.; Contreras-Llin, A.; Moyano, E.; Santos, F. J. A Novel Methodology for the Determination of Neutral Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Water by Gas Chromatography-Atmospheric Pressure Photoionisation-High Resolution Mass Spectrometry. *Anal Chim Acta* **2020**, *1100*, 97–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2019.12.004.
- (221) Dimzon, I. K.; Westerveld, J.; Gremmel, C.; Frömel, T.; Knepper, T. P.; de Voogt, P. Sampling and Simultaneous Determination of Volatile Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Wastewater Treatment Plant Air and Water. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 2017, 409 (5), 1395– 1404. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-016-0072-1.
- (222) Zarębska, M.; Bajkacz, S. Poly– and Perfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) Recent Advances in the Aquatic Environment Analysis. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry* **2023**, *163*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2023.117062.
- (223) Washington, J. W.; Yoo, H.; Ellington, J. J.; Jenkins, T. M.; Libelo, E. L. Concentrations, Distribution, and Persistence of Perfluoroalkylates in Sludge-Applied Soils near Decatur, Alabama, USA. *Environ Sci Technol* 2010, 44 (22), 8390–8396. https://doi.org/10.1021/es1003846.
- (224) Zhao, L.; McCausland, P. K.; Folsom, P. W.; Wolstenholme, B. W.; Sun, H.; Wang, N.; Buck, R. C. 6:2 Fluorotelomer Alcohol Aerobic Biotransformation in Activated Sludge from Two Domestic Wastewater Treatment Plants. *Chemosphere* 2013, 92 (4), 464–470. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.02.032.
- (225) Ellington, J. J.; Washington, J. W.; Evans, J. J.; Jenkins, T. M.; Hafner, S. C.; Neill, M. P. Analysis of Fluorotelomer Alcohols in Soils: Optimization of Extraction and Chromatography. J Chromatogr A 2009, 1216 (28), 5347–5354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2009.05.035.
- (226) Gallen, C.; Eaglesham, G.; Drage, D.; Nguyen, T. H.; Mueller, J. F. A Mass Estimate of Perfluoroalkyl Substance (PFAS) Release from Australian Wastewater Treatment Plants. *Chemosphere* 2018, 208, 975–983. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.06.024.
- (227) Yoo, H.; Washington, J. W.; Jenkins, T. M.; Ellington, J. J. Quantitative Determination of Perfluorochemicals and Fluorotelomer Alcohols in Plants from Biosolid-Amended Fields Using LC/MS/MS and GC/MS. *Environ Sci Technol* 2011, 45 (19), 7985–7990. https://doi.org/10.1021/es102972m.
- (228) Liu, C. Investigation of Environmental Fate of Novel Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances in Soil and Biosolids Presented By. **2015**, No. July.
- (229) Zhang, H.; Wen, B.; Hu, X.; Wu, Y.; Luo, L.; Chen, Z.; Zhang, S. Determination of Fluorotelomer Alcohols and Their Degradation Products in Biosolids-Amended Soils and Plants Using Ultra-High Performance Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *J Chromatogr A* 2015, 1404, 72–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2015.05.063.
- (230) Wang, N.; Szostek, B.; Buck, R. C.; Folsom, P. W.; Sulecki, L. M.; Gannon, J. T. 8-2 Fluorotelomer Alcohol Aerobic Soil Biodegradation: Pathways, Metabolites, and Metabolite Yields. *Chemosphere* 2009, 75 (8), 1089–1096. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.01.033.

- (231) Washington, J. W.; Yoo, H.; Ellington, J. J.; Jenkins, T. M.; Libelo, E. L. Concentrations, Distribution, and Persistence of Perfluoroalkylates in Sludge-Applied Soils near Decatur, Alabama, USA. *Environ Sci Technol* 2010, 44 (22), 8390–8396. https://doi.org/10.1021/es1003846.
- (232) Sun, H.; Gerecke, A. C.; Giger, W.; Alder, A. C. Long-Chain Perfluorinated Chemicals in Digested Sewage Sludges in Switzerland. *Environmental Pollution* 2011, 159 (2), 654–662. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2010.09.020.
- (233) Sinclair, E.; Kim, S. K.; Akinleye, H. B.; Kannan, K. Quantitation of Gas-Phase Perfluoroalkyl Surfactants and Fluorotelomer Alcohols Released from Nonstick Cookware and Microwave Popcorn Bags. *Environ Sci Technol* 2007, *41* (4), 1180–1185. https://doi.org/10.1021/es062377w.
- (234) Yan, P.; Dong, S.; Manz, K. E.; Liu, C.; Woodcock, M. J.; Mezzari, M. P.; Abriola, L. M.; Pennell, K. D.; Natalie, L. C. Biotransformation of 8 : 2 Fluorotelomer Alcohol in Soil from Aqueous Film-Forming Foams (AFFFs) -Impacted Sites under Nitrate , Sulfate , and Iron-Reducing Conditions. *Environ Sci Technol* 2022. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.2c03669.
- (235) Taniyasu, S.; Yeung, L. W. Y.; Lin, H.; Yamazaki, E.; Eun, H.; Lam, P. K. S.; Yamashita, N. Quality Assurance and Quality Control of Solid Phase Extraction for PFAS in Water and Novel Analytical Techniques for PFAS Analysis. *Chemosphere* 2022, 288 (P1), 132440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.132440.
- (236) Belardi, Robert P., and J. B. P. The Application of Chemically Modified Fused Silica Fibers in the Extraction of Organics from Water Matrix Samples and Their Rapid Transfer to Capillary Columns. *Water Quality Research Journal* **1989**, 1 (24), 179–191.
- (237) Huang, Y.; Li, H.; Bai, M.; Huang, X. Efficient Extraction of Perfluorocarboxylic Acids in Complex Samples with a Monolithic Adsorbent Combining Fluorophilic and Anion-Exchange Interactions. *Anal Chim Acta* 2018, 1011, 50–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2018.01.032.
- (238) Mandal, S.; Poi, R.; Hazra, D. K.; Ansary, I.; Bhattacharyya, S.; Karmakar, R. Review of Extraction and Detection Techniques for the Analysis of Pesticide Residues in Fruits to Evaluate Food Safety and Make Legislative Decisions: Challenges and Anticipations. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 2023, 1215 (July 2022), 123587. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2022.123587.
- (239) He, M.; Wang, Y.; Zhang, Q.; Zang, L.; Chen, B.; Hu, B. Stir Bar Sorptive Extraction and Its Application. J Chromatogr A 2021, 1637, 461810. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2020.461810.
- (240) Zhang, S.; Szostek, B.; McCausland, P. K.; Wolstenholme, B. W.; Lu, X.; Wang, N.; Buck, R. C. 6:2 and 8:2 Fluorotelomer Alcohol Anaerobic Biotransformation in Digester Sludge from a WWTP under Methanogenic Conditions. *Environ Sci Technol* 2013, 47 (9), 4227–4235. https://doi.org/10.1021/es4000824.

Vita

Ahsan Habib is a Ph.D. candidate in the Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry at The University of Texas at El Paso. His academic journey began with a strong foundation, as he obtained both his bachelor's and master's degrees in Applied Chemistry and Chemical Engineering from the University of Dhaka, Bangladesh. Immediately following his graduation, Ahsan embarked on a promising career in the Research and Development division of a leading pharmaceutical industry in Bangladesh, where he enhanced his skills and gained expertise in the field during his three-year tenure. In the pursuit of academic excellence, Ahsan made the significant decision to further his education and enrolled as a doctoral student in chemistry at The University of Texas at El Paso in the fall of 2019. There, he joined Dr. Lee's esteemed research group within the Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, specializing in environmental analytical chemistry. Ahsan's pioneering work includes the development of several methods for the determination of PFAS, an emerging contaminant in water matrices. His passion for research is exemplified by the numerous articles he has published, which can be accessed through his Google Scholar profile: scholar.google.com/Ahsan.Habib. Ahsan's academic journey is a testament to his unwavering commitment to advancing the field of chemistry and his dedication to making a lasting impact through his research contributions.